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145th Meeting of the Board of Directors
10.30am, Thursday 4 March 2021
By Web-ex

AGENDA
ITEM

Purpose

Presented by

2
p3
3
p11
4
p13

Apologies for absence and
declaration of any conflicts of
interest
Minutes of the Board of
Directors’ Meeting held on 14
January 2021
Matters arising
• Board Actions Tracker
Board Assurance Framework

To receive and record apologies for
absence and request and record any
declarations of interest

Andy Trotter
Chair

Governance

To approve the minutes of the last
meeting

Andy Trotter
Chair

Governance

Andy Trotter
Chair

Governance

Andy Trotter
Chair

Governance

To confirm actions allocated at
previous meetings have been
completed
To accept the BAF and consider
whether the framework continues to
provide sufficient assurance to the
board

Governance and Strategy

90 mins

Chief Executive Report

To note the developments within the
trust and in the local health
economy.

Operational update and
integrated performance report

To note the update

7
p72

Oxleas Strategy – 2021-24

To approve

8
p93

Freedom to Speak Up self-review

To approve

9
p110

Mortality surveillance report

To note the report and consider
further implications

10
p119

Charity Accounts

To approve

5
p30
6
p33

Matthew Trainer,
Chief Executive
Iain Dimond,
Chief Operating
Officer
Matthew Trainer,
Chief Executive/
Rachel Clare
Evans, Director of
Strategy and
People
Rachel Clare
Evans, Director of
Strategy and
People
Jane Wells,
Director of
Nursing
Azara Mukhtar,
Director of
Finance

Committee reports
11
p144

Performance and Quality
Assurance Committee

Time
10
mins

General business
1

Category

Strategy
Quality and
Performance

Strategy

Governance

Governance

Governance

20 mins
To note the contents of the report
and agree any strategic implications
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Yemisi Gibbons,
Non Executive
Director

Quality and
performance
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145th Meeting of the Board of Directors
10.30am, Thursday 4 March 2021
By Web-ex

AGENDA
Quality Improvement and
Innovation Committee

To note the contents of the report
and agree any strategic implications

13
p156

Business Committee

To note the contents of the report
and agree any strategic implications

14
p174

Partnership Committee

To note the contents of the report
and agree any strategic implications

15
p176

Infrastructure Committee

To note the contents of the report
and agree any strategic implications

12
p153

To note the contents of the report
and agree any strategic implications

16
Workforce Committee
p178
17
Audit and Risk Assurance report
p181

To note the contents of the report
and agree any strategic implications

Amlan Basu,
Non Executive
Director
Jo Stimpson,
Non Executive
Director
Jo Stimpson,
Non Executive
Director
Suzanne Shale,
Non Executive
Director
Nina HingoraniCrain,
Non Executive
Director
Steve Dilworth
Non Executive
Director

Board reports
18
p184

Quality and
performance
Financial strategy
and performance
Strategic
partnerships
Strategy and
performance
People strategy

Governance

15 mins
Information relating to the
experience of staff and patients and
assess impact on delivery of trust
objectives

Board visits reports

19
Council of Governors update
p188

To note the contents of the report

Andy Trotter
Chair

Quality and staff
engagement

Andy Trotter
Chair

Governance

ANY OTHER BUSINESS
REVIEW EFFECTIVENESS OF MEETING
DATE OF NEXT MEETING
The next Board of Directors Meeting will take place on:
Thursday 8 April at 10.30am
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Board of Directors
4 March 2021

2
2

Item
Enclosure

Report Title
Author
Accountable Director
Confidentiality/
FOI status

Minutes of the Board of Directors Meeting held on 14 January 2021
Susan Owen, Risk and Governance Manager
Andy Trotter, Chair
Public

Report Summary

Minutes of the Board of Directors meeting held on 14 January 2021

Purpose
(To select purpose,
click on relevant
choice for drop down
box)
Recommendation
Link to strategic
objectives
(click on relevant
choice for drop
down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework
Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

Information
Approval

To Note
√

Decision

The Board agrees the minutes as a true record of the meeting.

Quality

N/A

Workforce

Sustainability

Partnerships

4

rd

143 Meeting of the Board of Directors
Minutes of the meeting held on Thursday 14 January 2021
Virtual meeting held via MS Teams
Board of Directors
Andy Trotter
Steve Dilworth
Nina Hingorani-Crain
Jo Stimpson
Suzanne Shale
Yemisi Gibbons
Matthew Trainer
Iain Dimond
Dr Ify Okocha
Rachel Evans (RCE)
Azara Mukhtar
Jane Wells
Neil Springham

Trust Chair
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Chief Executive
Chief Operating Officer
Medical Director
Director for Strategy and People
Interim Director of Finance
Director of Nursing
Director of Therapies

In attendance
Sally Bryden
Rachel Evans (RTE)
Alison Furzer (AFu)
Tom Clark
Abi Fadipe (AFa)
Susan Owen
Simon MacRory

Trust Secretary and Associate Director of Corporate Affairs
Director of Estates and Facilities
Director or Informatics
Deputy Medical Director
Deputy Medical Director
Risk and Governance Manager (minutes)
The Guardian Service (for item 12)

Members of the Council of Governors in attendance
Sue Sauter (SSa)
Public: Bexley
Sue Hardy
Public: Bexley
Item Subject

Action

1

Apologies for absence
• Amlan Basu, Non-executive Director
• Steve James, Non-executive Director
Declarations of interest
• None declared.

Noted

2

Minutes of last meeting
The minutes of the meeting on 5 November 2020 were declared as an accurate record.

Approved

3

Matters arising
2019-09/#2: It was noted that the responsibilities as outlined in the committee structure
paper had been agreed.

Noted

4

Board Assurance Framework
It was noted that all items on the Board Assurance Framework were covered within the
agenda items and reports.

Noted

5

Chief Executive’s Report
MT presented the Chief Executive’s report.

Noted

Covid-19 vaccination programme: The trust Covid-19 vaccination programme commenced
this week. We have received a delivery of 900 vaccines, but future supplies are outside our
control. Patient facing staff will be vaccinated first.
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5

Item Subject

Action

CQC: We remain in contact with the CQC on our plans and progress to respond to actions
from recent inspections.
Shadow Executive: This is now in place, and progress will be reported back to the board.
MHA White Paper: This outlines changes to the Mental Health Act 1983 which will give
more control to the patient, increase the role of advocacy, and introduce statutory care and
treatment plans.
6

Operational update and integrated performance report
ID presented the operational update and integrated performance report.
Operational update
The pandemic continues to have an impact on the health and social care economy. Adult
services have been prioritised by re-engineering the pathway, and this is working well. Much
effort has been made to support the smooth discharge of patients from wards. Services are
being delivered on a business as usual basis and we are working to ensure that business
continuity plans are in place in the event of them needing to be invoked. As at today, 160
staff are absent due to Covid-19 reasons. The impact on patients is becoming more apparent
and we have temporarily closed some wards for admission.
Performance report
We are maximising the potential of intermediate care beds, and Eltham Community Beds
and Meadowview Unit are currently full. For mental health services, we have a contract with
Priory for male only admissions. Demand is steady but manageable. All directorates have a
significant programme of work in place to manage waits. Within CYP, there has been a focus
on ASD and ADHD, with a plan for waits to return to pre-Covid levels by summer. Additional
staff have been recruited and extra clinics have been arranged, and the service has changed
the way assessments are undertaken. We are on course to transfer the Greenwich Health
Visiting Service by the end of March 2021. Absence rates have improved and the service is
managing well at present. With prisons services, there is much tendering activity in progress.
We are in the process of arranging sessions for NEDs to review the submission for Kent
prisons. The Immigration Removal Centre tender is now live, with a similar timescale.
SD – Is the green rating for PPE still the case? The use of video calls remains low, what is
being done to address this? Has there been an improvement on Betts Ward and can body
worn cameras be made obligatory?
ID – PPE remains green as there are no supply or distribution issues. There is a high reliance
on telephone contact and we need to be mindful of the concept of digital poverty, and staff
confidence with use of technology. Some face-to-face contacts did transfer to video when
this may not have been appropriate, and this contributed to rising levels of admission. A
robust plan is in place for Betts Ward. The use of body ward cameras is an expectation. We
are happy to support a virtual visit to the ward.
JS – The work of ALD staff is excellent and we need to maintain this. Bexley are struggling to
recruit staff, and post Covid-19, we will need to be more creative about vacancies.
ID – Lorraine Regan is leading this work.
SSa – The demand on mental health services is a recognised problem. How is this impacting
on the trust and how will we manage this, in terms of current demand and the increase in
the number of patients in the future?
ID – The restrictions are having a negative impact on mental health and resilience. We are
linking with staff through various routes. The number of calls to the well-being hub is
increasing and we are offering supervision to the staff who working in this area. We have a
leadership role to work with the rest of the system, including third sector partners.
RCE – Staff well-being is our central priority. Sickness is higher than usual and pressures on
managers are greater. We will need to respond not just to the challenges of service delivery,
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Noted

6

Item Subject

Action

but vulnerable staff and bereavement anxiety.
SSa – How will we access funding for mental health services?
ID – Some of it has come down through ICS and is being worked up into a plan.
7

Oxleas new values and behaviours framework
Noted and
RCE presented the new values and behaviour framework. These were developed through
approved
the Our Next Step engagement programme with staff, service users and local people. The
feedback has been impressive in terms of both quality and quantity, with positivity and
enthusiasm from those that contributed.
NHC – This is thoughtful and respectful work, and should be seen as the beginning of the
journey. Do we have a plan to take the impact of the pandemic into account?
RCE – We are committed to this. We will use existing forums to engage staff with how to the
start embedding this.
The Board approved the new Values and Behaviours Framework and noted the plans for
implementation.

8

CQC inspection report and response
Noted
IO presented the CQC inspection report and response. There have been a number of CQC
focused inspections. The trust was served a warning notice regarding ligature risk
management. As a result of this, the rating for older adults’ mental health in-patient services
has dropped from good to inadequate, but overall trust has retained a rating of good. An
action plan is in place, including consistent support and leadership from a senior nurse.
Assurance updates will be brought back to the board.
SS – The action plan should reflect that the report is to be presented to the Infrastructure
Committee.
YG – The Performance and Quality Assurance Committee will be monitoring this and
reviewing ligature risk assessments to ensure that we have captured all elements.
SSa – We will need to ensure that that it is part of the risk management programme and all
staff are aware of their responsibilities.

9

Serious incident report – CH
AM presented the report of the incident relating to CH, whose infant died after being
diagnosed with non-accidental injuries. The scope of this investigation was limited to the
care and treatment provided to CH by Oxleas, who had contact with peri-natal services and
the Primary Care Plus (PCP) team. This was a complicated investigation; the family had
moved a number of times and several boroughs and social work teams were involved. No
root causes were identified, but the panel found that the number of different services
involved led to challenges in sharing vital information. Seven recommendations were made.
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
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Perinatal Service Operational Policy to be finalised, with clear guidance on Referral
to Treatment (RTT) times that are in line with National standards.
The guidance for referrers needs to be clear on the time frame for when an
appointment will be offered.
When referrals are received for a patient into more than one Oxleas service, there
should be clear communication between teams to agree a way forward and which
pathways are to be utilised and whether joint working is indicated
Teams to communicate with external agencies/referrers in relation to the care and
treatment we are offering, and when patients do not attend appointments,
particularly if there is a child safeguarding concern.
When specialist assessments are completed, for example PCP tele-triage
assessments, clinician to indicate contemporaneously in the progress notes that this
has been done.
Teams to complete safeguarding children in the instance when a pregnant mother is
referred into services posing a potential risk to self and unborn child.

Noted

7

Item Subject
7.

Action
Sufficient consideration of impact of autism and inequality of being offered video
calls not given.

SD – This was a troublesome enquiry. There may be challenges to saying that CH did not
meet the Home Treatment Team (HTT) threshold. Was the appointment may have been
offered within standards but was it too late for CH?
SSa – This was a difficult case, and we need to be sure that the policies are right. There was
poor communication across services.
SS – If we do not identify root causes, this may affect the recommendations. I am interested
to understand why we made recommendations if there was no root cause.
AM – The panel picked up the key areas from the interviews. We had extensive debates on
the timeliness of appointments and interactions between teams, which relate to the points
on the lack of communication. A key concern was that the PCP assessment was not
referenced on the RiO notes until a month after it was completed. In the first lockdown
face to face appointments were stood down in a number of services following government
guidance; however since then consideration of a virtual appointment or face to face is taken
on a case by case basis.
JW – Under the current serious incident framework it is difficult to identify a root cause.
There may be several factors. Under the new methodology, the ‘five whys’ and RCA
approach will be replaced with a system based review, which will look at causal and human
factors.
MT – We can use a future strategy session to look at the serious incident policy and
framework in context.
SD – Do we agree with the final conclusion?
YG – I agree with the actions, and we should not delay implementing them whilst we
determine our future approach to serious incident.
JW – We can implement the recommendations as they are now, and the panel can
reconvene to look at factors.
SS – We need to consider the purpose of these investigations regardless of methodology,
and focus on systems and whether they need attention. The RCA approach does not require
us to find a cause. We investigate many complex incidents and the process should be an
opportunity for us to ask that question. We should undertake broader work on this when
resources allow.
AT – There are a number of ways to approach this and we need to capture the lessons. The
Executive should review this and bring back to the board.
Action: The CH report will be revisited by the panel, and the board will receive a briefing
2021-01/#1
on the methodology at a strategy day.
JW
10

Mental Health Legislation Annual Report 2019/2020
Noted
JW presented the Mental Health Legislation Annual Report for 2019/2020. The ethos
remains to focus on the least restrictive practice. The use of the Mental Health Act has
decreased and much work has been undertaken on reviewing the crisis pathway, and the
Health Based Place of Safety (HBPOS). There has been a reduction in the use of s5.2 (doctors
holding power). There is no obvious cause, but there were a lower number of informal
patients. Ethnicity recording has improved. Patients from a white background are detained
at a lower rate, and this same trend is seen across London. The Equality and Human Rights
Group has asked directorates to produce an action plan, so we should see some
improvement. We continue to monitor s132 (explanation of rights) and s58 (consent to
treat).
AT – Can we reach a position of consistent 100% compliance for s132 and s58?
JW – We are working with teams to achieve this.
JS – The ethnicity point is interesting, and the detention rate is small part of this. We need to
consider how we change services to ensure equality of access.
IO – The numbers are small and this does contribute to the challenge. Every effort is being
made.
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Item Subject

Action

11

Quality Improvement Annual Report
Noted
IO presented the Quality Improvement Annual Report for 2019/20. The staff survey results
show that the QI programme has been well received. The next steps are to align QI activity
with Oxleas strategy and vision, and this will be supported by the Quality Management
Framework.
SD – It is encouraging to recognise the change in culture. We will need to analyse and
measure the cost benefit and be wary of making correlations. Would the improvements have
taken place without QI programme?
IO – QI has helped staff to think about how to use the methodology, not just in the full
format, but also to test new ideas. Quick PDSA cycles are taking place and the programme is
making a huge difference.

12

Freedom to Speak Up report
SM from The Guardian Service joined the meeting to present the Freedom to Speak Up
Report. SM said that Oxleas takes the recommendations on board and has a rigorous
approach to this.
NHC – How do we compare to peers?
YG – It would be useful to understand the reasons why staff use the service, and if we have a
sufficient sample to understand all the issues?
SM – In terms of why staff use the service, the sample sizes can be deceiving. Many issues
are driven by perception, and people do not believe that they will be listened to. The nature
of freedom to speak up is unique to each organisation. There will always be patient safety
issues and the Guardian Service aims to react quickly.
SS – Staff raise patient safety issues because they have exhausted other avenues. We need
to understand how responsive we are.
SM – This is a variation on a theme. A Covid-19 issue was brought to our attention about
sufficient safeguards being in place. The staff member was reluctant to raise the concern
with their line manager. This was a communication issue.
SS – The value of reading the report is in understanding where our systems are not working.
NHC – Who determines if the issue has been resolved?
SM – That the staff member is happy with the outcome. Conversations help to resolve
issues.
NHC –What was outcome of the issue raised by HMP Belmarsh?
SS – I am not clear on the probation recommendation?
RCE – With regard to the HMP Belmarsh concern, this related to the speed of responding to
Datix reports. Management accepted that this is a fair criticism and action is being taken.
We need to improve how the Probation Policy is communicated to managers.
MT –The Guardian Service provides us with an independent voice and can offer challenge
back to staff if the issues should be dealt with through another route. The fact that concerns
are raised is a sign of a healthy culture.

Noted

13

Performance and Quality Assurance Committee
YG presented the report from the Performance and Quality Assurance Committee. Key
points have been covered in previous reports. The committee is being reactive to the
current situation in terms of balancing the agenda with Covid-19 items and other items. The
committee remains focused on ensuring that there is active management of key issues such
as restraints and section 136.
SD – Has the number of Covid-19 cases at HMP Belmarsh reduced?
ID – The positive results over a space of three weeks were contained on one house block.
All necessary systems are in place such as use of PPE, hand sanitisers, and ventilation.
Infections are being controlled to a reasonable level.

Noted

14

Quality Improvement and Innovation (QII) Committee
Noted
IO presented the report from the QII Committee. It was noted that the programme has given
a sense of confidence and pride, and is having a beneficial effect.
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Item Subject

Action

15

Business Committee
Noted
JS presented the report from the Business Committee. Performance is in line with
expectations, and it was acknowledged that this is a good result given the current
circumstances and amount of change. The Kent Prisons bid will be presented to the Board of
Directors and NEDs have been invited to attend challenge sessions.

16

Partnership Committee
JS presented the report from the Partnership Committee. There has been much
improvement in our working relationship with LGT. With regard to the Bexley Care Section
75, there is a hard timescale for negotiations to complete. There were no approvals to note
from the SLP Committees in Common, and there has been a useful session on the next phase
of the partnership.

Noted

17

Infrastructure Committee
SS presented the report from the Infrastructure Committee. An additional meeting was held
to discuss capital expenditure controls which are being negotiated at ICS level. The board
was asked to approve capital expenditure on ICT equipment, as the spend is more than
anticipated. AM explained that this is linked to the overarching ICS capital control total. We
are forecasting an underspend this year, and the regime next year will be tight. We have
identified £1.6m in the 2021/22 plan which we can bring forward to this year. This is
predominately to purchase equipment to support agile working. This will reduce the IT
capital ask for next year by the same amount. As this is above the Infrastructure Committee
approval limit, this will need to be approved by the board.
The board agreed the capital expenditure in principle, subject to the background paper
being circulated to the board, with agreement by email.

Noted

18

Workforce Committee
NHC presented the report from the Workforce Committee. The committee noted a concern
regarding the ability of locum doctors to access RiO and were keen to understand if we are
the only trust affected; this will be brought back to the committee for further discussion.
The annual Health and Safety Report for 2019/20 will be presented to the Workforce
Committee next week and then to the board. The committee is focused on having a process
to escalate health and safety issues in line with best practice, and that the processes are
resulting in improvements. The committee is mindful that the Health and Safety Team has a
key role in the Covid-19 response. The committee received a report on new ways of working
and the support for managers. The committee received a positive update on the trust
apprenticeship scheme and the next steps. The committee noted the updates to the risk
register, included the new risk on staffing pressures due to Covid-19.
SSa – The issues with locum doctors and access to RiO links back to the finding from the CH
investigation. Is this the same for other professions?
AFu – This relates mainly to locums and out of hours cover. A detailed paper will be brought
to the next Workforce Committee.
SS – It was a feature of the operational report that we have difficulties in some areas. Are
the problems specific to Oxleas?
RCE – There are similar elsewhere and we are as creative as we can be in terms of finding
solutions.
ID – There is a wider context to these challenges.

Noted

18

Audit and Risk Assurance Committee report
Noted
SD presented the report from the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee. The committee
received a presentation on care planning.. The committee also discussed the wider approach
to succession planning and agreed that KPMG will be involved in reviewing the current plans.
The committee received the KMPG audit report on complaints. This was a positive report
and plans are in place to address the recommendations made. The committee received the
risk register report from the Workforce Committee. It was noted that there are high
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SB

10

Item Subject

Action

numbers of staff nearing retirement, and this issue has also been reflected in board visits.
SSa – It is positive to hear about the plans for succession planning in light of the impact of
Covid-19. We will not be the only organisation facing this.
NHC – RCE and Debbie Wheddon have undertaken much work on this. It is encouraging that
staff are committed to staying with the trust for the Covid-19 response.
20

Board visits reports
Noted
AM – Meadowview: The visit was conducted virtually and was appreciated by staff. An
action plan is in place to address the issues raised.
ID – Community Children’s Nursing Team: This was a positive visit. The team have
responded well to new ways of working under the current restrictions. They have embraced
technology and feel supported.
AM – Rapid Response: The team talked about the impact of pandemic. The agency request
issue has been actioned. There are long-standing concerns about space and it is difficult for
the team to socially distance, and this will be taken forward by management.
AT – How do we capture actions?
SB – We maintain a database of actions and when they are completed and will report back to
the board on progress.
AT – How will we ensure the visits continue?
MT – Staff appreciate the visits, but we need to balance against time and they will continue
to be conducted virtually at present. There are some actions we can implement quickly, but
others are more challenging. We should focus on the teams that get less attention.

21

Council of Governors update
The update from the Council of Governors was noted.

22

Any other business
Noted
MT advised the board that Jazz Thind has resigned as Director of Finance to take up a role in
another organisation. The re-appointment process will be overseen by the Executive
Nominations Committee. The board acknowledged her contribution and wished her the best
for the future.
Next meeting of the Board of Directors
Thursday 4 March 2021 at 10.30 am
Via MS Teams
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Board of Directors
4 March 2021

Item
Enclosure

3
3

Report Title
Author
Accountable Director
Confidentiality/
FOI status

Matters arising
Sally Bryden, Trust Secretary
Andy Trotter, Chair
Public

Report Summary

The Board tracker details progress made on actions raised in previous Board
meetings.

Purpose
(To select purpose,
click on relevant
choice for drop
down box)
Recommendation
Link to strategic
objectives
(click on relevant
choice for drop
down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework
Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

Information

To Note

Approval

Decision

√

The Board is asked to note.

Quality

Workforce

Sustainability

Partnerships

There are links to risks relating to learning from serious incidents and inpatient services

12

Board Actions Tracker 2021 - progress on matters arising from last meeting and on-going matters from previous meetings

No

Minutes reference

Action raised
(Board date)

Item

1

019-09/#2

05/09/2019

For the board to receive a response on how the board are
Operational Service
appraised of health and safety issues and the reporting route Executive
report
to the board
The CH report will be revisited by the panel, and the board will
Jane Wells
receive a briefing on the methodology at a strategy day.

04/03/2021

Matters arising

In progress

For the background paper on capital expenditure on ICT
Sally Bryden
equipment to be circulated to the board, for approval by email

04/03/2021

Matters arising

Complete

2

2021-01/#1

14/01/2021

CH investigation
report

3

2021-01/#2

14/01/2021

Infrastructure
Committee report

Action details

Action for

Bring forward to

Report under

Action closed

Comments

04/03/2021

Matters arising

In progress

The current committee responsibilities were confirmed in the Committee Structure paper agreed at the November board
meeting and the development of the trust approach to safety governance was discussed at the February Board Strategy
meeting. This will be developed further including the assurance process and committee structure.
The Patient Safety Team are taking forward the action to review the CH report.
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Work is being taken forward on the new Patient Safety Incident Response Framework (replacing the current Serious Incident
Framework), with the aim of holding a session at the June board strategy awayday.
The paper was circulated to the board following the January 2021 meeting, and the board unanimously agreed by email.
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Board of Directors
4 March 2021

Item
Enclosure

4
4

Report Title
Author
Accountable Director
Confidentiality/
FOI status

Board Assurance Framework and Covid-19 risk register
Susan Owen, Risk and Governance Manager
Matthew Trainer, Chief Executive
N/A

Report Summary

Board Assurance Framework metrics and trend report
This report presents the Board Assurance Framework in a new format, so as to better
illustrate key themes and trends. This will replace the current listing format.
It is proposed that the frequency of including each element of the report is as set out in the
table below.
Title
List of risks

Rating overview

Rating by risk
Longevity of risk
Current rating v
target rating

Risks by committee

Overview
This report lists all the risks on the Board Assurance
Framework as at the date of the report, including the
board sub-committee that owns the risk, and the risk
rating
This report provides a high level overview of the
number and level of all the risks on the Board
Assurance Framework on a month by month basis
This report provides a trend analysis of the month on
month change in rating for each risk on the Board
Assurance Framework.
This report shows the length of time each risk has
remained on the risk register
This report provides an analysis of the current rating of
each risk, set against the initial rating and the target
rating, so as to give an indication of how close the trust
is to reaching the target level. This data is presented
based in on the position as at the end of each quarter
This report provides an overview of the number and
level of risks by board sub-committee

Frequency
Monthly

Monthly

Monthly
Monthly
Quarterly

Six-monthly, or by
exception if there
are significant
changes

Longevity of risks
Whilst there are some risks that have remained on the risk register for several years, these
relate to on-going concerns such as finance and workforce. The descriptions and mitigations
are regularly updated to reflect the current position and context.
Other exceptions to note
For the following three service delivery risks, it should be noted that the mitigations to the
risks are influenced by our response to Covid-19. All services have been asked to update
their Business Continuity Plans. Any decisions on enacting these would be taken forward
through the Incident Co-ordination Centre. Timescales for completing the mitigations may
therefore need to be flexible.
• 1844: CMHT demand is higher than capacity, which impacts on the organisation's ability
to meet patient need in a timely and effective way. In some areas, recruitment and
retention remains an area of concern. This creates a risk to patient experience and
delivering the service.

14

• 1912: If the trust does not reduce pressure on district nursing services in Bexley and
Greenwich, there is a risk that this will impact upon quality of care and staff morale.

Purpose
(To select purpose,
click on relevant
choice for drop
down box)
Recommendation
Link to strategic
objectives (click on
relevant choice for
drop down box)

• 1913: If wait times in community services are not reduced, there is a risk that this will
impact on patient outcomes and experience.

Information

To Note

Approval

Decison

√

For the Board of Directors to note.

Quality √

Workforce √

Sustainability √

Partnerships √

Link to Board
Assurance
Framework

N/A

Implications
Quality
Financial

Briefly outline implications of the recommendations in this report
The Board Assurance Framework includes risks relating to quality.
The Board Assurance Framework includes risks relating to financial
sustainability.
The trust may have to make some challenging ethical decisions during the
Covid-19 pandemic
The Board Assurance Framework includes risks relating to patient experience
and outcome, and staff well-being and morale.

Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

15

Board Assurance Framework: contents
Title

Overview

List of risks

This report lists all the risks on the Board Assurance Framework as at
the date of the report, including the board‐subcommittee that owns Monthly
the risk, and the risk rating

Rating overview

This report provides a high level overview of the number and level of
all the risks on the Board Assurance Framework on a month by month Monthly
basis

Rating by risk

This report provides a trend analysis of the month on month change
in rating for each risk on the Board Assurance Framework.

Monthly

Longevity of risk

This report shows the length of time each risk has remained on the
risk register

Monthly

Current rating versus target rating

This report provides an analysis of the current rating of each risk, set
against the initial rating and the target rating, so as to give an
indication of how close the trust is to reaching the target level. This Quarterly
data is presented based in on the position as at the end of each
quarter

Risks by committee

Frequency

This report provides an overview of the number and level of risks by
board sub‐committee
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Six‐monthly, or
by exception if
there are
significant
changes

16

Board Assurance Framework ‐ list of risks as at:

26 February 2021

ID

Board sub‐committee

Summary risk description

Opened

Date added to
BAF

Consequence
(Current)

Likelihood
(Current)

Rating
(Current)

Level
(Current)

Target risk
rating

Date target rating
to be achieved

1177

Cash releasing efficiencies 2019/20 and beyond

Business Committee

22/10/2014

22/10/2014

Major (4)

Likely (4)

16

Significant

MOD (8)

31/03/2022

1213

Vacancies and recruitment pressures

Workforce Committee

18/02/2014

09/03/2016

Moderate (3)

Likely (4)

12

High

LOW (3)

31/12/2021
31/12/2021

1471

Staff experiencing discrimination at work

Workforce Committee

26/04/2016

26/08/2018

Moderate (3)

Likely (4)

12

High

MOD (6)

1502

Impact of demand on staff satisfaction and retention

Workforce Committee

18/01/2017

18/01/2017

Moderate (3)

Likely (4)

12

High

MOD (8)

31/12/2021

1565

Collective responsibility for delivery of SE London STP control total

Business Committee

19/02/2019

19/02/2019

Moderate (3)

Possible (3)

9

Moderate

MOD (6)

31/03/2022

1606

Bed management ‐ financial pressures

Business Committee

13/07/2017

13/07/2017

Moderate (3)

Likely (4)

12

High

LOW (4)

31/03/2022

1776

Section 136 of the MHA expiring and lack of available admission beds

Performance and Quality Assurance Committee

18/01/2019

02/05/2019

Moderate (3)

Possible (3)

9

Moderate

LOW (4)

31/03/2021

1844

Demand on CMHTs

Performance and Quality Assurance Committee

31/12/2019

31/12/2019

Major (4)

Possible (3)

12

High

LOW (4)

31/03/2021

1877

Finance COVID‐19 risk

Business Committee

17/04/2020

23/11/2020

Moderate (3)

Possible (3)

9

Moderate

LOW (4)

31/12/2022

1905

Prone restraint

Performance and Quality Assurance Committee

21/09/2020

24/09/2020

Major (4)

Possible (3)

12

High

LOW (4)

30/09/2021

1912

Pressure on district nursing teams

Performance and Quality Assurance Committee

24/09/2020

24/09/2020

Moderate (3)

Possible (3)

9

Moderate

LOW (2)

31/12/2021
31/12/2021

1913

Reducing wait times in community services

Performance and Quality Assurance Committee

24/09/2020

24/09/2020

Major (4)

Likely (4)

16

Significant

LOW (1)

1914

Local Authority contracts for integrated and embedded services

Business Committee

15/09/2020

15/09/2020

Major (4)

Likely (4)

16

Significant

LOW (4)

31/03/2021

1915

Service Delivery in Greenwich Health Visiting prior to transfer

Performance and Quality Assurance Committee

29/09/2020

29/09/2020

Major (4)

Possible (3)

12

High

MOD (8)

31/03/2021
31/03/2021

1921

Service delivery concerns

Performance and Quality Assurance Committee

28/10/2020

28/10/2020

Major (4)

Possible (3)

12

High

LOW (4)

1926

Impact of Covid‐19 on staffing levels and staffing pressures

Workforce Committee

10/11/2020

18/11/2020

Major (4)

Likely (4)

16

Significant

MOD (8)

31/03/2021

1939

Ligature risk management

Performance and Quality Assurance Committee

08/12/2020

08/12/2020

Major (4)

Possible (3)

12

High

LOW (4)

31/03/2021
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Board Assurance Framework: month on month risk rating
Risk level

Back to contents

Apr‐20

May‐20

Jun‐20

Jul‐20

Aug‐20

Sep‐20

Oct‐20

Nov‐20

Dec‐20

Jan‐21

Low

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Moderate

3

3

3

3

3

4

4

5

4

4

High

5

5

5

5

5

6

7

8

9

9

Significant

1

1

1

1

1

4

4

3

4

4

Total

9

9

9

9

9

14

15

16

17

17

Feb‐21

Mar‐21

0

0

Number of risk by level month on month trend 2020‐21
18
16
3

14

4

4

9

9

4

4

0
Dec‐20

0
Jan‐21

4
12

4

10
1

8

1

1

1

8

1
6

6

5

5

5

5

5

3

3

3

3

3

0
Apr‐20

0
May‐20

0
Jun‐20

0
Jul‐20

0
Aug‐20

7

4
2
0

4

4

0
Sep‐20

0
Oct‐20

5

0
Nov‐20

Risks removed

New risks added

Changes to risk ratings

September 2020 ‐ five new risks added
1905: Prone restraint (high)
1912: Pressure on district nursing teams (moderate)
1913: Reducing wait times in community services (significant)
1914: Local Authority contracts for integrated and embedded services (significant)

November 2020 ‐ changes to risk ratings
1776: Section 136 of the MHA expiring and lack of available admission beds ‐ reduced
from high to moderate
1915: Service delivery in Greenwich health visiting prior to transfer ‐ reduced from
significant to high

October 2020 ‐ one new risk added
1921: Responding to service delivery concerns (high)
1915: Service delivery in Greenwich health visiting prior to transfer (significant)

December 2020 ‐ changes to risk ratings
1502: Impact of demand on staff satisfaction and retention ‐ increased from moderate to
high
1926: Impact of Covid‐19 on staffing levels and staffing pressures ‐ increased from high to
significant

November 2020 ‐ one new risk added
1926: Impact of Covid‐19 on staffing levels and staffing pressures (high)
December 2020 ‐ one new risk added
1939: Ligature risk management
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Board Assurance
Framework: month on month ratings by risk 2020/21

Summary risk description
1177: Cash releasing efficiencies 2019/20 and beyond

Back to contents

Apr‐20

May‐20

Jun‐20

Jul‐20

Aug‐20

Sep‐20

Oct‐20

Nov‐20

Dec‐20

Jan‐21

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

Feb‐21

Mar‐21

Target risk rating
MOD (8)

Date target rating
to be achieved
31/03/2022

1213: Vacancies and recruitment pressures

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

LOW (3)

31/12/2021

1471: Staff experiencing discrimination at work

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

MOD (6)

31/12/2021

1502: Impact of demand on staff satisfaction and retention

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

12

12

MOD (8)

31/12/2021

1565: Collective responsibility for delivery of SE London STP control total

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

MOD (6)

31/03/2022

1606: Bed management ‐ financial pressures

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

LOW (4)

31/03/2022

1776: Section 136 of the MHA expiring and lack of available admission beds

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

9

9

9

LOW (4)

31/03/2021

1844: Demand on CMHTs

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

LOW (4)

31/03/2021

1877: Finance COVID‐19 risk

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

LOW (4)

31/12/2022

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

12

12

12

12

12

LOW (4)

30/09/2021

1905: Prone restraint
1912: Pressure on district nursing teams

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

9

9

9

9

9

LOW (2)

31/12/2021

1913: Reducing wait times in community services

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

16

16

16

16

16

LOW (1)

31/12/2021

1914: Local Authority contracts for integrated and embedded services

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

16

16

16

16

16

LOW (4)

31/03/2021

1915: Service delivery in Greenwich health visiting prior to transfer

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

16

16

12

12

12

MOD (8)

31/03/2021

1921: Responding to service delivery concerns

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

12

12

12

12

LOW (4)

31/03/2021

1926: Impact of Covid‐19 on staffing levels and staffing pressures

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

12

16

16

MOD (8)

31/03/2021

1939: Ligature risk management

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

12

12

LOW (4)

31/03/2021

1177: Cash releasing efficiencies 2019/20 and beyond
26
24
22
20
18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

Full risk description

Controls

Mitigation action

By when

1177: There is a risk to the financial sustainability of
the Trust if required CIP (Cost Improvement
Programmes) are not delivered on a recurrent basis
as non‐recurrent mitigations cannot be relied upon
year on year.

Financial support available to service directorates to support the delivery of invest
to save plans
In 2019/20 non‐recurrent funding of £5.3m has been identified to mitigate non‐
delivery of CIPs
Monthly finance reports shared
Block funding has now ended, and CIPs is a rolling item for all the services.
Scheduled bi‐monthly CIPs meeting with directorates/boroughs to monitor the
delivery of schemes

Trust wide transformation programmes for remainder of 2020/21 and for
2021/22 including:
‐Ward closures ‐ out for consultation, with plan to complete 2020/21
‐Agile working ‐ plan to complete 2021/22

31/03/2022

C= 4

L=4

16

SIG

Commentary

Assurances

This risk has remained at the rating of significant (16)
throughout 2020/21.

Reports to Board and Business Committee
Monthly/quarterly finance meeting with service and corporate directorates
NHSI Risk Rating an indicator of financial risk
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Board Assurance
Framework: month on month ratings by risk 2020/21

1213: Vacancies and recruitment pressures
26
24
22
20

Back to contents

Full risk description

Controls

Mitigation action

1213: There is a risk that the trust cannot recruit
staff to a level which enables it to maintain
optimum levels of substantive staff. This will impact
on the delivery of care and patient experience.

Social media is being used to raise awareness of job opportunities.
Vacancy panels consider alternative creative solutions where recruitment to
particular roles is proving challenging.
Local Directorates, Heads of Profession and HR professionals work in partnership
to explore creative solutions to address recruitment challenges, including use of
apprenticeships, LXPs, alternative roles etc.
Innovative work is taking place within some directorates to be proactive in
addressing anticipated shortfalls.
Use of temporary staff to cover vacancies

31/12/2021
On‐going recruitment activity to target specific areas. A number of
solutions are being implemented to promote Oxleas as an employer of
choice, with initiatives to attract and retain high calibre staff:
‐ Making Oxleas a great place to work with a focus on staff wellbeing
including through new directorate staff assemblies
‐ Nursing development programmes across the SLP
‐ Creativity in workforce planning and staffing establishments‐ and use of
alternative roles within different staff groups
‐ Creation of new roles and entry points, including rotational posts
internally and externally across the SLP and ICS
maximising apprenticeships
‐ Career development has been identified one of the drivers for turnover.
Cleary articulate career pathways for all and max opportunities and access
to CPD for all
‐ Key focus on recruitment of Band 5 nursing staff and a range of schemes
are being used to incentivise staff to apply for these posts
‐ Development of an enhanced Band 4 nurse associate role
‐ Joint recruitment with our SLP partners is underway alongside the
implementation of an employment passport to support transition

Areas of concern are band 5 nursing staff; band 6/7
AHPs; and doctors. There are also local areas and
Directorates where recruitment is a challenge.

18
16
14
12
10

C=3

8
6
4
2

C=4

12

High

Commentary

Assurances

This risk has remained at the rating of high (12)
throughout 2020/21.

Vacancy rate monitoring ‐ target to maintain at <10%
“Time to recruit” monitoring ‐ we are consistently below our peers.

0

1471: Staff experiencing discrimination at work
26

Full risk description

Controls

Mitigation action

1471: Staff may experience discrimination, violence
and aggression at work. This may impact on sickness
absence, morale and retention.

A package of measures has been designed to 'Build a Fairer Oxleas'. The focus is
on (a) improving the fairness of our promotion and recruitment processes, (b)
improving cultural understanding and competence. This is supported by a
detailed action plan overseen by the Building a Fairer Oxleas Action Plan Group
attended by NEDs, EDs and others, and by Workforce Committee.

A substantial programme of work ‐ Building a Fairer Oxleas has started and 31/03/021
will continue to grow to improve the experience of BAME staff in Oxleas.

24
22
20

Continued focus on reducing incidents of racism from service users, patients and
members of the public. Activities include:
‐ the 'body worn cameras' initiative
‐ trust‐wide Quality improvement projects addressing violence and aggression
against staff in directorates

18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

By when

C=3

C=4

12

High

New values and behaviours framework to provide clarity on the behaviours that
are expected from our staff in all Oxleas settings.

Commentary

Assurances

This risk has remained at the rating of high (12)
throughout 2020/21.

WRES & WDES data
Qualitative feedback from staff through hosted BAME wellbeing sessions,
network engagement, Building a Fairer Oxleas volunteers etc.
Datix reports
National Staff Survey results
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Building on the Board discussions at the November Away Day on reducing
the incidence of abuse against staff from patients, a group of Executive
leads are meeting in January 2021 to consider what more can be done to
supplement the 'It's Not OK' approach and tackling violence and
aggression.

By when

20
Board Assurance
Framework: month on month ratings by risk 2020/21

1502: Impact of demand on staff satisfaction and retention
26
24
22
20
18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

Back to contents

Full risk description

Controls

Mitigation action

By when

1502: Staff may experience low morale and burnout
as a result of the continued pressures caused by the
pandemic, anxieties about winter pressures and the
spread of the virus, leading to poor mental health,
low resilience, low productivity and potentially
increased turnover

All staff are required to have an up‐to‐date individual risk assessment to ensure
that the necessary protections are in place for those who would be more
vulnerable if they were to contract the virus.

Detailed activity is under way to identify areas of concern and ensure that
they are acted upon quickly. A number of activities are in place to build
morale and resilience and there are a number of ways in which the
organisation listens to staff to ensure good understanding.

31/03/2021

Managers are explicitly encouraged, through the risk‐assessment process and
more generally, to maintain close contact with their team members to ensure that
those who are struggling are identified and supported.
Wellbeing sessions continue for all BAME staff to talk about their concerns about
the risks caused by C‐19 and more generally.

C=3

C=4

12

High

Commentary
December 2020: The risk was increased from
moderate (9) to high (12), to reflect the increased
pressures on staff. Detailed activity is under way to
identify areas of concern and ensure that they are
acted upon quickly

Directorate leads have developed local structures for listening to staff members
and areas of concern are fed‐back and addressed through the regular 1pm C‐19
calls and through the Exec meeting structures.
Central communications are focused on ensuring that staff are given all the
information that they need to stay safe and well and highlight the support that is
available, through Care First and other wellbeing channels.
Directorate Staff Assemblies are focused on staff wellbeing and tangible local
improvements, e.g. staff rest areas.
Executive Listening sessions have been established to hear directly from
managers about the interventionist that would best support them and their
t
Th
t t di D
b

Assurances

Service Directors and Clinical Directors report on areas of staff concern at the 1pm
C‐19 calls and at Exec and solutions are identified.
A programme of activity is being developed for the winter period to create a
sense of community & fun to build on the staff recognition awards ‐ e.g.
Christmas countdown, virtual concerts, resilience training, art and baking
competitions and more

1565: Collective responsibility for delivery of SE London STP control
total
26
24
22
20
18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

Full risk description

Controls

Mitigation action

By when

1565: There is a risk that if other organisations in
the ICS fail to meet their financial improvement
trajectories (FIT) that the Trust may be asked to
contribute further CIP. This risk will be reviewed
post COVID‐19 funding arrangements

As a sovereign organisation we will still be able to take a decision on any
requirement to take collective responsibility.
Opportunities afforded by SLP will enable us demonstrate how the Trust can
support the system control total (i.e. NMoC).
Each Trust is actively managing its financial position.
Regular SEL ICS DoFs/CEOs meeting to monitor and manage risks
There will Continue to be bilateral contract discussions to try to secure mutually
acceptable contract proposals

The trajectory for 2020/21 has been agreed. For 2021/22, the ICS trusts
will agree as a group on how to approach the planning guidance for
2021/22 and agree the process in unison, through a whole system
management, with will be discussed and reviewed month on month
throughout 2021/22

31/03/2022

C=3

L=3

9

MOD

Commentary

Assurances

This risk has remained at the rating of moderate (9)
throughout 2020/21.

The Executive, Business Committee and Board will be updated on progress
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Framework: month on month ratings by risk 2020/21

1606: Bed management ‐ financial pressures
26
24
22
20
18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

Back to contents

Full risk description

Controls

Mitigation action

1606: There is a risk that if the Trust is not able to
reduce demand through the deployment of
admission avoidance strategies as well as improve
'flow', we will continue use non‐Oxleas beds and
adversely impact the overall financial position of the
Trust. This also adversely impact on the quality of
patient care as local residents are cared out of area,
and do not have access to Trust's community
services. Patient experience is also adversely
affected.

Investment to support the additional capacity in place on a non‐recurrent basis

Programme in place to develop alternatives to inpatient admission and also 31/03/2021
ensure that our community teams are functioning at optimum levels.
There are four over‐arching themes into which all of the work streams fit:
• Ensure patients in crisis in the community can access a community based
resources and therefore avoid attendance at A&E
• Ensure that when appropriate patients can be assessed for longer periods
without being admitted to hospital
• Ensure that each patient admitted to an acute ward has a purposeful
admission and that discharge is not delayed
• Ensure that care offered in the community is not delayed and that teams
are working at optimum

C=3

C=4

12

High

Commentary
This risk has remained at the rating of moderate (9)
throughout 2020/21.

Daily bed state reports published to monitor usage of beds
Bed management system has been reviewed to strengthen bed state decision
making
Implementation of a 'flow' group

Assurances
Monitoring of financial position reported to Board, Business Committee and
Executive Team
Feedback from MADE events

By when

As at January 2021, the admission avoidance and flow management
process are working well, and we are working towards reducing the bed
base by 1 April 2021. Further fundamental changes will be impacted by
Covid.
This risk will also be mitigated through the transformation Workstream
being let by the Programme Director

1776: Section 136 of the MHA expiring and lack of available
admission beds
26
24
22
20
18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

Full risk description

Controls

Mitigation action

By when

1776: There have been some instances where a
patient detained under s136 has been assessed as
requiring admission, and no bed is available, either
within our own bed base, or in the private sector;
patients are therefore kept in the Health Based
Place of Safety (HBPoS) beyond 24 hours. There is a
risk that this will impact on patient care, privacy and
dignity; that the trust will be deprived of a HBPoS;
and a risk of legal action for unlawful detention.

Escalation protocol has been approved and is available on the trust intranet.
Posters displayed in s136 suite to raise awareness

See existing controls. The MHLOG will continue to monitor the
effectiveness of the controls, and any concerns will be reported to the
Executive Team and the Board via the PQAC and the Board Assurance
Framework

On‐going

C=3

L=3

9

The service director informs the Chief Operating Officer and Medical Director of
any breaches. These are reported to the informal risk meeting and a desktop
review is undertaken. The PQAC receives a report every month.
The trust is indemnified against legal action, and a claim may be defensible if we
could demonstrate it was a risk based decision to keep the patient in the s136
suite for their own safety.

MOD

Commentary

Assurances

November 2020: Reduced from high (12) to
moderate (9). A Datix report is completed and a
desktop review undertaken for all breaches.
Breaches are reducing and the principles of common
law defences are understood. If breaches continue to
reduce, we can consider tolerating the risk.

136 dashboard for timely information on 136 presentations and outcomes.
Monitoring breaches of the s136 24‐hour rule. Datix to be completed for all
patients who remain in HBPoS without consent after 24 hours
Monitoring legal action against the trust (no legal action taken to date in respect
of breach of the 24‐hour rule)
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1844: Demand on CMHTs
26
24
22
20
18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

Back to contents

Full risk description

Controls

Mitigation action

1844: CMHT demand is higher than capacity, which
impacts on the organisation's ability to meet patient
need in a timely and effective way. In some areas,
recruitment and retention remains an area of
concern. This creates a risk to patient experience
and delivering the service.

The CMHT forum has a thorough and timely workplan that aims to address key
areas over the coming calendar year (2020), including:

31/03/2021
The mitigation plan will be influenced by our response to Covid‐19. All
services have been asked to update their Business Continuity Plans. Any
decisions on enacting these will be taken forward through the Incident Co‐
ordination Centre. Timescales for completing the mitigations may
therefore need to be flexible

C=4

C=3

12

High

Commentary
This risk has remained at the rating of high (12)
during 2020/21. The mitigation plan will be
influenced by our response to Covid‐19. All services
have been asked to update their Business Continuity
Plans. Any decisions on enacting these will be taken
forward through the Incident Co‐ordination Centre.
Timescales for completing the mitigations may
therefore need to be flexible

Workforce
•Core induction programme for CMHT staff
•Ensuring safe, efficient and productive multi‐disciplinary staffing
Clinical effectiveness
•Managing transitions in two key areas; those being CAMHS and referral back to
GP
•A review of evidence based interventions required
Quality assurance
•A review of the operational policy
•Establishment of consistent outcome measures

Assurances
Performance and workforce metrics are monitored through established
governance processes. These include:
Workforce
•Vacancies
•Turnover

By when

•Recruitment to vacant posts as well as additional posts (qualified and
unqualified, support worker posts, new Band 5 community nursing posts)
•Retention of existing staff through more comprehensive support systems
including: peer support for Band 7 and development forums for band 6 ,
review of supervision provision and engagement with SLP programme for
advanced nursing careers. also clarifying what each professional in the
team offers
•Review of caseload sizes and ensuring these are reduced to manageable
numbers
•Review of the model of care delivery in the teams, what is available for
patients, and how they access the available resource from professionals in
teams, what are the roles of a CPN, a social worker, an OT, a psychologist
and a psychiatrist
•Caseload review to ensure that those on our caseloads are receiving
active treatment (eg creation of a tiered system with a sliding scale of
support) supported by a Quality Improvement project focused on discharge
•Primary care liaison role pilot project to transfer a group on depot
medication back to primary care

Clinical effectiveness
•Referrals
•Waiting times
Quality assurance
•Patient experience data – complaints, PALS, compliments, GP alerts
•Incident data

1877: Finance COVID‐19 risk
26
24

Full risk description

Controls

Mitigation action

1877: The finance risk has been split over time
periods of initial outbreak, recovery period and long
term. Phases 1, 2 and 3 have been fully mitigated.

•Addendum to the Trust SFIs to ensure that staff have the correct cost centres
and guidance to properly record and manage the costs of the outbreak.
•During the initial outbreak period the current assumption is that patient and
other income from non‐NHS sources, including from HEE and from local
authorities will continue at the levels seen in 2019/20 during the next few
months. This assumption will not hold for all areas, in particular for private
patient income. COVID 19 financial monitoring returns are in place and these
cover both retrospective and forecast costs. The NHSI/E Finance team will
continue to monitor income levels through routine provider reporting, and where
lower than expected the expectation is for them to adjust for this through the
central top up. Contractual discussions have been held with the main funders in
order to ensure costs are covered and in certain cases services suspended or
altered during the outbreak period.
•During the 2020/21 recovery period this risk is being actively mitigated via a
heads of terms agreement with SEL CCG and on‐going discussions with NHSE re a
phased and mutually agreed transition back to business as usual which will not
financially destabilise the Trust.
•2021/22 and beyond financial outlook and settlement is not currently within the
Trust’s ability to wholly mitigate. Our current view given the nature of this risk is
to currently tolerate this risk

Consideration of any financial issues or questions raised by staff in relation 31/03/2022
to finance, fraud or procurement. These are responded to ASAP via the
Trust COVID 19 mechanisms and if necessary further Oxleas guidance
issued.

22

Phase 4: In the long term, there is a risk that due to
the cost to the economy of dealing with the Covid‐
19 outbreak that the NHS settlement for 2021/22
onwards will require renegotiation and the
settlement may not be as favourable to mental
health and community services. The phase 4
guidance covering 2021/22 planning has not been
issued as yet and therefore the impact and
likelihood of this risk remains unknown. It is
expected that Covid‐19 will still require some form
of non‐recurrent funding in 2021/22 as an effective
vaccination will not be available before the start of
the next financial year.

20
18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
Apr‐20 May‐20 Jun‐20 Jul‐20 Aug‐20 Sep‐20 Oct‐20 Nov‐20 Dec‐20 Jan‐21 Feb‐21 Mar‐21

C=3

L=3

9

MOD

Commentary

Assurances

This risk has remained at the rating of moderate (9)
throughout 2020/21. Phases 1, 2 and 3 have been
fully mitigated. Block envelope arrangements have
been confirmed to continue at current levels up until
31 March 2021. Mitigations for 2020/21 are in place,
but for phase 4 (2021/22), the national guidance has
not yet been issued, and this will need to be
considered from an ICS perspective

•COVID 19 addendum to the Trust SFIs have been reviewed by internal audit and
counter fraud to ensure they are fit for purpose
•The first COVID 19 funding allocations have been notified to the Trust and these
were in line with Trust return
•COVID 19 cost centres for each directorate are in operation and costs are being
actively monitored by Finance and included in regular COVID 19 cost returns to
SEL CCG and NHSI/E. Other than some clarification and reclassification of costs
and income there have been no adjustments to the Trust return figures
•COVID 19 costs will be included in the regular monthly reporting to the Business
Committee
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Block envelope arrangements have been confirmed to continue at current
levels up until 31 March 2021
Mitigations for 2020/21 are in place, but for phase 4 (2021/22), the
national guidance has not yet been issued, and this will need to be
considered from an ICS perspective
Block envelope arrangements have been confirmed to continue at current
levels up until 31 March 2021

By when

23
Board Assurance
Framework: month on month ratings by risk 2020/21

1905: Prone restraint
26
24
22

Back to contents

Full risk description

Controls

Mitigation action

By when

1905: There is a risk that face‐down, or prone,
restraint can result in dangerous compression of the
chest and airways and put the person being
restrained at risk of asphyxiation and death.

Service directors now receive a weekly restraint incident report every Friday for
review and follow up action. All prone restraints are subject to desk top reviews
and must be signed off by the service director to examine for learning. Service
Directors will assess and support enablers for individual teams eg up‐skilling in de‐
escalation techniques, positive behaviour plans, pre‐admission planning and daily
planning, culture and leadership and softer skills to create therapeutic
environments.

Focus through London Safety in Mental Health Wards – on cultural and
behavioural change relational security education program and quality
improvement using See, Think, Act Framework and Human Factors
(Goddington, Avery, Millbrook Wards

30/09/2021

20
18
16

C=3

C=4

12

High

12

Commentary

QI reducing violence and aggression ‐ including preventive strategies, including de‐
escalation, ‘positive behaviour support', Broset Tool

10

September 2020: New risk opened and escalated to
BAF. The trust is committed to making the use of
prone restraint exceptional, with ideally zero
instances, and this will remain a safety priority for
2021/22.

PMVA training (compliant with national standards)
PMVA Policy.
Restraint Reduction strategy https://www.oxleasstrategies.com/restraint‐
reduction‐strategy/

14

8
6
4

Share learning from national programmers: No Force First, Positive and
Proactive Care, Reducing Restrictive Practice Collaborative, MHSIP
Restraint Reduction Network.

Review of Trustwide Reducing Restrictive Practice Group and workplan
including Safe Wards and plans to pilot safety pods on Goddington Ward
(in quarter 3 2020/21)

On‐going

By when

2
Bodyworn cameras in place on acute mental health wards (since July 2020
following pilot since September 2019)

0
Sep‐20

Oct‐20

Nov‐20

Dec‐20

Jan‐21

Feb‐21

Mar‐21

Identification of hotspots ‐ highest use areas in quarter by Head of Patient Safety
(completed in August for quarter 1)
Participation in London Safety in mental Health Wards (Cavendish Square) ‐ next
report to Acute Care Forum 24 September 2020

Assurances
Monitoring arrangements
Quality Report priority 2020/21 ‐ reduce restraint 10% (based on average of
quarter 1) monthly reporting weekly restraint incident report produced by
informatics every Friday and shared with directorates for review and action
Weekly ad hoc reports of restraint activity and physical health monitoring after
rapid tranquilization to executive and PQAC
Ethnicity report for restraints (available from 21.9.2020)
Mental Health and Learning Disabilities Dataset (MHLDDS) compliant

1912: Pressure on district nursing teams
26
24
22

Full risk description

Controls

Mitigation action

1912: If the trust does not reduce pressure on
district nursing services in Bexley and Greenwich,
there is a risk that this will impact upon quality of
care and staff morale.

The trust has contributed to ICS winter plans for all three boroughs, and the
pressures on the district nursing teams are being recognised as a risk at system
level through relationship building within the ICS, the borough level local care
partnerships, and the Resplendent Group (this group is monitoring the
implementation of winter planning across Bexley and Greenwich).

31/12/2021
The mitigation plan will be influenced by our response to Covid‐19. All
services have been asked to update their Business Continuity Plans. Any
decisions on enacting these will be taken forward through the Incident Co‐
ordination Centre. Timescales for completing the mitigations may
therefore need to be flexible

At local level, service directorates are authorising the use of additional bank or
agency staff to reduce the pressure on teams.

District nurses are at the centre of our response to Covid. Service
directorate have local plans in place to monitor and manage caseloads, and
ensure that staff have psychological support, as the additional workload is
having an emotional toll. We are also working with the third sector
partners such as Greenwich and Bexley Hospice so as to ensure that our
services compliment each other.

20
18
16
C=3

14

L=3

9

MOD

12

Commentary

Assurances

10

September 2020: New risk escalated to BAF.
January 2021: The mitigation plan will be influenced
by our response to Covid‐19. All services have been
asked to update their Business Continuity Plans. Any
decisions on enacting these will be taken forward
through the Incident Co‐ordination Centre.
Timescales for completing the mitigations may
therefore need to be flexible

Monitoring activity levels, referrals and allocated daily visits

8
6
4
2
0
Sep‐20

Oct‐20

Nov‐20

Dec‐20

Jan‐21

Feb‐21

Mar‐21

Page 9 of 15

24
Board Assurance
Framework: month on month ratings by risk 2020/21

1913: Reducing wait times in community services
26
24

Back to contents

Full risk description

Controls

Mitigation action

1913: If wait times in community services are not
reduced, there is a risk that this will impact on
patient outcomes and experience.

We agreed waiting thresholds urgent and routine as well as agreed waiting times
for assessments and treatment in our teams, and these are monitored by teams.

31/12/2021
The mitigation plan will be influenced by our response to Covid‐19. All
services have been asked to update their Business Continuity Plans. Any
decisions on enacting these will be taken forward through the Incident Co‐
ordination Centre. Timescales for completing the mitigations may
therefore need to be flexible

A task force is set up to target areas were specific issues need to be addressed (eg
the CAMHS task force)

22

By when

20
18
16

C=4

L=4

16

SIG

Prioritise patients those with the greatest need across the neuro and stroke
pathway. Working with local commissioners in the ICS re: neuro

14

Commentary

Assurances

12

September 2020: New risk escalated to BAF.
January 2021: The mitigation plan will be influenced
by our response to Covid‐19. All services have been
asked to update their Business Continuity Plans. Any
decisions on enacting these will be taken forward
through the Incident Co‐ordination Centre.
Timescales for completing the mitigations may
therefore need to be flexible

Waits are monitored through the dashboard, and are reported regularly through
the monthly operational report and the quarterly directorate operational review.

10
8
6
4
2
Sep‐20

Oct‐20

Nov‐20

Dec‐20

Jan‐21

Feb‐21

Mar‐21

1914: Local Authority contracts for integrated and embedded
services
26
24
22
20
18

Mitigations have been agreed at directorate level, and are being monitored
through the dashboard, and are reported regularly through the monthly
operational report and the quarterly directorate operational review.

Monitoring at Board and Executive Team

Full risk description

Controls

Mitigation action

By when

1914: There is a risk that local authorities will pull
back some of the historic funding, which is well‐
embedded in our operational services, in order to
mitigate the shortage in funding. This means that
there may be a risk to delivery of some of our
services particularly where services were
reconfigured in the past and posts were integrated;
and this will also create a cost pressure for the trust.

Engage Local Authorities regarding resetting of budgets and present the likely
impacts on services to joint discussion group to find mitigations. Conversations
currently taking place in Bexley and Greenwich.

Bexley Care: A timetable is in place to finalise the new agreement by 31
March 2021, when the current agreement will end.

31/03/2021

16

Work with service leads to understand potential impacts on mental health/CHS
services and agree means of absorbing any displaced staff into existing services.

Greenwich: The joint review of mental health services with RBG has been
put on hold due to Covid. In the meantime, negotiations re the current
contract will continue.

Review the construct of the LA cash envelopes and ensure that Estates and
Overhead cost are properly identified in the schedule of cost.

Bromley: There are no immediate plans to renew the current s31 contract,
which has been extended.

14
12

Assurances

10

The Executive, Business Committee and Board will be updated on a regular basis

C=4

8

L=4

16

SIG

Commentary

6
4
2
0
Sep‐20

Oct‐20

Nov‐20

Dec‐20

Jan‐21

Feb‐21

Mar‐21

1915: Service delivery in Greenwich health visiting prior to transfer
26
24
22
20
18

September 2020: New risk opened and escalated to
BAF. Agreement with local authorities are under
review.
February 2021: There are emerging risks relating to
the plans to cut funding for children's services.

Full risk description

Controls

Mitigation action

By when

1915: There is a risk that we are unable to deliver
the service and meet safeguarding requirements
due to current level of staffing available for work
and the inability to recruit or use agency. In
addition there is increased demand from MASH to
support safeguarding work

Business continuity plan ‐ updated with priorities for safeguarding and working
with children's centre colleagues
Video calls to mitigate for non face to face
Priority to first time mums and CP case conferences
Regular risk assessments with staff to return to face to face where possible
Monitoring of staff availability ‐ recent reduction in long term sick

Discuss potential to recruit pre transfer with commissioners and new
provider

Complete

16
C=4

14

L=3

12

High

12

Commentary

Assurances

10

September 2020: New risk opened and escalated to
BAF ‐ specific to CYP services only
November 2020: Reduced from significant (16) to
high (12) as actions are in place including discussion
with the commissioner and new provider on the
potential to recruit pre‐transfer and reviewing all
staff risk assessments where staff are unable to
complete face to face appointments.

Data on performance
Safeguarding team oversight
Working with children's centre staff to concentrate on known vulnerable families ‐
all of which now have a named wellbeing worker

8
6
4
2
0
Sep‐20

Oct‐20

Nov‐20

Dec‐20

Jan‐21

Feb‐21

Mar‐21
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Review all staff risk assessments where staff are unable to complete face to Complete
face appointments

25
Board Assurance
Framework: month on month ratings by risk 2020/21

1921: Responding to service delivery concerns
26
24
22
20

Back to contents

Full risk description

Controls

Mitigation action

By when

1921: If the trust is not proactive in addressing
immediate concerns in service delivery in a timely
fashion, and then ensuring learning is shared, there
is a risk that the quality of care: patient safety,
experience and outcomes, will be compromised

Freedom to Speak Up arrangements
Improving Lives programme
Complaints process
Serious incidents process
CQC insight reports
Dashboards
Board visits
Relationship meetings with the CQC

Overarching CQC improvement plan as a process for ensuring that QQC
actions and SI actions are followed up and implemented. Monthly CQC
meeting starting from 21 December 2020.

On‐going

18
16

C=4

L=3

12

High

14

Commentary

Assurances

12

October 2020: New risk opened to replace risk 1709
to better reflect the current concerns and priorities.

Actions and progress reported through our governance structure and minuted
Updates and progress reported to quarterly service directorate operational
reviews
Service directorates report a quality update to the trust Performance and Quality
Assurance Committee on a rotational basis
Report and action plans from the Improving Lives visit
CQC Insight Report analysed and reported to the trust Performance and Quality
Assurance Committee
CQC Regulatory Report reported to the trust Performance and Quality Assurance
Committee

10
8
6
4
2
0
Oct‐20

Nov‐20

Dec‐20

Jan‐21

Feb‐21

Mar‐21

1926: Impact of Covid‐19 on staffing levels and staffing pressures
26
24
22
20

Full risk description

Controls

Mitigation action

1926: There is a risk that reduced staffing levels
arising from increased sickness due to Covid‐19, self‐
isolation, protections for vulnerable staff and new
demands (e.g. vaccination) mean that we are unable
to maintain the continuity of essential services

Strict observance of guidance on infection control, PPE, social distancing, home‐
working to reduce the spread of the virus amongst staff, including on‐going
communications campaign

31/03/2021
Ensure that staff are encouraged and supported to stay well and at work
and ensure that robust processes are in place to match available resources
to the areas of greatest need.

18
16
C=4

14

L=4

16

SIG

12

Commentary

10

December 2020: New risk opened to replace Covid‐
19 risks (1878 and 1879) which have been closed, the
risks how are different to first wave of Covid‐19 as
the demands on services are different. Whist
initially rated as at high (12) risk, this was increased
to significant due to the concerns around staff well‐
being and staffing levels.

8
6
4
2
0
Nov‐20

Dec‐20

Jan‐21

Feb‐21

Mar‐21

The QA and QI teams will triangulate information from the Improving Lives 31/12/2021
programme so as to ensure that information is collated, interpreted and
acted on in a timely manner.

Ready access to staff testing to ensure that healthy staff are able to return
promptly to work
IT kit made available to a wide‐range of staff to ensure that staff are able to work
from home where appropriate
Where appropriate, accessing new resources ‐ e.g. apprentices, student nurses
etc.
New central system being designed, in consultation with Service Directors, to
ensure that redeployment happens effectively across Directorates to meet areas
of greatest need.
Ensuring the Trust is ready to rollout the Covid vaccine as soon as this is available
and to take advantage of other opportunities for staff vaccination whenever these
arise.

Assurances
Daily sitrep of C‐19 absences due to sickness, isolation, clinically extremely
vulnerable etc.
Monitoring at regular 1pm calls with ICC, Service Directors etc the current position
in relation to staffing issues and impact on service provision
Active local roster management, working with HR Business Partners to identify
staffing risks and proactively find solutions
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By when

26
Board Assurance
Framework: month on month ratings by risk 2020/21

1939: Ligature risk management
26
24
22
20
18
16

Back to contents

Full risk description

Controls

Mitigation action

1939: The complexity of the ligature risk assessment
tool makes it difficult to translate into clear
messages to staff, so there is a lack of consistency
and standardised approach to completing the risk
assessments. This means that there may be a lack
of understanding on the residual risks that remain
and the mitigating actions that need to be taken by
the ward staff.

Senior nurse identified and funding in place for short term post.

Revise the methodology and protocol for ligature risk audits: To establish 31/12/2020
clear output processes are in pace including, audit report and Estates
work plan‐physical actions; and ensure a consistency checking system is in
place.

Ligature management group has been established first meeting to be held in
December 2020
Revised audit tool presented to the Acute Care Forum for feedback from matrons
and ward managers. Further checks being completed to ensure reliability and
validity of the tool

14
Manchester scale used to risk assess ligature points (Ligature Policy)

12
C=4

10

L=3

12

High

8

Commentary

6

December 2020: New risk opened and escalated to
BAF in response to a CQC visit to older persons
wards.

4
2
Dec‐20

Jan‐21

Feb‐21

Mar‐21

To revise the methodology and protocol for Ligature risk audits to include: 31/12/2020
review proposal for compensating factors within ligature tool and to
produce mitigating risk document for ward staff (photo book).‐ all MH
wards prioritising OA wards first

Clinical risk assessment of individual patients (clinical risk assessment policy and
guidance)

Assurances

0

By when

Feedback and engagement from ward and facilities staff to ensure the new
updated process meets their needs. Staff able to identify risk areas and feedback
areas of concern. The QA lead is visiting the wards every two weeks to gain
feedback and assess progress against actions and support.
Monitor Datix reports regarding ligature incidents or near misses
Improving lives reviews review new system to ensure consistency and
sustainability.
CQC assurance gained and removal of warning notice
New ligature group will be implemented to review the audit findings and
presented with difficult decisions regarding ligature management to provide
assurance up to Board. Local audit report and actions monitored via the
Directorate SMT
Health and Safety compliance register to monitor completion of ligature risk
assessments
Care planning audits to monitor that care plans address identified risks
Incident related to ligature points and ligature recorded on Datix
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Staff briefing and clear information to staff on the wards to agree
31/12/2020
mitigations and residual risks following each audit/review
i. Ward managers to undertake audits and be supernumerary on day of
audit ‐ supported by FM
ii. Meeting to be arranges with ward managers to go through ligature audit
tool
Stagger programme of audits going forward so spread across the year

31/12/2020

To undertake a desktop and onsite review of all the audits undertaken. In
following priority order.
i. Transfer all audits onto modified audit tool
ii Walk around Scadbury and Shepherdleas to consistency check audit iii
Consistency check Holbrook and Oaktree
iv. Complete Betts ward audit
v. Consistency check all audits (WAA/Forensics)

31/03/2021

Ensure sustainability by reviewing process and ensure accountability s
embedded into key roles (e.g. senior nursing support required long term)
ward induction processes etc.

30/04/2021

27

Board Assurance Framework ‐ longevity of risk as at

26 February 2021

ID

Summary risk description

Risk opened

Longevity in
months

1177

Cash releasing efficiencies 2019/20 and beyond

22/10/2014

76

1213

Vacancies and recruitment pressures

18/02/2014

84

1471

Staff experiencing discrimination at work

26/04/2016

58

1502

Impact of demand on staff satisfaction and retention

18/01/2017

49

1565

Collective responsibility for delivery of SE London STP control total

19/02/2019

24

1606

Bed management ‐ financial pressures

13/07/2017

43

1776

Section 136 of the MHA expiring and lack of available admission beds

18/01/2019

25

1844

Demand on CMHTs

31/12/2019

13

1877

Finance COVID‐19 risk

17/04/2020

10

1905

Prone restraint

21/09/2020

5

1912

Pressure on district nursing teams

24/09/2020

5

1913

Reducing wait times in community services

24/09/2020

5

1914

Local Authority contracts for integrated and embedded services

15/09/2020

5

1915

Service Delivery in Greenwich Health Visiting prior to transfer

29/09/2020

4

1921

Service delivery concerns

28/10/2020

3

1926

Impact of Covid‐19 on staffing levels and staffing pressures

10/11/2020

3

1939

Ligature risk management

08/12/2020

2

Back to contents

Commentary

Longevity of BAF risks in months

The length of time each risk has remain on the risk register ranges between six
years and one month.

1177
1213
1471
1502
1565
1606
1776
1844
1877
1905
1912
1913
1914
1915
1921
1926
1939

For those risks that have remained on the risk register for several years, the
concerns are on‐going, eg recruitment challenges and financial pressures. The
risk descriptions, controls and mitigations are regularly updated to reflect the
current position.
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26 February 2021

Board Assurance Framework: proportion of risks by committee as at:
Business

PQAC

Workforce

Infrastructure

Partnership

QII

Total

Low

Risk level

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Moderate

2

2

0

0

0

0

4

High

1

5

3

0

0

0

9

Significant

2

1

1

0

0

0

4

Total

5

8

4

0

0

0

17

Proportion of risks by committee

Workforce, 4, 24%

Back to contents

Low, 0, 0%

Proportion of risks by rating

Significant, 4, 24%

Business, 5, 29%

Moderate, 4, 23%

PQAC, 8, 47%
High, 9, 53%

Business Committee ‐ proportion of risks by rating

PQAC ‐ proportion of risks by rating

Low, 0, 0%

Significant, 2,
40%

Low, 0, 0%

Moderate, 2,
40%

Significant, 1,
13%

Workforce ‐ proportion of risks by rating
Significant, 1,
25%

Low, 0, 0% Moderate, 0, 0%

Moderate, 2,
25%

High, 3, 75%
High, 5, 62%
High, 1, 20%

Commentary
As at December 2020, the following committees do not hold any BAF risks:
Infrastructure Committee
Quality Improvement and Innovation Committee
Partnership Committee
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Board Assurance Framework: comparison of initial, target and current risk ratings 2020/21

Back to contents

Initial rating compared to actual rating

Initial rating when risk first opened
Target risk rating
Risk rating as at start of 2020/21

Target rating compared to actual rating

Risk rating at end of each quarter of 2020/21

Risk rating as at ….
ID

Summary risk description
Initial rating

Target rating

Cash releasing efficiencies 2019/20 and beyond

16

8

Start of
20/21
16

1213

Vacancies and recruitment pressures

12

3

12

12

12

12

1471

Staff experiencing discrimination at work

9

6

12

12

12

12

1177

End Q1
20/21
16

End Q2
20/21
16

End Q3
20/21
16

1502

Impact of demand on staff satisfaction and retention

9

8

9

9

9

12

1565

Collective responsibility for delivery of SE London STP control total

12

6

9

9

9

9

1606

Bed management ‐ financial pressures

16

4

12

12

12

12

1776

Section 136 of the MHA expiring and lack of available admission beds

8

4

12

12

12

9

1844

Demand on CMHTs

12

4

12

12

12

12

1877

Finance COVID‐19 risk

9

4

0

9

9

9

1905

Prone restraint

12

4

0

0

0

12

1912

Pressure on district nursing teams

9

2

0

0

0

9

1913

Reducing wait times in community services

16

1

0

0

0

16

1914

Local Authority contracts for integrated and embedded services

16

4

0

0

0

16

1915

Service Delivery in Greenwich Health Visiting prior to transfer

16

8

0

0

0

12

1921

Service delivery concerns

12

4

12

12

12

12

1926

Impact of Covid‐19 on staffing levels and staffing pressures

12

8

0

0

0

16

1939

Ligature risk management

12

4

0

0

0

12

208

82

106

115

115

208

Total risk score

End Q4
20/21

BAF live risks 2020/21
Initial, target and current risk ratings
250

200

150

100

50

0

Commentary
As at December 2020, the Q3 current rating positions reamins the same as the initial risk rating.

0
Initial rating
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Target rating

Start of 20/21

End Q1 20/21

End Q2 20/21

End Q3 20/21

End Q4 20/21
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Board of Directors
4 March 2021

5
-

Item
Enclosure

Report Title
Author
Accountable Director
Confidentiality/
FOI status

Chief Executive Report
Sally Bryden, Associate Director of Corporate Affairs/Trust Secretary
Matthew Trainer, Chief Executive
Public

Report Summary

The report summarises developments at Oxleas since the last board
meeting in January 2021.

Purpose
(To select purpose,
click on relevant
choice for drop down
box)
Recommendation
Link to strategic
objectives
(click on relevant
choice for drop
down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework
Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

Information

√

To Note

Approval

√

Decision

The Board notes the update.

Quality √

Workforce √

Sustainability √

Partnerships √

This links to risks relating to workforce.

Links to maintaining quality during the COVID-19 pandemic
Some adaptations in response to COVID-19 have led to increased costs
Actions aim to support colleagues from BAME communities more and
reduce health inequalities
Actions aim to support NHS colleagues and reduce health inequalities
Actions aim to support staff and service users and maintain as normal NHS
services as possible
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Oxleas Developments
Covid-19
Since the meeting in January, we have been monitoring the situation closely and have
maintained services despite pressures on staff. In light of these pressures, we sent surprise gift
boxes to all members of staff in early February which have been warmly welcomed. Our focus on
supporting staff well-being continues with discussion groups, access to well-being resources and
support networks. We are also starting to think to the post-lockdown future and ways of
supporting the continued resilience of colleagues when the initial crisis has passed.
Our staff vaccination programme began in mid-January and we are now setting up the
vaccination clinics to deliver a second dose to colleagues. We have also undertaken a vaccination
programme for patients on our wards in the relevant priority cohorts.
We have undertaken an extensive communications campaign to support vaccine uptake
including team briefing pack, screen savers, staff stories and debates, expert advice, social and
internal media. Oxleas services were featured in a Sky News report highlighting the impact of the
pandemic on mental health services and how we have responded.
Oxleas Shadow Executive
Our Shadow Executive is developing well and is already having an impact. It has been created to
bring fresh thinking to our senior decision-making and help colleagues from across the
organisation develop new skills. The current members of the Shadow Executive are:
•
Teayanna Barrett-Cheddie, Children’s Occupational Therapist, Bexley
•
Carly Bishop, Speech and Language Therapist for Adult Autistic Spectrum Disorders
•
Sukh Dogra, Quality Improvement Lead
•
Roshni Hemnani, Speech and Language Therapist, Greenwich
•
Isabelle Lensvelt, Clinical Psychologist, Greenwich CAMHS
•
Taf Marapara, Specialist Practitioner, HMP Swaleside
•
Sophia Nwadinobi, Community Psychiatric Nurse, Greenwich
•
Stephen Onamada, Business Intelligence Development Manager
•
Kelli Rush, Lived Experience Practitioner
•
Inke Schreiber, Clinical Psychologist, Bromley CAMHS
•
Jen Smith, Estates Administrator
•
Rachel Townsend, Organisational Development and Engagement Manager
Building a Fairer Oxleas
Work continues on a number of areas related to fairer recruitment and career progression and
improving cultural understanding including:
• Developing a film on microaggressions which will be used to encourage debate within the
organisation and improve cultural understanding;
• Discussing with the BAFO Action Plan Group ways to make recruitment fairer and developing
new guidance on recruiting to temporary posts;
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• Launching a Building a Fairer Oxleas pulse survey for staff to provide feedback every few
months on how it feels to them in terms of discussing race and equality issues with their
manager and in their teams;
• Continuing online wellbeing sessions for BAME staff. These provide a safe space to share
concerns or ask questions.
During February, two staff network events were held. A celebration of LGBT+ History month and
the Disability Action Network held a dyslexia conference.
Executive Team
Lawrence Mack took up his role as Director for Forensic and Prison Services in February and
Azara Mukhtar has been appointed as our Director of Finance.

System-wide developments
Health and Care Bill White Paper
Building on Integrating care Next steps to building strong and effective integrated care systems
across England published by NHS England/NHS Improvement, the Department of Health and
Social Care published on 11 February 2021 a new White Paper setting out legislative proposals
for a Health and Care Bill. The proposals aim to:
• promote working together to integrate care
• reduce bureaucracy
• improve accountability and enhance public confidence
• support social care, public health and quality and safety.
The White Paper is available at Working together to improve health and social care for all GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) and it is planned that the legislative proposals outlined in the paper will
begin to be implemented in 2022.
Discussions will take place within Oxleas and with partners to talk through the implications and
prepare for the future.
Reform of Mental Health Act
The Department of Health and Social Care has announced plans for major reform of the Mental
Health Act. The Reforming the Mental Health Act White Paper was published on 13 January 2021
and consultation on it is open until 21 April 2021.
The changes are based on four principles that have been developed with people with lived
experience of the Mental Health Act. They are:
• choice and autonomy – ensuring service users’ views and choices are respected
• least restriction – ensuring the MHA’s powers are used in the least restrictive way
• therapeutic benefit – ensuring patients are supported to get better, so they can be
discharged from the MHA
• the person as an individual – ensuring patients are viewed and treated as individuals
We will be considering the implications of the proposals with colleagues.
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Board Operational Performance Report and Integrated Performance Report
Iain Dimond - Chief Operating Officer/Karen Kennedy - Business Intelligence
and Performance
Accountable Director Iain Dimond, Chief Operating Officer
Confidentiality/
Public
FOI status
Report Summary

Operational Update
Adult Learning Disability
Bexley Care

Bromley

Children & Young People

Forensic & Prisons
Greenwich

Purpose
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choice for drop
down box)

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

COVID-19
Atlas House
Workforce
COVID-19
Adult Community Health Services
Adult Mental Health Services
Primary Care Plus
PRUH Mental Health Assessment Suite
Green Parks House refurbishment
Bromley Homeless Project
Perinatal Mental Health Service
COVID-19
CAMHS
Specialist Services
Universal Services
Procurement
Forensic services
Prisons
SLP Forensic Provider Collaborative
Adult Mental Health Services
Adult Community Health Services

Information
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Approval

Decison
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Recommendation
Link to strategic
objectives click on
relevant choice for
drop down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework
Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

The Board is asked to note the operational report.

Quality √

Workforce √

Sustainability √

Partnerships √

This relates to several risks on the assurance framework particularly relating
to service quality, waiting times and workforce.

The report outlines quality performance
There are several financial implications in the report
The report includes developments to improve equality of access
The report includes information on the impact of developments on staff and
service users.
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Board Operational Report March 2021
Adult Learning Disability
Actions in relation to Covid
The actions implemented in relation to Covid continue with a particular focus now on
vaccinations. The CTLDs are working with CCG colleagues to identify and action the best
ways to support the vaccination programme. Those at Atlas have already had the option of
receiving the vaccine with the majority, but not all, having had their initial vaccination dose.
The MCA is of course a significant consideration for those we work with and Best Interest
decisions have been worked through where appropriate.
Day services currently remain closed and this is due to be reviewed to see whether, with
appropriate mitigations to risks, they can now safely be reopened.
Atlas House Occupancy
There has been increased use of Atlas House with 8 beds currently occupied with a further
admission due prior to the end of February and 2 further potential admissions being
reviewed.

There are two discharges pending. Feedback remains positive on the outcomes attained.
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There is ongoing work to improve the environment for patients and staff, including new
door and wall wraps, improvements to the sensory room and staff room. Plans are being put
in place for improvements to the garden in the spring/summer.
ALD Workforce
A new ALD Lead OT is now in post after a notable vacancy period, as it initially proved a
challenge to fill. Lorian Mead starts with us this month bringing significant experience with
her and we very much look forward to her clinical leadership in this area. We have also
successfully recruited a number of other posts in the last 2 months with a reduction in our
vacancy rate to less than 8% and further posts appointed to and awaiting start dates. Staff
turnover has reduced over the last year
Feb-20

Mar-20

Apr-20

May-20

Jun-20

Jul-20

Aug-20

Sep-20

Oct-20

Nov-20

Dec-20

Jan-21

ALD

18.7

20.3

18.7

18.6

16.9

15.3

14.9

11.9

12.5

12.5

11.8

10.4

Trust

16.5

18

16

15.9

15.5

15.3

15.7

17.3

17.8

18.1

18.6

18.4

Sickness has also remained low; 2.21% for December and 2.24% for January. Staff have
shown a great willingness to support other services who unfortunately had higher sickness
levels.
3 staff went to the Nightingale in January, the SaLT and the Physiotherapist have since
returned but a member of the nursing staff remains there for the time being.
Day Service staff remain, for the most part, redeployed with staff working at Atlas, the PPE
hub, CLDT, Barefoot Lodge and Eltham Hospital. There has been positive feedback about the
work staff have undertaken in other services, with the transferable skills they have brought
being greatly valued. It has also been a great development opportunity for staff; one has
gone on to start a secondment in the JET team and all staff have enjoyed the opportunity to
work in new services and some with new client groups.
Bexley Care
Introduction
The third Covid19 peak had an impact on services over the Christmas and New Year period.
However, staff sickness has now reduced as have the number of positive patients on the
wards. In addition, the pressure on the three acute hospitals that Bexley supports has been
reduced but we have been working with them to ensure swift discharge of patients to both
community health and mental health teams.
Pressure is increasing on some community health teams, with referrals for diabetes and
cardiac teams seeing the highest rates of referrals in January on record. In addition, the
caseload for the respiratory service is increasing#, particularly around oxygen therapy. This
is the impact of the post-hospitalisation of COVID+ patients. Mental Health services have
seen an increase in referrals and/or acuity of patients. Mental Health team leads continue
three times a week meetings with teams to discuss and manage pressures.
We have been able to continue patient flow through the wards and although we had a short
period where Bexley patient’s usage of acute beds raised to over 70%, this is reducing, and
is currently averaging around 55%. The acuity of patients on the wards however is high.
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We are continuing to work on disestablishing the s75 for mental health between LBB and
the CCG by which social workers are seconded to Oxleas. This budget is planned to be
transferred back to the local authority from 1 April 2021. We continue to negotiate how this
transfer takes place and agree on how they will reimburse us for any costs incurred, as the
social workers will remain in integrated teams, and as such there are associated costs, as
well as staff employed directly by us but supporting social workers and their functions.
Finance are involved in these discussions. We are also working on the development of a
Bexley Care s75 which will cover the governance around the integration of physical health,
mental health and adult social care services, and the SPC triage and new matrix
management posts developed within the Bexley Care model. This will set out the joint
financial arrangements around these roles and allow staff from LBB and Oxleas to discharge
duties on behalf of the other organisation, and ensure accountability and responsibilities are
clear. This requires further work and so has been delayed as to when it will be discussed at
the Trust Executive and Board. It was hoped this would be March but now will be April Exec
and Partnership Committee.
Adult Community updates
Community activity
The District Nurses’ activity continues to remain high as previously reported with high
numbers of patients on the End of Life pathway, with 93 deaths reported in January 2020 as
opposed to an average usually of 50 to 55 a month. This unfortunately follows a similar
pattern of high number of deaths in the community during key points in the pandemic.
The number of referrals/activity undertaken in our Respiratory, Diabetes and Heart Failure
teams has seen an increase and is due to community support required for people
discharged from acute hospitals post-COVID.
AHP Waiting times
Waiting as at Feb-21 20 (Weeks)
Total

As at Sep 20

0-11

12-14

15-18

>18

>18 weeks

Community
SLT
136

73

2

7

54

55

Neuro

101

50

16

10

25

44

CHRT

201

101

30

25

45

7

Podiatry

95

62

7

1

21

30

Community SLT waiting times continue to grow and we have submitted a request for 3 SLTs
in the Home First business case.
Neuro continues to see a reduction in their waiting time and is due to the team being fully
staffed plus the introduction of virtual groups. The podiatry waits have also reduced this
month.
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The CHRT waiting list has seen a significant increase in referrals over the past month and is
due to post-COVID discharges requiring rehab plus community referrals where people have
taken some time to seek advice and support.
We have still not been able to recruit any staff through agency for the waiting list initiative.
Accelerator Bid
•

We are reporting a decrease in our 2-hour performance which is related to data
entry rather than performance. This is because we have redeployed staff from other
teams into Rapid to assist during the pandemic, and the data recording process
utilised is unique to Rapid; this was not identified as an issue until month end.

•

We continue to be unable to maximise remote working at Brook House as we are
unable to divert the QE phones. Estates are assisting us with this, and also looking at
relocation, but have advised there are internal estates costs we would need to pay if
a move took place.

Tier 4 Response and Pressure at Acute Hospitals
We are currently in the process of restarting our stepped down services of MSK, CHRT,
Cardiac Rehab, Lymphoedema and Continence.
Mental Health Services update
Memory Team
Jan-21

New referrals:

63

Diagnosis % within 6
weeks

0%

Feb
-20

Mar
-20

Apr
-20

May
-20

Jun
-20

Jul20

Aug
-20

Sep
-20

Oct
-20

Nov
-20

Dec
-20

Jan21

New Referrals

73

47

33

25

64

73

66

63

48

62

51

63

Discharges

65

42

37

35

36

45

64

48

78

73

53

82

571

59
9

601

616

586

575

573

554

195

22
7

240

253

224

244

241

237

155

15
2

137

139

132

122

128

121

Caseload
Waiting for
assessment
Waiting for
diagnosis

552
140
169

557
148
165

553
160
158

543
163
159

There continues to be a high number of patients waiting for assessment and diagnosis as
illustrated in the above table. During the summer the team began to address the backlog of
assessments due to the first lockdown. In the third lockdown the team have revised the
action plan to address the waiting list this includes:
•

All job plans have been updated allowing for work to be split between the backlog of
assessments and new assessment work.

•

OPD clinics running face to face or virtually and contact as per usual for these clinics.
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•

Patients on waiting lists are being contacted by the team to undertake a welfare
check.

•

Memory Team mangers are meeting with Business Office and Senior managers to
review data and discuss action plan.

WAA CMHT
The CMHT continue to work through the recommendations following the CQC inspection
this includes the following:
•

Care Plan audits are being done on an on-going basis and gaps in risk management
plans addressed with individual staff. iFox reports to monitor timely completion and
updating of risk assessments, care and crisis plans. Dr Okocha and Debbie Butler
have met with ICMP regarding introduction of DIALOG – this started on the 15
February 2021. CMHRES and EI teams are already using DIALOG.

•

CMHT Workshop is booked on 24 Feb 2021 (and quarterly follow up sessions) will
include standards on risk management, crisis and care plans.

•

A local Physical Health Strategy has been developed including reviewing depot and
Clozapine activity / interventions, physical health competencies for nursing staff and
the structured introduction of physical health clinics across all teams. The
introduction of well-being groups for patient across all teams.

•

Continued interface work with inpatients, acute and crisis services and AMHP
services to review admissions and safe discharge processes.

PCP
The number of referrals over the last quarter has averaged at 230 per month. There
continues to be no significant impact with the vacancies within the Triage Team. Adult
Safeguarding Alerts (MERLINS) continue to be managed within PCP. The team are meeting
on a regular basis with the Triage team to review Mental Health Work.
In December 2020 clients offered an appointment within the 14 day period dropped to 58%,
the PCP escalation plan was used to address this issue, and the figure is improving and was
65% in January 2021.The Business Office continues to meet with PCP to review data and
look for trends that may require action to avoid not offering an appointment within the 14
day target. The backlog of referrals has been cleared. The CMHT will be introducing a new
post (Bridging Nurse Practitioner) to support the PCP team working between PCP and ICMP,
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and in-reaching into Primary Care. The team remained fully functioning during the COVID
lockdown and the new restrictions within Tier 4.
ADAPT
The ADAPT team have experienced severe staffing shortages. Currently permanent
recruitment into Social Work posts has been suspended due to the Adult Social Care
Pathways change programme. It has been difficult to fill vacant posts with bank/ agency
staff. As a temporary measure, an agreement to allow the posts to be filled with nursing or
allied health professional bank staff has been agreed. We hope to be able to move forward
with recruitment in the new financial year.
Actions taken to reduce the waiting list:
•

Patients on the waiting list have been contacted by HCAs to carry out welfare checks.
Any concerns raised are managed through the Duty system. Staff liaise directly with
the ADAPT team manager to review calls.

•

Cases of concern are discussed and reviewed with the senior ADAPT staff.

•

In January, the waiting list rose to 98 patients; 70 of these patients required
allocation as their allocated worker had recently left the team. All patients have
been RAG rated in relation to priority of allocation, ensuring vigilance with the Green
cases. The current waiting list for allocation is 25.

•

Staffing issues are currently under review. Senior managers are liaising with and
highlighting the pressures due to social work vacancies. Contracts have been
extended to June 2021 for temporary staff. The Head of Social Care has agreed to
nursing bank/ agency staff covering vacancies until permanent recruitment for staff
can begin. Current staffing vacancies in ADAPT are 4 Social Workers and 1 CPN. The
nursing post has been recruited into and is due to start once HR processes are
completed.
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72 Hour Breaches

Reported

Safe - People are protected
from ……

Monthly

7 Day Post-discharge Follow>95% 100.0% 96.3% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 83.3%
up Compliance

Monthly

CQUIN- 72 Hour follow up
from discharge

>95% 88.1% 87.0% 95.2% 84.4% 82.5%

76.5%

Monthly

72 Hour follow up from
discharge (Self Harm)

100% 91.3% 92.2% 100.0% 88.9% 91.7%

66.7%

Target

Q1
Q2
JanOct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20
20/21 20/21
21

There have been several 72hour breaches over the past few months. The Crisis Line
manager has implemented the following to address the breaches:
The Team Manager has discussed with ward managers at the Woodlands Team managers
meeting, and reminded all of their responsibilities in the 72 hour process. In relation to
Bromley and Greenwich, the team manager will touch base with Greenwich and Bromley
managers to discuss the issue and find the most appropriate forum to discuss with team
managers the correct process.
There appears to be an issue regarding incorrect mobile / landline phone details for service
users. HTT and Crisis Line Team Managers are discussing / reviewing with the Mental Health
liaison Teams to ensure they are capturing the correct details at the point of contact. This is
being discussed with the ward teams to ensure details are checked at the point of discharge
from the ward. The managers are reviewing 72 hr contacts weekly and highlighting any
possible breaches with the business office. In relation to Older People, the CMHT
Operational manager has reviewed the OPCMHT and IHTT to ensure patients receive a 72
hour follow up and/or a 7 day follow up.
Bromley
Bromley Primary Care Plus (PCP)
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Average Wait (days) for Triage Appointment - PCP

25
20
15
10
5
0

Jan '20 Feb '20 Mar '20 Apr '20 May Jun '20 Jul '20 Aug '20 Sep'20 Oct '20 Nov '20 Dec-20 Jan-21
'20
Average wait for triage appointment

Target
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The DMT has implemented a Task Force structure and with the successful interface of the
Directorate Business Office and the PCP Team Management and Administrators Bromley
PCP has now resolved the previous systemic issues and performance has now remained
consistently within target for four months.
The current average wait time for February has improved to 10.84 days. Some staff leave
and sickness has impacted on this.
We are currently recruiting to the Team Management post.
Given the success of the measures the decision has been made to step down from Task
Force special measures management and to continue with close monitoring under the usual
governance process at this time.
Mental Health Assessment Unit (MHAU)
Bromley Directorate is working with Kings’ to develop a Mental Health Assessment space at
the PRUH site. The MHAU will be based within a purpose built portacabin on the PRUH
footprint. The unit will be under Kings’ responsibility but will be clinically managed by Oxleas
staff working as part of the Mental Health Liaison Team. The unit will provide a dedicated
MH space within the PRUH’s services working in conjunction with the PRUH ED.
The Operational Policy is in the final draft. It is expected that the unit will be operational by
April / May 2021.
The staffing resource commitment across Kings’ and Oxleas has yet to be agreed.
Green Parks House – Refurbishment works
After a long lead-in period, works have now started on refurbishment / restructure of GPH
Adult Mental Health Wards. This will include the improvement of communal space on the
wards by opening up the patient dining area, providing an open plan space with better
lighting and air flow. This will address not only space requirements for patients but also
improve the temperature of the environment during the summer months.
Bromley Homeless Project
We were invited to be part of a new initiative this year to provide a health clinic on a
Thursday evening to the men using the Bromley Homeless service. Alongside Bromley GP
alliance, Bromley Healthcare and Bromley Drug and alcohol service, Oxleas provides Mental
health assessments and advice. The clinic operates on a Thursday evening and runs from
November to March and we have staffed it with a rota of willing clinicians predominantly
from our Early Intervention Team. This year has been very different for the Homeless
project who operate from the URC Church in central Bromley, as the men using the service
have been accommodate in local hotels due to COVID, where they would normally be
accommodated in the church building. This has meant attendance at the clinic has been
lower than we would typically expect, the men are encouraged to attend for a hot meal and
health support but uptake is variable. The men that have been seen by our Mental Health
clinicians have often come back the following week for further contact and despite the small
numbers the perception has been very positive. We have some work to do with the
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homeless project workers about how to reduce the stigma around Mental Health in
preparation for next year.
Very positively we have supported the GP alliance with conversations about keeping safe
during COVID and attendees have had the opportunity to access both flu vaccination and
COVID vaccination.
Perinatal Services Update
Successes:
•
•

•
•
•

Access rates in excess of 4.5% across all 3 boroughs
Implementation of a new Assessment Clinic; this has helped manage referrals across
the service, referrals are now responded to within 2 working days (rather than 7
days previously) and assessments offered within 7-10 working days (rather than
commissioned the 28 days)
On-going BAME project was presented at the PQN National forum
Successful completion of a QI project (despite COVID limitations)
Adaptation of the service due to COVID:
• Video consultations & feedback regarding this
• Online group intervention; such as peer support, managing family lives group
• Flexibility around the consultation medium for women

Challenges:
•
•
•

Recruitment into clinical roles to enable service to deliver LTP target of 7.1%. 3 Band
6 Nurse vacancies (all appointed due to start around Apr/May), 1.00wte Band 7
Psychologist (advertised twice), 1.00wte Social worker vacancy (advertised twice).
Underinvestment in service may pose a risk in the service’s ability to deliver all the
areas of the LTP ambitions.
Expected COVID challenges in relation to face to face contact with service users
especially around risk management of safeguarding concerns when reported to the
local authority.
Access target
4.5% (2018-2020)
20/21 targets 7.1%
(Partial LTP funding received in
Nov 20)
21/22 (from April 21)
8.4%
22/23
10%

Yearly
493 Assessments
777 Assessments

Monthly Average
41 Assessment
65 Assessments

941 Assessment

78 Assessment

1094 Assessments

91 Assessments

(Total birth rate: 10941 across Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich)
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July 2020 to January 2021 Assessments
Referrals seen
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0
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Referral Seen

43

29

47

45

45

37

55

Target difference
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Children and Young People
Covid 19 Operational Issues – Schools
School closures continue to impact on service delivery. Main areas of concern are the
challenges to deliver EHC quantification; further delays in service mobilisation for Young
Greenwich and the Hearing and Vision Programme roll out. For CAMHS the Mental Health
in Schools teams roll out in Bexley and the wider schools service in Greenwich will continue
to be impacted as will early intervention provision across all schools.
CAMHS
Service Demand
There has been an increase in crisis presentations across all boroughs. December 2020 saw
a 54% increase in crisis presentations from Dec 2019 (Bexley 22%, Bromley 16 % and
Greenwich 8 %). The increase is having an impact on the ability to continue with routine
assessment work. Winter pressures funding has been used to increase capacity in
December and January – additional resources will continue until end of March. A business
case is being prepared for the SLP to apply for recurrent funding into Crisis services.
Greenwich Adolescent team are experiencing a surge in demand, business continuity plans
are underway to support the urgent pathway.
CAMHS Improvement Group (CIG)
Work progressing well to support clear identification of waits, risks and demands. Scoping
completed and now engagement/implementation plans underway. Data and informatics
work set to be completed end of March and the MH System Improvement Tool (SIG)
completed. An action plan is in place and will be implemented across all 3 boroughs. NHSI/E
are supporting the work and meetings are underway. Work is directly linked to the CIG and
action planning will be reflective of the CYP MH SIT self-rating.
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The following charts show an increase in numbers waiting but an increase in those waiting
less than 18 weeks

Increase in referrals from Sept to November is a usual pattern but 20/21 reflects a 7%
increase on the same time period in 19/20. In addition caseloads have grown by 13%
SLP/SEL 7 Borough
•
•
•
•

SEL 7 borough workstream on hold due to COVID
SLP - increase in demand for beds, however no change to threshold, resulting in
greater risk support packages being required by adolescent teams
Eating Disorders pathway – not accepting ‘routine’ cases which has impacted on
local borough capacity. Discussions for managing this are underway across SLP,
between ED and CAMHS leads
HLP crisis care review on hold due to COVID.

Benchmarking
We are working with the NHS National Benchmarking Team to complete borough based
analyses and specific benchmarking across similar and neighbouring boroughs. Work is
planned to be completed by the end of April.
Specialist Services
Waiting Lists – ASD/ADHD
Actions plans have been agreed to reduce waiting lists – the following charts show the
projected impact. Original projections for the impact of the additional resources were
prepared at beginning of January and were based on average referrals and change to
capacity for assessments. The adjusted position is based on the actual assessments and
referrals received in February and then re-projected across the year. This will be updated
monthly to show progress against original plan.
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Action Plan to address waits
•

•
•
•
•
•

Increased ASD core commissioned capacity by 96 assessments per month in
Greenwich and 32 per month in Bexley. Increase Greenwich ADHD capacity by 28
assessments per month – additional agency and fixed term staff x 4
Increased workforce now recruited in Greenwich
Review progress monthly in DMT
Continue to explore other options for delivery
For Greenwich continue to raise demand issues with commissioners
Review use of QbTech to increase underlying capacity in ADHD in Greenwich

Community Paediatrics
Nationally there are difficulties recruiting into Community Paediatrics which has resulted in
Oxleas offering a premium to doctors starting over the past three years and staying for two
years. Recently we have found that local providers are approaching our staff and offering
additional incentives. The most recent approach was made to two doctors within
Greenwich - it’s likely this will continue if we are unable to offer developmental
opportunities and prepare for future retirements within our Consultant establishment.
Options are being developed by Dr Ify Okocha - Medical Director and Responsible Officer
and Dr Sabitha Sridhar - Clinical Director CYP together with the Clinical leads from both
Paediatric Teams to agree a structure that will support development and ensure staff
retention .
This will be subject to the finances available and consideration of the risk of vacant posts
and using agency which in previous years has caused a £200,000 overspend and poses
increased clinical risk.
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Universal services
Universal services: Greenwich Health Visiting
The team continue to work to the Business Continuity Plan with 72.6 % of Health Visitors in
post. To support the service the following actions have been undertaken:
•
•
•

The CCNT will be undertaking Blood Spot Screening for the team from the 8 February
2021 – this will reduce the requirements for 4 home visits a week, enabling the team
to focus on New Birth Visits and targeted 6-8 week follow ups
The Head of Service is covering Maternity Matters referrals, currently at 50-60
monthly, to support allocation and reduce demand on the operational leads
1.0 WTE additional agency member of staff being sought

Following a number of serious incidents within Greenwich and the associated investigative
work there has been a further impact on capacity. To help manage the transition to the
new provider, Operational Leads are supporting staff, who in turn are receiving additional
1:1 support from the Head of Nursing.
Start Well Trust (SWT)
SWT are proceeding with their mobilisation in preparation for transfer on 1st April 2021.
Information sharing meetings have been held remotely. The staff consultation for transfer
to Start Well commenced on the 8 February 2021 and will close on the 12 March 2021
Young Greenwich
Mobilisation of the service continues. Discussions are taking place with regard to supporting
an Easter programme. Underspend from delays to service delivery will be reinvested into
the service next year.
Immunisations in schools
The direction from NHS England is that school aged immunisations should continue. The
pandemic has presented many challenges in relation to numbers that can be seen safely in
venues. This, plus staff self–isolation, school closures and schools when open not wanting
external visitors, have all had an impact on coverage. The Immunisation Team is currently
offering the school age vaccination programmes through community clinics due to the
current impact of lockdown on school sessions. The team have achieved excellent coverage
within some of the programmes and less favourable coverage in others – it’s likely that this
will be the picture nationally.
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Forensic and Prisons
New permanent Director Role – Lawrence Mack commenced 15th February 2021
Procurement
Gatwick IRC has been submitted (11/2/21). This was a really short turnaround with a
contract start date of 1st September 2021. Most procurement timelines have slipped but this
one remained, this is probably due to the incumbent healthcare provider (G4S) withdrawing
from the contract. Gatwick is a single lot value circa £2.9 million. We submitted a bid based
on some established partnerships CGL and NHS Dentists, this is however a new partnership
with DrPA who are currently delivering GP sessions in Gatwick. DrPA approached Oxleas as a
potential partner and have worked closely with us throughout, providing detail and
intelligence to our bid submission. This was a very big piece of work with 29 questions
(30,000 words) not much less than much larger contracts and this was a real challenge with
the short turnaround with Christmas and Covid19 second wave too. We had the support of
a bid reviewer which was very useful. We should hear the outcome in May 2021.
The Kent prisons procurement is currently underway with a further extended deadline 15th
April 2021 as a result of Covid second wave. This is a prime provider model in 2 lots Sheppey
being Lot 1 circa £16 million and West Kent being Lot 2 Circa £6 million. Pharmacy is
excluded and will be procured within the next 6 months separately and Cookham Wood will
be procured with Thames Valley Prisons commencing no sooner than summer 2021. A Kent
bid team has already been working on this ITT. First draft questions have recently been
circulated to the first reviewers for comment and feedback. There are 58 questions in total.
We have secured the support of an experienced bid reviewer (compliance etc.) Helen
Bradburn, who has also recently supported us on the Gatwick IRC bid. Our finance business
partners have been working with the bid team to pull together financial template with TUPE
detail and other non-pay costs – this has been slow due to inaccurate and missing TUPE
information and delays in responding to the clarification questions. All teams are reviewing
their staffing structure against the service specification and TUPE detail.
Other procurements - there is likely to be a flurry of procurement activity during 2021 and
2022, partly due to commissioners looking to procure prime provider models (so one large
contract instead of a number of smaller contracts) and partly due to commissioning round
becoming due or overdue as a result of Covid. London Commissioners are considering not
re-procuring in a cycle in the future and leaving current business with the existing providers,
Oxleas currently have 4 of the 8 London Prisons. If other commissioning areas follow suit the
next procurements may be the last chance to increase any prisons business for the
foreseeable future. The likely procurements in 2021/22 are:•
•
•

•

Surrey Prisons x 5
Thames Valley Prisons x 6 (including Cookham Wood)
London (if they continue with procurements)
o Pentonville & Wormwood Scrubs
o Greenwich (Belmarsh, Isis, Thameside)
o Heathrow IRC
South West x 11 prisons
o Bristol Area x 4 (Bristol, Ashfield, Earlstoke and Leyhill)
o Eastwood Park – Women’s Prison
o Dorset x 3 (Guys March, Portland, The Verne)
o Devon Prisons x 3 (Exeter, Channings Wood and Dartmoor)
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Forensics
Heath ward reopened in January and is steadily increasing the patient numbers; these will
be men with complex needs.
The TILT service at Goldie Leigh is due for re-tender in April 2021.
Following a number of outbreaks in Forensic wards, staffing and patient numbers with a
positive diagnosis of COVID 19 have been steadily declining in recent weeks and all wards
have an improved staffing position.
We have begun to vaccinate patients in line with community priority groups
Prisons
All prisons have been operating at Level 4 – meaning emergency only, due to Covid 19
restrictions and reduced prison regimes. As with elsewhere, prisons are reporting steadily
reducing numbers of Covid 19+ patients, with each prison experiencing at least one
outbreak since Christmas although most have very low numbers currently. Wandsworth had
the most recent outbreak, rising to about 70 cases at one point but this had reduced
significantly at the time of writing.
We have begun to vaccinate patients in line with community priority groups.
SLP
As new Provider Collaboratives (PCs) go live in April 2021, it is likely we will have to agree
new contracts PC to PC and lose some of the previously agreed sub-contracts which will fall
within other PC’s contracting areas.
Contract reviews will commence at the end of March 2021 for Quarter 3 with all partners
and subcontractors within the SLP geographical patch (Oxleas, SLaM and SWLSG) plus InMind and Cygnet Blackheath.
Heath has reopened to men and this will have a positive impact on out of area placements,
bringing back into area some complex men from independent sector placements.
A review of the LD/ASD patients has found that all SLP patients are being treated out of area
in both North London PC and many independent sector placement nationally (circa 50
patients). Oxleas are looking to review opportunities for providing additional capacity to
treat SLP patients more locally early in 2021.
SI’s and DICs
Due to Covid 19, in 2020 and into 2021 we have experienced delays in coroners’ hearings,
the outstanding numbers of coroners’ hearings is now circa 30. Recent coroners’ hearings
have been managed via MS Teams/Zoom and a room was set up at the Bracton Centre for
this purpose although due to poor internet connectivity this presented social distancing
problems and needs reviewing for future coroners’ courts. The directorate are also
considering additional resources to manage all the cases.
Since December, there have been 5 deaths: 4 in prisons and 1 in Forensics (2 self-inflicted, 1
Covid related, 1 natural causes and 1 unknown currently) plus 1 serious self-harm incident
and 1 assault against staff (Bracton)
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Greenwich
Mental Health Services
Patient Flow & Discharge Support
Whilst our adult inpatient wards remain busy at Oxleas House, we have seen a change in
occupied bed days versus commissioned bed days for adult mental health which have
maintained 95% or less for the last 3 months. We have also seen a 4% decrease in out of
area placements and our average length of stay has reduced by 25% from 16 days in
December 2020 to 12 days in January 21 for Shrewsbury and Avery Wards.
While it is too early to say what has had the biggest impact on this change or whether it can
be consistently maintained without further changes to our recovery plan, our managers
have focused their attention on supporting the bi weekly bed management meetings
attended by both community and inpatient staff. Admission diversion is discussed in daily
community huddles and a member of staff has been tasked with a discharge co-ordination
role to oversee discharges from the wards. There has been improved communication with
the patient flow team and a member of staff has been tasked with monitoring patients in
UEA beds and supporting move plans. Hestia recently opened a five bedded Crisis House to
provide an alternative to admission, with a maximum stay of 72 hours.
We are also working up in more detail our Hospital to Home (with MIND and lived
experience practitioners) and Bridge Back Home (Bridge) in-reach work into inpatient
services. Bridge support workers will work with ward staff and, if the client has one, their
care coordinators to resolve community issues which prevent/hold up discharge e.g.
arranging for a boiler to be repaired, arranging a deep clean, accompanying the patient
home for practical reasons e.g. a repair, or providing on-going support to help the patient
settle back home after an inpatient stay including signposting/referral to other community
services that will benefit the patient’s health and wellbeing.
Greenwich CMHT Service Development Plan
The Directorate has put together a development plan which is overseen by the members of
the Directorate Management Team and Deputy Medical Director on a weekly basis and
supported by the service improvement lead. The plan includes 7 overarching goals that
focus on practice, staff recruitment and retention, safety and embedding learning from
serious incidents into practice.
Goal 1: The community teams will recruit new staff to be able to reduce caseloads to 25 per
care coordinator/heath care professional.
Goal 2: Through implementation of the workload weighting tool the community teams will
identify clients who can be safely discharged from the service. The use of the acuity tool will
identify will identify clients who are inaccurately zoned.
Goal 3: Through a comprehensive caseload review the community teams will identify clients
who can be safely discharged to primary care. The discharge facilitators in the ADAPT teams
will work with identified clients to support them in this process. This review will provide
evidence to the directorate that caseloads are being safely managed within the community.
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Goal 4: A review of how contacts are made will be undertaken, this will ensure that contacts
are targeted and relate to the care plan and client need. A DNA protocol will be developed
that relates to zoning. This will be added to teams operational policies.
Goal 5: The ADAPT teams will use DIALOG+, this will ensure that care plans and contacts are
directly based on these needs
Goal 5A: Risk assessments, Zoning and DIALOG+ are used in such a way that they all relate
to each other, that client’ needs and safety are central to care and that there is a clear
linkage between all of them.
Goal 6: All incidents that occur in the trust are discussed; recommendations are adopted to
ensure that the service learns from incidents and improves the quality of the care it
provides.
Goal 7: The physical health of clients who attend the Depot/Clozapine clinics or are on any
psychotropic medication is prioritised by the community teams.
Memory Service
Our current performance is 16 weeks to first appointment with the target being within 12
weeks. On average, during the pandemic, it is has been around 13 weeks. Many of the
patients who would have been referred were advised to self-isolate and also many have not
been seeing their GP thus reducing referral numbers. Appointments have been gradually
been reopened and the team have been using virtual clinics where appropriate to assist this.
Staff vacancies have been a challenge including some previously unsuccessful campaigns to
attract psychologists in to the team, although one psychologist has just started. We are also
interviewing for the manager’s post on 3 March.
Weeks waiting

Adult Community Services
We continue to focus on supporting acute providers with discharges, and are seeing an
increase in referrals across some teams that previously were not impacted significantly
during wave 1 of the pandemic.
Diabetes Activity: Referrals from January 2020 to January 2021
•

The number of referrals to the Diabetic team decreased during the start of Covid-19
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•
•

Referrals in June 20 – January 21 were 35% above the pre-March20 average.
In January there were 130 referrals which is the highest number in the last 2 years, an
increase by 69% over that time.

Diabetes Caseload: From January 2020 to January 2021
•
•
•

The number of patients on the caseload to Diabetes teams increased since the start of
Covid-19
Pre-Covid-19 average for ‘Diabetes Consultant’ has stayed consistent.
Pre-Covid-19 average for ‘Diabetes Team’ has increased by 73%

Update on District Nursing Referrals
The number of referrals to DN teams has continued to remain above precovid levels and
during second wave increased by 46% above the pre Covid-19 average. Mitigations remain
in place to manage this including the use of additional bank and agency staff.

53

At Eltham Community Hospital we remain as the COVID+ pathway from local acute trusts,
although the number of positive patients is reducing. However, we are seeing an increase in
more complex frail patients, especially patients requiring the assistance of two members of
staff to carry out activity of daily living tasks and therapy and end of life care. Greenwich
and Bexley Hospice have offered to provide additional support and we have recently
recruited a Practice Development Nurse focused on physical health care and an end of life
senior nurse, both of who will be able to provide additional support.
During the last two months we, particularly our COPD Team, have been working to develop
the ‘Covid Virtual Ward’ with Queen Elizabeth Hospital and Greenbrooks to enable more
patients to return to their home setting.
For the majority of last year MSK services were not open, and staff were redeployed across
teams, but we have recently, in collaboration with Circle, began accepting referrals again,
starting with 18 a week.
We have two commissioning issues that we are working to resolve in adult community
services: firstly we are in discussion about a pilot project to introduce a referral assessment
service (RAS) for our CASH services. This would enable us to support pathways where it is
not always clear what intervention is required and triaging is completed incorrectly.
Secondly, we are reviewing an existing service line agreement (SLA) between ourselves and
Royal Borough of Greenwich and CCG on the funding of posts in our reablement team. This
piece of work also links with the Greenwich and Bexley ‘Home First’ Model and the
additional resources required.
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Operational Performance Dashboard
Operational Delivery Update
05 February
Operational WE
Delivery
Update 2021
Friday 10th April 2020

For further information please contact Informatics
Oxl-tr.informatics@nhs.net
1

A total of 110 staff across the Trust were absent due to Covid 19 as at 5th February (down from 127 last week). 52 as a result of a positive test and 17 post isolation sickness.
In addition, with the roll out of the vaccination, 1 member of staff was absent due to sickness linked to the vaccination.
Source: ESR and Q&A
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Staffing Trust-wide Position as at WE 5th February 2021
Trust Level Absence Data
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Covid 19 - Inpatient Testing
Patients as at WE 5th February 2021

Directorate
Bexley

Number of
patients Tested
Positive
(Cumulative)

Bromley

Number of patients
currently Covid-19
Positive on the ward
(05/02/2021)
Manual Data

Number of patients
swabbed waiting Number of Patients Number of Deaths
for results (as at
who Tested Positive on Wards (as at
05/02/2021
in Last week
05/02/2021)

Number of patients
currently Covid-19
Positive on the ward
(05/02/2021)
RIO Data

66

28

12

0

8

8

54

1

19

0

19

19

108

24

25

0

20

20

49

4

2

0

0

0

277

57

58

0

47

47

Greenwich
Forensics
Total

The number of patients testing positive during January had been going down but numbers starting increasing again last week. There are
currently 44 positive inpatients as at 08/02/2021 (up from 27 last week).

Source: Daily Sitrep and Q&A
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Covid-19 Dashboard – PPE Risks
As of WE 05th February 2021
Central PPE Stockholding Risk Ratings

3M 1873 FFP3 Face Masks

Reasonable stock level given the past three
months supply/demand figures.

3M 9330+ FFP3 Face Masks

Good stock levels currently with no foreseen
supply demand issues.

FFP3 HY 9632 Mask with Valve

Large stock levels with no foreseen
supply/demand issues currently.

Gloves XL

Sufficient volume currently in stock

Gloves L

Sufficient volume currently in stock

Gloves M

High volume currently in stock

Gloves S

High volume currently in stock

Gowns

Sufficient volume of stock available in both
non sterile and sterile with no foreseen
supply/demand issues currently.

Aprons

High volume currently in stock

Hand Sanitiser

High volumes of this item, in selected sizes

Goggles

Sufficient volume currently in stock

Face Visors

High Volume currently in Stock

Clinical Waste Bags

High Volume currently in Stock

Swabs

Sufficient quantity of swabs are available for
PCR testing.

Universal Wipes

Very High Volume currently in Stock

Source: Emergency Planning
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Bed Availability & Testing by Ward As at WE 7th February 2021
Directorate

Bexley

Bromley

Greenwich

Forensic

Total

Ward Size
(number of beds)

Total number of patients on the ward
EXC LEAVE

% Occupancy

Available Beds EXC LEAVE

Number of patients currently Covid19 positive and on the ward

WardCode

Ward

BFH

Barefoot Lodge

15

11

73%

4

1

HOL

Holbrook

13

13

100%

0

0

LES

Lesney

20

19

95%

1

1

MK

Miilbrook

20

19

95%

1

0

MEAD

Meadowview

30

22

73%

8

7

AV2

Betts

0

0

0%

0

0

AV1

Goddington

16

16

100%

0

0

ME2

Norman

17

13

76%

4

8

ELD

Scadbury

22

15

68%

7

9

ATLHSE

Atlas House

11

8

73%

3

0
0

GC

Maryon

0

0

0%

0

GD

Shrewsbury

20

21

105%

0

0

GE

Avery

20

20

100%

0

0

PRO

Oaktree Lodge

17

13

76%

4

6

tarn

The Tarn

16

14

88%

2

0

GR01

Shepherdsleas

19

15

79%

4

0

GICU

Eltham Community Health

40

28

70%

12

12

BIR

Birchwood

12

10

83%

2

0

BG

Burgess

17

15

88%

2

0

CN

Crofton

18

19

106%

0

0

DN

Danson

17

15

88%

2

0

GRW

Greenwood

16

15

94%

1

0

HAZ

Hazelwood

15

11

73%

4

0
0

HC

Heath

16

2

13%

14

FJOY

Joydens

14

10

71%

4

0

421

344

82%

79

44

Avery, Goddington and Holbrook Wards are
not accepting any admissions at this time.
Therefore their Bed Availability is reflected as
100% against their Bed Occupancy.
Maryon remains closed. Betts has closed due
to refurbishment.
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Out of Area Bed Usage as at WE 5th February 2021
Out of Area Placements as of We 5th February 2021
Female
Picu

Bexley
Bromley
Greenwich
Other *
Total

Male
Picu
0
1
3
0
4

Female
Acute
1
0
2
1
4

Male
Acute
0
1
2
0
3

1
0
2
1
4

Source: Bed Management
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Ward Admissions & Discharges as at WE 5th February 2021

Looking at the 7 day rolling average we can see that, despite a spike in discharges at the start of the pandemic, the average daily admissions and discharges has dropped for
Mental Health wards but has actually increased slightly in our Community Health Wards. Data for the last two weeks suggests this pattern is starting to change which we can
analyse further next month.
Source: Rio Data
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Referral Data as at WE 5th February 2021
Mental Health Referrals

Community Health Referrals

Using a 7 day rolling average we can see that the average number of referrals received has dropped during the pandemic while the gap between the number of those
referrals accepted by the teams has narrowed suggesting that while the number of referrals has reduced the appropriateness of them has improved.
Source: RIO Data Please note there can be a time lag for when a referral is accepted
8
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Time from Referral to 1st Appointment as at WE 5th February 2021

Source: RIO Data
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Contact Types as at WE 7th February 2021

IAPT Contact Type
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

Feb

March

April
Telephone

May

June
Video call

Jul

Aug

Silvercloud

Sept
Other

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Face to Face

The consultation medium options in Rio were amended on 7 May to consolidate the options available to staff. The field is also now compulsory to ensure we collect richer data
on how appointments are being delivered. Other includes SMS and email. Silvercloud is an online self-help package with a therapist who communicates via messaging with
the client for the course of the treatment. There is has been a marked decline in Face to Face contacts across the Trust but IAPT have ceased all face to face contact since
lockdown and are using other mediums to meet with clients particularly phone and video calls.

Source: RIO Data
10

64

Contact Types as at WE 7th February 2021

Source: RIO Data
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Cancelled Appointments – as at WE 7th February 2021

The % change measures the change from 16th February 2020 to end of 7th February 2021

Source: RIO Data
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Referral to Treatment as at WE 5th February 2021

Source: RIO Data
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Attend Anywhere Data as at WE 5th February 2021
Attend Anywhere Data
2500
2000
1500
1000
500
0

April

May

June

July

Aug

No. of Clinicians who ran a video consultation

Sept

October November December January

No. of Consultation Hours

Februaru

No. of Consultations

During January 270 clinicians ran over 2300 video consultations. February is on track to match that
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Formal and In-Formal in-patients as at WE 7th February 2021
Adult Acute Wards

Data as at 07/02/2021 Source RIO
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Formal and In-Formal in-patients as at as at WE 7th February 2021
OPMH Acute

Holbrook

Barefoot Lodge

Data as at 07/02/2021 Source RIO
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Decisions made by Covid-19 Incident Co-ordination Centre (ICC)
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National, Regional and Local Guidance and Alerts week ending 05/02/2021
National, Regional and Local Guidance Notes and Alerts
Email – preparation and planning of second dose COVID vaccinations
Reminder: process for offering vaccine to cohorts 3 and 4
Framework for commissioner oversight visits to inpatients and COVID 19 Addendum 2
Update Needles and syringes procured for the COVID-19 vaccination programme
Group B Strep testing in pregnancy
Interim Clinical commissioning Policy: Tocilizumab for hospitalised patients with COVID-19 pneumonia (adults)
Interim Clinical commissioning Policy: Sarilumab for hospitalised patients with COVID-19 pneumonia (adults)
Update re keyworkers and South African Variant
Radiometer blood gas consumables
Updated Guidance expiry of Cabinet Office procurement policy notes PPN02/20 and PPN 04/20 and updated guidance on use of PPN01/20
Primary Medical Care Policy and Guidance Manual (PGM) (v3)
Primary Medical Care Policy and Guidance Manual (PGM) refresh
COVID-19 guidance and standard operating procedure for the provision of urgent dental care in primary care settings and designated urgent dental care
provider sites
Standard operating procedure Transition to recovery

18
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Board of Directors
4 March 2021

Item
Enclosure

7
7

Report Title
Author
Accountable Director
Confidentiality/
FOI status

Oxleas Strategy 2021 – 2024 - update
Rachel Clare Evans, Director of Strategy and People,
Matthew Trainer, Chief Executive
N/A

Report Summary

Oxleas undertook a large-scale engagement exercise entitled ‘Our Next
Step’, starting in November 2019. The plan was to gather the views of staff,
stakeholders, service users and local communities about the direction of
travel for Oxleas. More than a 1000 members of staff and several hundred
service users and stakeholders contributed rich and insightful feedback.
The conclusion of this work was disrupted by the pandemic. Events planned
for March and April to conclude the work and build on the feedback
received were not able to go ahead. It also became clear that the pandemic
could have an enduring effect on the nature of the services we provide, our
ways of working and both the local and the national landscape. It was
important that we take stock to understand more about this before
agreeing our priorities for the next few years.
The emerging strategy has been discussed at a number of Board meetings,
Council of Governor meetings, Executive meetings and Board strategy
meetings over the last 8 months. The three big priorities were agreed
through a detailed engagement process with the Executive team,
considering the outputs from the Our Next Step work and the surveys on
staff and service user experiences during the pandemic, and at subsequent
meetings with the Board and the Council of Governors. Detailed
engagement with staff also underpinned the work to build new values and
behaviours for Oxleas, together with our focus on ‘Building a Fairer Oxleas’.
The attached document sets out the high-level strategy narrative for 2021 –
2024. Once finalised, it will be supplemented with a clear action plan and
key performance indicators for each of the priorities and the building
blocks. These KPIs will be kept under regular review at the Board.
The document will be built into a visually attractive document that contains
input from our service users and our Shadow Executive, as well as
information about Quality Improvement projects and photographs of our
staff recognition awards and more. We will be developing a short version
for sharing with staff that will be supplemented by a short video or
animation.
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Purpose
(To select purpose,
click on relevant
choice for drop down
box)
Recommendation
Link to strategic
objectives
(click on relevant
choice for drop
down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework
Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

Information
Approval

To Note
√

Decision

The Board agrees the high-level strategy for 2021 – 2024 and any changes
that are required.
Quality √

Workforce √

Sustainability √

Partnerships √

The strategy document straddles all aspects of Oxleas work.

An agreed strategy, with a clear focus on zero delays, great out-of-hospital
care, quality management and service equalities, will directly support the
quality of services we provide.
The strategy highlights the financial position and the measures needed for
Oxleas to be financially sustainable.
The impact on service users and on staff, and on different protected groups,
is directly addressed by the strategy.
The strategy highlights a comprehensive approach towards service user and
carer involvement and co-production as well as the engagement of staff.
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OXLEAS STRATEGY 2021 – 2024
1. About Oxleas
Oxleas offers a wide range of NHS healthcare services to people living in South East London and to
people in prison. Our services include community health care such as district nursing and speech
and language therapy, care for people with learning disabilities and mental health care such as
psychiatry, nursing and therapies. Our multidisciplinary teams look after people of all ages and we
work in close partnership with other parts of the NHS, local councils and the voluntary sector and
through our new provider collaboratives.
Our 4,000 members of staff work in many different settings including hospitals, clinics, prisons,
children’s centres, schools and people’s homes. We manage hospital sites including Queen Mary’s
Hospital, Sidcup and Memorial Hospital in Woolwich as well as the Bracton Centre, our medium
secure unit for people with mental health needs. We are one of the largest providers of prison
health services providing healthcare to prisoners across Kent and South London. We are proud of
the care we provide and our people.

2. Our mission
Our mission is to improve lives by providing the best possible care to our patients and their families.

3. Our values
Our Oxleas values are: We’re kind - We’re fair - We listen - We care
These new values have been developed through discussions with staff, patients and local people.

4. Our challenges and how we will respond
Our population is growing and people are living for longer. This means more people are living for
longer with physical and mental health problems that need the care, treatment and support of the
NHS. For some people, they need help at a time of crisis. When the crisis passes, they can get on
with their life without the NHS. For others, the support they need will be regular and may well be
life-long.
Oxleas’ services have become busier in recent years. Physical and mental health services are under
growing demand, for children, for working-age adults, and for older adults. The needs of these
groups are changing and services are working hard to keep pace.

1
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We have also seen pressures on our budgets over the last five years. Investments in the NHS, and in
Oxleas, have not kept pace with the increase in the cost of running our services – let alone funded
the extra demand. This pressure has shown itself in different ways and at different times on our
services, ranging from increases in waiting times and waiting list sizes, through to the need to use of
expensive non-NHS mental health beds when Oxleas capacity is full to try to get people the care
they need.
There are some aspects of our services we want to improve and we welcome the insights from the
Care Quality Commission inspections. While our overall rating is good, and some of our care is
outstanding, we need to pay close attention to quality and safety in our services to continue to
reduce the risk of people coming to avoidable harm.
Having listened in detail to the views of our staff, our patients, our carers and our partner
organisations, we have developed a strategy that we believe will make a big difference to our
patients and our staff.
We know that there are uncertainties ahead. The pandemic continues to dominate our lives and we
do not know how it will affect our lives in the longer term. We are witnessing a worrying
deterioration in local authority finances that will inevitably affect the services we provide together.
We know that the NHS White Paper – ‘Integration and Innovation: working together to improve
health and social care for all’ signals significant reorganisation across the NHS, but we do not know
what this will mean in practice and the impact on Oxleas.
We will rise to each of these challenges and many more. We have strong relationships with our
local partners built over a number of years - within the NHS, our local authorities, independent
providers and the voluntary care sector – and together we will navigate these changes successfully.
We will listen closely to the experiences of those who use our services and we will draw on their
insights to design solutions that work for the challenges we face. We will strive to be the best
employer we can be, so that we attract and retain committed and talented staff. And we will
always prioritise the delivery of flexible, responsive and well-led services that improve lives.

5. The wider context
National
What are the challenges in the UK currently?
•
•
•
•
•

Covid-19 pandemic and the impact on mental and physical health
Increased public debt and impact on economy
A growing and ageing population
National difficulties in health workforce recruitment
Forthcoming structural reorganisation across the NHS
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Local
Our local population
Growing and ageing
South East London has a highly diverse population of around 1.85 million. The population is growing
and is predicted to increase by 9.5%, exceeding 2 million, over the next ten years. The expected
growth in the older population far outstrips the overall population growth rate. This is likely to lead
to increasing demand for care across the system overall. Older prisoners are the fastest growing
group in the prison population.
Highly diverse
The proportion of our local population who are black, Asian and minority ethnic ranges from 19% in
Bromley to 41% in Greenwich. South-East London has a higher than average proportion of residents
that identify as LGBTQI+.
Significant levels of deprivation
One in five children lives in low-income homes. Greenwich is one of the 15% most deprived local
authority areas in the country. The other two boroughs (Bexley and Bromley) are significantly less
deprived, but have pockets of deprivation.

Our local health needs
Borough specific characteristics

Bexley
•
•
•

•
•

3

Bexley's population is estimated to increase by 9%
between 2019 and 2030.
One in six people are over 65 and projections show
that Bexley has a population that is ageing.
Across Bexley the health profile of the population
differs. Bexley has a relatively younger, ethnically
diverse and deprived population towards the north.
22% of the population is black, Asian and minority
ethnic (BAME): this is expected to continue to rise.
Obesity is the single biggest challenge for Bexley.
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Bromley
•

•

•

•

An ageing population, the proportion of people aged 65
and over is expected to increase gradually from 17% in
2017 to 18% by 2022 and 19% by 2027. The number of
children aged 0 4 is projected to decrease over the
same period.
19% of the population are from BAME backgrounds.
Children and young people make up the highest
proportion of the BAME population.
For the period 2013 to 2015 there was a 7.4 year
difference in life expectancy at birth between males
living in the most and least deprived areas of Bromley
and 5.9 years for females. In the last eleven years there
has been an increase in inequalities in life expectancy
within gender for females but a reduction for males.
The key causes of death in Bromley are cancer,
circulatory disease and respiratory disease.

Greenwich
•

•

•

•

Greenwich has a young and very diverse
population. Almost 25% are under 19 and
around 10% are over 65.
Greenwich has particular challenges
including high levels of deprivation,
inequalities and unemployment.
About 41% of the population are from
BAME backgrounds. The two biggest
minority ethnic groups are Black
Caribbean/African and South
Asian/Chinese.
Cancer, lung disease, dementia /
Alzheimer's and digestive diseases
(including alcohol related conditions)

Our local financial environment
As an Integrated Care System in South East London, our ambition is: “to deliver a clinically and
financially sustainable system for the future and address health inequalities in south east London”.
The Integrated Care System financial position for 2019/20 had a system underlying deficit of
£265m. The modelling forecasts that, by 2023/24, the affordability gap for the SEL system could be
£670m unless action is taken to improve long term financial sustainability.
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Our response as an Integrated Care System
As a system, we aim to:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Bring together stakeholders – including patients – to transform patient care, reduce health
inequalities and improve patient outcomes
Develop in-depth population health management capacity and capability
Design new models of care and major service changes to improve population health outcomes
Work closely with local government to join up health and care at the appropriate system tiers
Engage staff, citizens, voluntary sector, multi-professional leadership development and
partnership working in respect of integrated care and system working
Undertake system-wide quality improvement and sharing of best practice, involving all staff
groups across the system.

These elements shape and inform our Oxleas strategy and our response to the challenges we face.

5. Our journey so far
We have been developing this strategy while facing the most significant challenge our society has
experienced for a generation. Our staff, alongside colleagues from all parts of the health and social
care system, and supported by our local communities, have risen magnificently to the significant
challenges posed by Covid-19. We have adapted our services quickly and changed how we work to
continue to provide care for those most in need.
We have learned a great deal from this experience – in particular, about the inequalities in our
society and our organisation and how, together, we can implement change rapidly and successfully.
It has helped us to understand that we need to do more to tackle the inequalities in our service
provision. It has brought to the forefront the need to put kindness and fairness into action and
encouraged us to have important conversations about equality and wellbeing. This has resulted in
our ‘Building a Fairer Oxleas’ programme and shaped our work to support the wellbeing and
resilience of our staff. It has also helped us to develop our new values which have been
enthusiastically endorsed by our people. As we emerge from the pandemic, we want to think
about their outstanding contribution during this challenging period and to take time to recharge
and start looking to the future.
Despite the funding challenges, we have always managed our finances well at Oxleas. This has put
us in an excellent position to date to invest in services, infrastructure and our staff. The fantastic redevelopment of Queen Mary’s Hospital, Sidcup is a prime example of this and of effective
partnership working to benefit local people. Our work as part of the South London Partnership (SLP)
to improve specialist mental health services locally, and reduce the distance patients have to travel
for care, has been highly successful. The SLP is leading the country in creating ‘Provider
Collaboratives’ to take forward this work.
5
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6. Shaping our Oxleas strategy together
To develop our strategy, we undertook a comprehensive engagement process with our staff,
service users, carers and partner organisations. The ‘Our Next Step’ engagement programme began
in November 2019.
We gave individuals the opportunity to share their personal views of what Oxleas’ priorities should
be through surveys, events and webinars. During the second phase, which took place from January
2020 until the end of February 2020, these themes were discussed by teams across the
organisation. We heard from over 1,000 members of staff through these activities. We also
undertook a wide range of engagement activities with service user groups and individual service
users and carers to gather their feedback gathering views from more than 500 individuals and
groups.
Our Next Step engagement told us that:
•
•
•

Patients and carers wanted reduced waiting times, services closer to home and greater
involvement in their own care.
Staff highlighted the importance of staff wellbeing, workforce development and using
technology to improve care and patient/staff experience.
People placed importance on the demonstration of kindness and respect and wanted our values
to reflect this.

We want to take this forward working with our local partners as part of an integrated system that
improves the lives and health of local people by providing them with the support they need, when
they need it and where they need it. The principles of providing care without delay and close to
home are central to this joint approach.

7. Our three big priorities
In light of the feedback from our large-scale ‘Our Next Step’ engagement work and the experiences
through the pandemic, we have identified three big priorities for Oxleas for 2021 – 2024:
1. Achieving zero delays
2. Delivering great out-of-hospital care
3. Making Oxleas a great place to work
These will be underpinned by a number of building blocks which will be vital for delivering the
changes we want to see.
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Big priority one: Zero Delays
The lives of our patients improve when they receive the right care at the right time. When patients
experience unnecessary delays in receiving care, their health can deteriorate. It is not acceptable
that a person’s health should deteriorate because we cannot deliver care in a timely way. We are
determined to abolish any harm that patients may experience whilst waiting longer than necessary.
We want Oxleas to be known for delivering the right care at the right time with zero delays.
The amount of time a patient should expect to wait for a service should be well-defined and
understood by both patients and staff. It should be determined by the best evidence available
about the right time for care. Every patient should receive clear communication about the length of
time it should take for them to receive their care and this should improve patient experience and
outcomes. Any patient who waits longer than the agreed waiting time will be treated as a delay and
subject to a review.
To deliver these improvements, our services need to be designed in a way that drives efficiency and
we need to reduce the mismatch between demand and capacity. We need to minimise the number
of inappropriate referrals through better system-working. We need to reduce the number of
transfers between services and tackle over-zealous gatekeeping. We may need to think differently
about the models of care for some services. Where demand is greater than the capacity we have
funds for, we will have timely conversations with partners within the local health system to find
ways to resolve this.
Teams will review their service model to take account of the need to provide timely care. All teams
will have an agreed waiting time that will be monitored in team meetings. Delays will be
consistently measured across teams. We want staff to feel proud about delivering timely services.
We will track our progress by measuring the volume and length of the delays in our services. We
will track other measures to assess the impact on patient outcomes, staff experience and benefits
to the wider health system.

Big priority two: Great Out-of-Hospital Care
We want our out-of-hospital care to be the very best it can be. By providing people with the tools,
skills and services they need to manage their conditions in their own communities, we will improve
the quality of their lives and the lives of those who support them.
Communities who can access different and targeted models of care in their local areas will have less
need for admissions to inpatient services. Our inpatient services will be transformed into
therapeutic spaces for patients who are very unwell and they will be accessible in a timely way.
There is a clear case for change. We know that there is scope to improve the consistency of the care
we provide in our community services and this has been confirmed by the Care Quality
7
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Commission. The Royal College of Psychiatrists recommends occupancy for mental health inpatient
beds at 85%, but we are regularly reaching levels of 98 – 100% with an impact on the quality of care
we can provide. The pandemic has increased the pressures on our community services in Bexley
and Greenwich, demanding increased innovation and co-ordination.
We will achieve great out-of-hospital care by co-designing our services with those who use our
services and their loved ones. We are also keen to work in close partnership with local GPs, the
voluntary sector and our local providers.
We have two programmes of work already in train to deliver innovative and high-quality out-ofhospital care. Our ‘Home First’ programme is focused on enabling patients to access physical
healthcare in their own homes or an identified place – the right care, at the right place, at the right
time. Our Community Mental Health transformation work will deliver more targeted services and
improved alignment across the health-system. In line with national strategy, we will support our
service users to access new and integrated models of primary and community mental health care so
that they will have greater choice and control and be supported to live well in their communities.
Both of these will benefit from national transformation funding, but also from targeted
reinvestment. By becoming less reliant on bed-based services, we can reinvest into supporting a
new offer within the community which in turn will reduce our use of beds.
We want to design our teams and services to support a clear focus on the quality of care within our
different services. We want to connect our mental and physical health services so that we offer
great physical care to our patients with mental health diagnoses, and vice versa. We want to equip
our staff with the tools, skills and competencies to deliver the best quality of care and improve their
joy at work.
We will measure our progress using quantitative metrics such as community caseloads, bed
occupancy, attendance at A&E, referrals from primary care etc. We will also use qualitative
measures such as service users and other stakeholder feedback and proxy measures such as the
number of complaints and incidents.

Big priority 3: Great Place to Work
We will only deliver outstanding care to our patients if we take the best possible care of our staff.
The quality of our care depends on our ability to attract, retain and develop high-calibre people.
There is fierce competition for NHS staff and we need to stand out as an employer of choice – both
within the NHS and for school leavers and within the wider community. We want our people to be
given opportunities to develop and thrive and to feel supported to give their best every day. We
want every person in Oxleas to be treated kindly, fairly and with care.
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The pandemic has put a considerable strain on all of our people. Frontline staff members have
continued to deliver care to some of the most vulnerable people in our society, despite real fears of
contracting Covid-19. People have grieved the tragic loss of patients and loved ones. Colleagues
across Oxleas have changed the way that they work quickly and graciously. People have kept
working when things have felt extremely challenging and relentless. They will need time and
support to reflect, recharge and rebuild as we emerge from the pandemic.
We listened to our staff who told us they wanted new values that spoke to the heart of Oxleas.
Their feedback directly shaped new values: We’re kind – We’re fair – We listen – We care. Our
new values, which are supported by a behaviours framework, will be embedded in all our people
processes e.g. our recruitment, progression, performance and talent management. This will support
our work to tackle bullying and poor behaviours.
The tragic events which led to the prominence of the Black Lives Matter movement prompted
colleagues to speak openly in 2020 about their personal experiences of poor treatment in Oxleas.
The pandemic also highlighted the disproportionate impact of Covid-19 on a range of different
groups. The ‘Building a Fairer Oxleas’ programme was launched to deliver tangible improvements.
Guided by staff feedback, the following initial priorities were selected- (a) building cultural
intelligence, and (b) improving the fairness of our recruitment and progression processes. In time,
the programme will evolve to tackle issues raised by other protected groups, e.g. LGBT+ staff,
disabled staff, staff with mental health issues and others.
We want our staff to feel that their voices are heard and they are empowered to drive
improvements. Our Quality Improvement programme equips our staff to identify areas for
improvement and design interventions that make a difference. Each directorate has a staff
assembly that is allocated funds to improve staff wellbeing, staff rest areas and more. Staff
networks are encouraged and supported by Executive Director champions. All staff members are
able to get their questions answered directly by the Chief Executive through the ‘Ask Matthew’
facility. We use webinars and film and are always looking for ways to communicate in a way that is
fresh and engaging. We want frontline staff to stay up-to-date in ways that suit them e.g. at nursing
stations and team briefings.
Oxleas launched a new Shadow Executive in 2021. This comprises 12 talented staff members from
a range of different professions, backgrounds and locations who were selected to bring fresh
thinking and challenge to our senior decision-making. They meet with the Chief Executive and
other Directors to feed-in their views on the papers going to our monthly Executive meetings.
We want all frontline staff members to have access to high-quality rest areas and interventions that
enhance well-being, e.g. through Schwartz rounds, counselling support and more. We are
designing a forward-thinking agile working offer for those who are able to work from home, so that
we can attract and retain talented staff and potentially tackle specific skill shortages.

9

83

We will measure our progress through the engagement scores in the annual staff survey, our exit
and new joiner data, our turnover, our Workforce Race Equality and Workforce Disability Equality
results as well as our Building a Fairer Oxleas pulse surveys.

8. Our building blocks for change
Building Block One: Quality Management
Our ambition at Oxleas is to go from good to great in terms of the quality of our services, and then
to stay great. We want to embed an improvement approach which delivers sustained
improvements to the quality of care we provide, empowering staff to provide better and safer care.
We will deliver this by focusing on four components of our quality of care:
•
•
•
•

Quality planning – understanding the priorities for improvement and the design of
appropriate interventions
Quality control – maintaining quality and knowing when it slips away
Quality assurance – independently checking the quality
Quality improvement – delivering the improvement

There are three key enablers to this work – (1) Being clear about how this work contributes to our
overarching priorities as set out in this strategy, (2) Leadership that demonstrates the beliefs,
attitude, skills and behaviours that enable improvement (3) Co-design and co-production – a
culture of listening and action (discussed more below).
Our quality management framework brings all these components together. It provides the
methodology for developing and continually improving quality through the setting and monitoring
of annual quality priorities.
Effective implementation of a quality management framework will help us to build on our current
approach and deliver –
•
•
•
•
•
•

Robust quality control systems that provide one version of the truth about what is and what is
not working
Effective governance and management processes so all our improvement activities are aligned
A culture that empowers our staff
Opportunities to learn and value the mirror held up to us by our assurance processes
Honesty when something goes wrong
Improved scope to listen and respond to staff, patients and their families
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Building Block Two: Bolstering our service user, patient, carer involvement and coproduction
Our vision is for a “nothing about us without us” approach to the delivery of patient care. To
achieve this, we will create new resources and infrastructure to support involvement.
There is an increasing expectation of routine service-user, patient and carer involvement across the
NHS, but a number of issues can make involvement less likely, such as
•
•
•

Traditional professional training does not equip staff well for a partnership approach
towards care-planning and service design
Contacts often take place in a clinical-crisis context and this can make it harder for our staff
to see service users as a resource for partnership rather than a problem to be managed
Users and then families can sometimes feel intimidated or excluded by NHS structures

Our recent Care Quality Commission well-led review described Oxleas as having pockets of
outstanding involvement practice but with significant gaps which impeded the spreading of learning
and practice. The opportunity costs to all of not utilising involvement and partnership working are
considerable.
Delivering the improvements we want requires new resources and structures including:
•
•

•

A dedicated lead for involvement to increase the opportunities available and improve the
join-up between lived experience, volunteering, public membership and governor roles.
An “Involved” steering group comprising governors, Quality Improvement lead, Service
managers, leads for the Lived Experience Programme, volunteering, membership and family
and carer leads and key external partners. This group would support co-ordination and
facilitate ongoing two-way information sharing.
Introducing a clear matrix management for our lived experience practitioner workforce and
ensuring that the LXP workforce remains accessible and diverse. The LXP workforce will
report activity to, and be supported by, the therapies executive.

A number of indicators will help us to know that we are making progress. Patient experience data
will be more representative of stakeholder populations and will be constructed to inform service
design. We will hear more from ‘hard to reach’ groups – including those who are more deprived or
vulnerable. Quality improvement projects will be supported by relevant and prepared userpopulations and projects will benchmark well against national standards of co-production
involvement. Well-attended public forums will provide a mechanism for wider information-sharing
such as consultation on key issues and mental and physical health skills workshops. Engaged teams
will deliver improvements to care-plans in terms of co-production and opportunities for
involvement.
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Building Block Three: Creating a safety and learning culture
Patient safety is about maximising the things that go right for our patients and minimising the
things that go wrong. Making mistakes is human and we will reduce the potential for error by
learning and acting when things go wrong. Patient safety is everyone’s responsibility.
We want everyone in Oxleas to feel comfortable talking about safety problems and how to resolve
them without fear of blame or punishment. We will create team cultures where everyone feels
psychologically safe and knows that their concerns will be treated openly and with respect.
Our 2020 staff survey shows that we have more to do to achieve the culture we want. Our results
around patient safety have been static and match only the median scores for similar trusts.
Our future approach is shaped by the best practice set out in the National Patient Safety Strategy.
This highlights psychological safety, tackling blame, valuing diversity, having a compelling vision,
good leadership and teamwork, openness and support for learning, and kindness and civility as the
key ingredients for a safety and learning culture.
The foundations have been laid with our new values and our Quality Management Framework that
emphasises the need for continuous and systematic improvement. Our ‘just culture’ approach also
helps by balancing fairness and learning in a way that avoids blame. We will communicate a
compelling vision to staff around psychological safety and leadership. Our approach to safety and
learning recognises the vital importance of upholding our patients’ dignity and human rights.
We will improve our understanding of safety by drawing insights from multiple sources of patient
safety information. We plan to implement the Patient Safety Incident Management Framework to
support learning from serious incidents. This involves moving towards a proactive approach to
learning from incidents and away from reactive and hard-to-define thresholds for ‘Serious Incident’
investigations. Quality of investigation is the priority with the selection of incidents for investigation
based on the opportunity for learning and the need to cover a range of outcomes.
Our current safety priorities for mental health services are:
•
•
•
•

Reducing restrictive practice
Physical health care monitoring after
rapid tranquilisation
Reducing risks of self-harm and suicide
including ligatures
Reducing violence and aggression

•
•
•
•

Understanding of service user
individual risks
Physical health care in mental health
Improving sexual safety
Improving management of co-existing
mental health , alcohol and drugs

For physical health services, our safety priorities are:
•
•
•

Reducing falls
Reducing pressure ulcers
Reducing malnutrition

•
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Prevention, early identification and
management of physical deterioration
and sepsis
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•

Antimicrobial
resistance
and
healthcare
associated
infections

•

(including Covid-19)
Safer use of medicines

In learning disability services:
•

Learning from deaths including LeDeR

We will measure our progress in different ways to capture the voice of service users, families,
carers and staff. We will triangulate feedback from the staff survey and through the Improving Lives
assurance visits and Quality Improvement measures. We would expect improvements in the
recurrent themes that currently emerge from our serious incident investigations, such as
communication, information sharing, risk assessments and mitigation plans.

Building Block Four: Increasing our focus on service inequalities
Covid-19 highlighted a number of health inequalities, including those experienced by BAME people,
disabled people, LGBT+ people, people with learning disabilities and older people. Our aim is to
provide patient-centred care that is sensitive to the culture, religion, gender, sexual orientation and
other characteristics of those who use our services. We want the accessibility, cultural
appropriateness and fairness of our services to be assessed on a routine and comprehensive basis.
To track the experience of different groups, we need to routinely record the ethnicity, religion or
sexual orientation of our services users. Without comprehensive data, we cannot know whether
certain groups are over or under-represented and we cannot know if they have a poorer experience
because of specific protected characteristics. Our aim is to ensure that we know the ethnicity,
disability status, sexual orientation and religion of at least 80% of the people who use our services.
We review patient experience data by age, disability, ethnicity, gender and sexual orientation and
put in place actions to address poorer experience
The pandemic has accelerated changes to the way we deliver our services, including increasing the
use of telephone and video appointments. Equality Impact Assessments have helped us to identify
that while these approaches offer greater access for many patients, not everyone has access to the
necessary technology. There are also risks to be managed in terms of privacy, cultural barriers,
communications needs due to age or disability. In order to ensure that those receiving virtual
appointments get their needs met effectively, we have established a set of principles regarding the
frequency of face-to-face contacts.
We have made significant progress on the Accessible Information Standard (AIS) and are
increasingly capturing people’s communication and information needs on our patient electronic
record RiO, but potentially less so on other patient record systems. Our plans are for the Accessible
Information Standard to be fully embedded.
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We want to use every opportunity to promote inclusion, whether that is in our physical
environment (estate), the way our services are delivered (accessibility and cultural understanding)
or the way services are promoted (multi-channel communications and segmented marketing).
We engage with our local communities to ensure we hear the voices of those who are seldom
heard and to build stronger relationships with protected groups.
We measure our progress by tracking:
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

Patient experience data, including to see whether we can eliminate any significant
differences between people due to ethnicity, age, disability, sexual orientation and gender
Compliance with the requirement to identify, record, flag, share and meet the
Communication and Information Needs of every patient / service user / carer due to
disability or language needs
Data on the increased use of British Sign Language, translated information, closed captions
on video calls etc.
More qualitative data from seldom heard from groups and communities and the use of this
in the shaping of service development
The percentage of patients for whom we hold full demographic data on RiO and other
record systems
The availability of detailed disability access information for all our main sites
Fulfilment rates for our interpreting provision

Building Block Five: Effective partnership working
We will only deliver the best outcomes for our patients if we work closely, collaboratively and
creatively with our local healthcare providers, partners and local communities. We take pride in
the strong relations we have built with our partners over a number of years. These have helped us
to adapt extremely quickly and flexibly to meet the needs of our patients during the uncertainties
of the pandemic. The strength of these relationships also provides an excellent platform for
navigating the changing NHS landscape, at both a local and national basis, over the coming months
and years.
We play an active part in the leadership of ‘Our Healthier South East London’, one of the first 15
integrated care systems in England. In April 2020, South East London CCG became a single
organisation – putting us in a good position for progressing into the new arrangements. Our
integrated care system is likely to comprise both a statutory NHS body and a health and care
partnership. We are committed to ensuring that these new arrangements work effectively and
deliver benefits for our patients and our people.
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Our commitment to effective partnership working is shown in a number of ways, including through
our formal partnership structures. We have regular partnership meetings with Lewisham and
Greenwich NHS Trust. These have helped us to identify and develop innovative new solutions to
shared problems and build on the excellent collaborative working that already exists. We also are
members of local place-based or borough-based partnership groups in each of our three boroughs
and we are involved in the development of borough-based alliance structures.
We are founding members of the South London Partnership, with South West London and St
George’s NHS Trust and South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust. This partnership has
achieved significant benefits for the quality of our patient care by working at scale e.g. reducing
dramatically the distance that children have to travel to access specialist mental health services.
The South London Partnership represents a third of the new Provider Collaboratives established
nationally.
Oxleas is also committed to working in partnership across the range of our services and with people
who use our services, with their carers and loved ones, with local community groups and others, as
described above.

Building Block Six: Reducing violence, aggression and abuse against our staff
There is sometimes a perception that facing violence, aggression and abuse is a part of the day job
in a mental health and community trust. We want to make it clear that no-one should have to
come to work to be the target of this kind of behaviour. Oxleas does not tolerate violence or abuse
against its staff and it takes a strong stand against any racist, homophobic or other discriminatory
actions and behaviours.
We have a package of interventions in place to reduce the incidence of violence, aggression and
abuse against our staff. There are a range Quality Improvement initiatives to reduce violence and
learning from successful initiatives is disseminated to other teams. Our ‘body worn cameras’ pilot
has been welcomed by both service users and staff and can help to diffuse tensions. Personal
alarms have also been issued to staff.
We are working closely with the Metropolitan Police to ensure that attacks against our NHS staff
are approached with the same rigour as attacks against the police. We are establishing a six-weekly
steering group with the Metropolitan Police to track progress and share learning and best-practice.
We have a clear process in place to ensure that staff members are given full support after incidents
and to gather feedback and lessons learned for the future. We continue to promote the ‘It’s Not
OK’ initiative in our wards and our teams.
We will track our progress through the staff survey data that assesses the incidence of violence and
discrimination, through the number of incidents and through the feedback from the questions
about the support received from managers and teams.
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Building Block Seven: Increasing Digital and Remote Service delivery
Digital technology opens up the opportunity for our patients to take an increasingly active role in
their health and care. We want our patients to be able to access care in different ways and are
working with staff and service users to design and develop this.
Digital services create opportunities for carers and other key members of our service users support
networks to join appointments or access patient’s digital records with their permission. Digital
appointments will increasingly mean that clinicians can offer appointments from different locations
at different times to better suit our patients’ needs.
We are creating a new digital personal health record – Oxcare which will enable clinicians to share
information such as care plans, letters and leaflets together with recommended digital self-help
tools that can play a pivotal role in supporting people between appointments.
We recognise that not all our service users or carers will have the skills or equipment they need to
engage with us in this way so we will review regularly to ensure that technology does not become a
barrier to accessing our services.
We have made excellent progress in introducing digital tools to improve our clinical processes and
pathways, digitising many administrative tasks. The pandemic has accelerated the roll-out of our
remote service delivery offer with many patients receiving consultations and treatment via video or
telephone, as well as carers joining therapy and inpatient ward rounds remotely, using video
conferencing tools.
Our extensive patient experience survey of 35000+ service users between March and July 2020
demonstrated the viability of including virtual technology in our patient offer. We have discovered
that virtual contacts are acceptable and may be more convenient to a significant proportion of our
users, particularly as treatment progresses. We now need to standardise our offer and ensure that
we establish digital pathways across all appropriate services to complement our existing face to
face offering. We will start this work in Spring 2021 and will focus initially on Bromley Mental
Health services.
Offering services digitally will provide more attractive flexible working opportunities for our staff
and may allow us to think more creatively about the location of our workforce. As the needs of our
patients and workforce change, we will also need to consider how we use our space differently in
the future.
We already have some great examples of the innovative use of technology by clinicians within our
services but to achieve our ambitions we recognise that all staff will need both the skills and
confidence to use technology to provide ‘people-first, digitally enabled’ care.
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To support our clinicians, we will produce clinical guidance on ‘Staying Connected’ which will be a
trust wide document supporting clinicians in the use of digital appointment platforms for different
appointment types and interventions. This will be developed over the next few months and will
draw on best practice within Oxleas and the SLP but also within the wider international community.
During 2021 we will also establish our digital ambassador programme which will provide support
for staff to become confident in digital technologies and processes. We will be developing this
programme with our SLP partners.
It is essential that we ensure that all staff have the right equipment to deliver care in different
ways. We have already published our draft ‘Digital Personas’ for all Oxleas staff. This will
standardise the digital equipment for all roles within the trust. We are aiming to ensure that all
staff members have the right equipment for their ‘persona’ during 2021 which will enable them to
have the same user experience as in the office when working remotely.
We will also focus on how we can enable our service users to use technology to take a more active
role in their health and will support them in doing so, particularly if they are vulnerable or unsure
about using technology. This will be a key activity as we roll-out Oxcare over the next couple of
years.
We will track our progress by monitoring:
•
•
•
•

Usage of our digital pathways and the different types of clinical contact provided by our
services
Feedback from our patients on their experience of our remote services through additional
surveys of our patients, carers and staff
Patient outcomes to ensure parity across the different pathways
Any reduction in our travel-spend and need for office space as more team and clinical
meetings are held digitally and people work remotely.

Building Block Eight: Making best use of resources
Finances
To achieve our ambitions, we need the right financial resources to deliver sustainable change.
Before the pandemic, the underlying financial deficit for South East London was £265m. Oxleas
accounted for £13.5m of this deficit as we entered 2020/21. A revised financial regime was
introduced for the pandemic but we will soon revert to a position where we need to deliver
challenging cost improvement plans.
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We will be operating with revenue and capital control totals set for the South East London
integrated care system (ICS). This will require negotiation across all our ICS partners and a more
system-wide approach. A key focus for Oxleas will be to ensure that mental health and community
health services achieve parity with acute health funding.
Key investments into our mental health provision will come from Mental Health Investment
Standard monies. This will address the experience of our mental health patients right across our
care pathways. The pandemic has sadly extended our waiting times and we will be bidding for a
share of the national £500m mental health waiting list fund to address these issues in 2021/22 and
support our work to deliver ‘Zero Delays’. The trust will continue to bid for new work e.g. in prisons,
and we will extend our Provider Collaborative opportunities with our SLP partners. Any new bids
will be expected to make a minimum of 13% contribution to our existing overheads and to
contribute to our future Cost Improvement plans.
The key strands of cost improvement and transformation work will be:•
New ways of working – taking advantage of new opportunities to build fit-for-purpose
infrastructure, including both IT and estates investment, that enables us to release estate we do
not need in two to five years’ time.
•
Mental Health Transformation – including crisis, beds and community mental health
services resulting in increased productivity and sustainably fewer occupied bed days. Investment
will be required to make these new pathways and ways of working sustainable. This is a key part of
our work to deliver ‘Great Out-of-Hospital care’.
•
Workforce – including increased focus on targeted recruitment and retention strategies, to
reduce our reliance on temporary staffing, as well as better managing our rosters.
We have maintained very healthy cash balances to date and have been able to deliver breakeven or
surplus positions to date, but this has involved relying on one-off (non-recurrent) measures rather
than sustained efficiencies. We need to focus on delivering sustainable cost improvement plans
over the course of the next three years in order to ensure that both our revenue and planned
capital investment programmes can be afforded.
We have identified a five year capital programme, covering both IT and Estates and Facilities, which
will require £62.1m to March 2024.

Environmental sustainability
Oxleas is committed to environmental sustainability. This is the responsibility to conserve natural
resources and protect global ecosystems to support health and wellbeing, now and in the future.
We take this responsibility seriously and will consider the impact of our decisions in this context.
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We will work to meet the sustainability targets set out in the 2020/21 NHS Operational Planning
and Contracting Guidance. We have been working successfully to reduce our estate-produced
carbon emissions for a number of years and we are working with experts to compile a Carbon
Reduction Roadmap. This roadmap will ensure that we develop the depth and breadth of approach
needed to support the achievement of the ambitious NHS long-term target of zero carbon
emissions by 2040. This will require a committed effort across Oxleas and we will harness the
expertise and appetite already existing within our workforce to drive change. As well as considering
technological solutions, we need to encourage, support and incentivise widespread changes in
behaviour to support our goals.
The reinvigoration of the Trust Sustainability Group is the first step, and this diverse group will
oversee a series of specific task groups and monitor progress. Our initial focus will be on reducing
waste and increasing our recycling of waste; reducing the use of fossil fuels in running our buildings
and considering changes to the way we operate to minimise the environmental impact.

For more information about Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
If you need help in a crisis, you can access information here: http://ow.ly/WApTf
Follow us on twitter @OxleasNHS
www.oxleas.nhs.uk
We are keen that people who use our services tell us about their experiences, good or bad, to
enable us to learn: please access the ‘What you think’ site here: http://oxleas.nhs.uk/yourviews/comments/
If you are a member of staff and you have a question or a comment, please use the ‘Ask Matthew’
function on the Ox intranet page.
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Board of Directors
4 March 2021
Report Title
Author
Accountable Director
Confidentiality/
FOI status
Report Summary

8
8

Item
Enclosure

Freedom to Speak Up – Board self-review tool
Rachel Clare Evans, Director of Strategy and People, with input from Board
members and the Guardian Service
Rachel Clare Evans, Director of Strategy and People
N/A
Every two years, we are required to undertake a Board self-review of our
Freedom to Speak Up provision, using the attached tool provided by NHSI
and the National Guardian Service.
The assessment has been undertaken with input from the Guardian Service
and contains detailed input from Board members, both Executive and NonExecutive. The assessment was considered at the Workforce Committee in
January.
Oxleas is fully committed to delivering the measures we need to create a
culture where our staff are able and supported to speak-up. The Board
heard directly from the Guardian Service about our progress at the January
Board meeting.

Purpose
(To select purpose,
click on relevant
choice for drop down
box)
Recommendation
Link to strategic
objectives
(click on relevant
choice for drop
down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework

Information
Approval

To Note
√

Decision

The self-review is attached for final sign-off by the Board.

Quality √

Workforce √

Sustainability

Partnerships

Links to risks 1471 and 1502 on the Board Assurance Framework.
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Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

A freedom to speak culture is vital for ensuring that issues relating to
quality and safety are raised by staff in a safe and supportive way.
Our freedom to speak up provision supports different groups to be able to
raise issues of concern.
Staff need to be able to raise issues of concern as part of a culture where
they feel valued, listened to and supported.
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Freedom to Speak Up review tool for
NHS trusts and foundation trusts
Date

NHS England and NHS Improvement
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This is a tool for the boards of NHS trusts and foundation trusts to accompany the Guidance for boards on Freedom to Speak Up
in NHS trusts and NHS foundation trusts (cross referred with page numbers in the tool) and the Supplementary information on
Freedom to Speak Up in NHS trusts and NHS foundation trusts (cross referred with section numbers).
We expect the executive lead for Freedom to Speak Up (FTSU) to use the guidance and this tool to help the board reflect on its
current position and the improvement needed to meet the expectations of NHS England and NHS Improvement and the National
Guardian’s Office.
We hope boards will use this tool thoughtfully and not just as a tick box exercise. We also hope that it is done collaboratively
among the board and also with key staff groups – why not ask people you know have spoken up in your organisation to share
their thoughts on your assessment? Or your support staff who move around the trust most but can often be overlooked?
Ideally, the board should repeat this self-reflection exercise at regular intervals and in the spirit of transparency the review and
any accompanying action plan should be discussed in the public part of the board meeting. The executive lead should take
updates to the board at least every six months.
It is not appropriate for the FTSU Guardian to lead this work as the focus is on the behaviour of executives and the board as a
whole. But getting the FTSU Guardian’s views would be a useful way of testing the board’s perception of itself. The board may
also want to share the review and its accompanying action plan with wider interested stakeholders like its FTSU focus group (if it
has one) or its various staff network groups.
We would love to see examples of FTSU strategies, communication plans, executive engagement plans, leadership programme
content, innovative publicity ideas, board papers to add them to our Improvement Hub so that others can learn from them.
Please send anything you would specifically like to flag to nhsi.ftsulearning@nhs.net
1
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How to use this tool

2
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Summary of the expectation

Reference
for
complete
detail
Pages refer
to the
guidance
and sections
to
supplement
ary
information

How fully do we meet
this now?
Insert
review
date

Insert
review
date

Partially

Fully Met

March
2019

January
2021

Evidence to support a ‘full’ rating

Principal actions needed in relation
to a ‘not’ or ‘partial’ rating

Guidance from the NGO is routinely shared with Exec
and Non-Exec Leads.

This will continue to be a key focus
for the Board and the Senior
Leadership Team.

Behave in a way that encourages workers to speak up
Individual executive and non-executive directors
can evidence that they behave in a way that
encourages workers to speak up. Evidence
should demonstrate that they:
•
•
•
•
•

understand the impact their behaviour
can have on a trust’s culture
know what behaviours encourage and
inhibit workers from speaking up
test their beliefs about their behaviours
using a wide range of feedback
reflect on the feedback and make
changes as necessary
constructively and compassionately
challenge each other when appropriate
behaviour is not displayed

Section 1
p5

The Leadership programme specifically addresses the
issue of creating environments where staff are able to
speak up.
Senior Leaders understand the commitment made by
the Trust to the FTSU vision and the role they play in
promoting and embedding this within their teams.
Senior Leaders are committed to improving patient
safety and to developing a culture of continuous
improvement, openness and honesty.
Regular Board visits take place across the Trust
involving NEDs and EDs and action plans are in place to
address feedback from these, which are reported to
the Board. Staff members are asked on these visits
whether they are aware of the FTSU process and
whether they have confidence in the system.
Plans are also put in place to address concerns raised
through feedback meetings, complaints, Staff
Partnership forums and FTSU cases.
Staff members are encouraged to use a number of
3

Feedback from staff is reviewed by
the Exec, Board, Workforce
Committee and Staff Partnership
Forum.
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Summary of the expectation

Reference
for
complete
detail
Pages refer
to the
guidance
and sections
to
supplement
ary
information

How fully do we meet
this now?
Insert
review
date

Evidence to support a ‘full’ rating

Principal actions needed in relation
to a ‘not’ or ‘partial’ rating

Insert
review
date

avenues to ask questions or raise concerns. These
include the Ask Matthew forum, the staff forum on the
Ox, annual staff survey, pulse surveys, BAME wellbeing
sessions, Building A Fairer Oxleas sessions and
Executive champion engagement with each of the staff
networks. Themes from these discussions are
regularly fed back to the Exec and the Guardian
Service, so that information from all avenues can be
explored and used to inform our next steps.
Demonstrate commitment to FTSU
The board can evidence their commitment to
creating an open and honest culture by
demonstrating:
•

•

there are a named executive and nonexecutive leads responsible for
speaking up
speaking up and other cultural issues
are included in the board development
programme

•

they welcome workers to speak about
their experiences in person at board
meetings

•

the trust has a sustained and ongoing

p6
Section 1
Section 2
Section 3

Partially
Met
March
2019

Fully Met
January
2021

There are named Executive and Non-Executive Leads
for FTSU.
The Board have a strong focus on speaking up and
cultural issues. The Executive team and many of our
Non-Executive Directors attended in October a whole
day session on Cultural Intelligence, by Jennifer Izekor
at Above Difference. Cultural awareness e-learning is
available for all staff. Resources have been developed
on micro-aggressions and on improving cultural
intelligence.
The Board has an ongoing focus on Bullying and
Harassment. This includes the development of our
Values and Behaviour Framework, which will underpin
our recruitment practices, staff appraisals and
4

The new communication strategy
will include feedback from staff
members who have used the
Guardian Service.
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Summary of the expectation

Reference
for
complete
detail
Pages refer
to the
guidance
and sections
to
supplement
ary
information

•

•
•
•

focus on the reduction of bullying,
harassment and incivility
there is a plan to monitor possible
detriment to those who have spoken
up and a robust process to review
claims of detriment if they are made
the trust continually invests in
leadership development
the trust regularly evaluates how
effective its FTSU Guardian and
champion model is
the trust invests in a sustained,
creative and engaging communication
strategy to tell positive stories about
speaking up.

How fully do we meet
this now?
Insert
review
date

Evidence to support a ‘full’ rating

Insert
review
date

performance management.
Peer Facilitators have been trained to assist with
informal resolution of concerns raised between staff
members.
There is a renewed focus on the It’s Not Okay
campaign for 2021, to ensure staff members are aware
of the actions they can take, should they receive verbal
or physical abuse from service users, families or carers,
with clear packages of support in place for them.
There is a culture of openness and transparency across
the trust and staff are encouraged to question
anything they have concerns about. Anyone can get a
question answered through the ‘Ask Matthew’ channel
and staff raise a range of issues with senior staff that
are taken seriously and addressed.
The QI programme encourages staff to challenge any
areas of practice, which they feel could be improved
and recognises the benefits of trialling different ways
of working.
The Leadership Development Programme has been
embedded and additional support for Managers is
being developed for 2021, in response to feedback
5

Principal actions needed in relation
to a ‘not’ or ‘partial’ rating
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Summary of the expectation

Reference
for
complete
detail
Pages refer
to the
guidance
and sections
to
supplement
ary
information

How fully do we meet
this now?
Insert
review
date

Evidence to support a ‘full’ rating

Principal actions needed in relation
to a ‘not’ or ‘partial’ rating

Insert
review
date

that has been received via the Guardian Service.
There has been a dedicated communication
programme to ensure the new Guardian Service is
promoted. The Lead Guardians have attended each
Directorate Management Team meeting and they
continue to attend local team meetings. The options
available for staff to raise concerns continue to be
promoted.
Have a strategy to improve your FTSU culture
The board can evidence it has a comprehensive
and up-to-date strategy to improve its FTSU
culture. Evidence should demonstrate:
•
•
•
•

•

as a minimum – the draft strategy was
shared with key stakeholders
the strategy has been discussed and
agreed by the board
the strategy is linked to or embedded
within other relevant strategies
the board is regularly updated by the
executive lead on the progress against
the strategy as a whole
the executive lead oversees the regular
evaluation of what the strategy has

P7
Section 4

Partially
Met
March
2019

Fully Met
January
2021

The Workforce Strategy confirms that we will seek to
continuously improve staff confidence in speaking up
and embedding a culture of openness and
transparency. The links to patient safety, staff
experience and continuous improvement are well
understood.
There is continuous review of the Workforce strategy
and plan, with oversight from the Workforce
Committee.
There is a clear FTSU vision, which has been shared
with key stakeholders. Our approach to FTSU has been
developed in collaboration with the FTSU Guardians as
well as our Staff Partnership Team and our Staff
Networks and meets the requirements of the NGO.
6

Consider whether a stand-alone
FTSU strategy is required.
Continue to promote the Guardian
Service with teams, as well as our
internal mechanisms, and improve
staff confidence in speaking up.
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Summary of the expectation

Reference
for
complete
detail
Pages refer
to the
guidance
and sections
to
supplement
ary
information

How fully do we meet
this now?
Insert
review
date

Evidence to support a ‘full’ rating

Insert
review
date

achieved using a range of qualitative
and quantitative measures.

Progress against the strategy and compliance with the
policy are reviewed on a monthly basis with the Lead
Guardians. There are agreed timeframes for the Trust
to respond to concerns that have been escalated and
monthly reports are received on the progress made,
case data and themes.
6-monthly reports are provided to the Board for
review.
Feedback from our Guardian Service is also
supplemented by responses from the annual staff
survey reports (which include specific questions about
FTSU, experiences of bullying and harassment,
confidence in raising concerns), regular reports from
the Safer Working Guardian, Safe Staffing reviews,
GMC trainee surveys (to be duplicated for other
professions), reports to PQAC relating to CQC requests
for information and feedback from Staff Focus Groups.

Support your FTSU Guardian
The executive team can evidence they actively
support their FTSU Guardian. Evidence should
demonstrate:
•

they have carefully evaluated whether
their Guardian/champions have

p7
Section 1
Section 2
Section 5

Partially
Met
March
2019

Fully Met
January
2021

A dedicated, independent Guardian Service has been
commissioned. This is available for all staff, in addition
to our internal mechanisms.
There are monthly meetings between the Lead
Guardians, the Director of Strategy & People and the
7

Principal actions needed in relation
to a ‘not’ or ‘partial’ rating
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Summary of the expectation

Reference
for
complete
detail
Pages refer
to the
guidance
and sections
to
supplement
ary
information

enough ringfenced time to carry out all
aspects of their role effectively

How fully do we meet
this now?
Insert
review
date

Evidence to support a ‘full’ rating

Insert
review
date

Head of Employee Relations & Staff Engagement to
discuss the data collected, the emerging themes and
any particular areas of concern.

•

the Guardian has been given time and
resource to complete training and
development

•

there is support available to enable the
Guardian to reflect on the emotional
aspects of their role

The Lead Guardians have ready access to Senior
Leaders to enable them to escalate concerns rapidly,
preserving confidence as appropriate.

•

there are regular meetings between
the Guardian and key executives as
well as the non executive lead.

•

individual executives have enabled the
Guardian to escalate patient safety
matters and to ensure that speaking up
cases are progressed in a timely
manner

Information is shared with the Guardians, as
requested, and the Guardians are able to ask questions
of the Service Directors, the Director of Strategy &
People, or Head of Employee Relations & Staff
Engagement, when needed.

•

they have enabled the Guardian to
have access to anonymised patient
safety and employee relations data for
triangulation purposes

•

the Guardian is enabled to develop
external relationships and attend
National Guardian related events

Quarterly meetings are held with the Lead Guardians
and the Non-Executive and Executive Leads.

The Lead Guardians work closely with the NGO and
regularly share our data and share good practice
across the organisations they work with.

8

Principal actions needed in relation
to a ‘not’ or ‘partial’ rating
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Summary of the expectation

Reference
for
complete
detail
Pages refer
to the
guidance
and sections
to
supplement
ary
information

How fully do we meet
this now?
Insert
review
date

Insert
review
date

Fully
Met

Fully Met

Evidence to support a ‘full’ rating

Principal actions needed in relation
to a ‘not’ or ‘partial’ rating

Be assured your FTSU culture is healthy and effective
Evidence that you have a speaking up policy that
reflects the minimum standards set out by NHS
Improvement. Evidence should demonstrate:
•
•

that the policy is up to date and has
been reviewed at least every two years
reviews have been informed by
feedback from workers who have
spoken up, audits, quality assurance
findings and gap analysis against
recommendations from the National
Guardian.

Evidence that you receive assurance to
demonstrate that the speaking up culture is
healthy and effective. Evidence should
demonstrate:
•
•

•

you receive a variety of assurance
assurance in relation to FTSU is
appropriately triangulated with
assurance in relation to patient
experience/safety and worker
experience.
you map and assess your assurance to

P8
Section 8
National
policy

P8
Section 6

March
2019

Partially
Met
March
2019

January
2021

The policy is up to date and is regularly reviewed based
on feedback from key stakeholders. The workflow was
introduced in response to a lack of clarity identified by
staff members.
The FTSU process was reviewed at the November 2020
Audit & Risk Committee and will continue to be
reviewed at least once a year.

Fully Met
January
2021

The FTSU process was reviewed at the November 2020
Audit & Risk Committee and will continue to be
reviewed at least once a year. This is embedded in the
Terms of Reference for this committee.
An independent review of the cases and findings is
scheduled to take place in January 2021, led by KPMG.
This will ensure the investigation process is of high
quality, that outcomes and recommendations are
reasonable, that workers are kept up to date
throughout the investigation and are informed of the
outcomes, and that investigations are independent,
9

Ensure information from internal
cases (not those raised with the
Guardians) is included in the
monitoring reports.
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Summary of the expectation

Reference
for
complete
detail
Pages refer
to the
guidance
and sections
to
supplement
ary
information

•

•

ensure there are no gaps and you flex
the amount of assurance you require to
suit your current circumstances
you have gathered further assurance
during times of change or when there
has been a negative outcome of an
investigation or inspection
you evaluate gaps in assurance and
manage any risks identified, adding
them to the trust’s risk register where
appropriate.

How fully do we meet
this now?
Insert
review
date

Evidence to support a ‘full’ rating

Insert
review
date

fair and objective.
Information received by the FTSU process (both from
the Guardian Service and our internal FTSU cases) is
triangulated with information that comes from a
number of other sources. This includes the national
staff survey, pulse surveys, leavers surveys, staff
forums, staff networks, Board visits, BAMEx wellbeing
sessions, Building A Fairer Oxleas sessions, complaints
and incident reports.
The feedback from the Guardian Service is becoming
richer, as the service becomes more embedded and
more people approach the Guardians for assistance.
Not all cases that are raised with the Guardians are
escalated to the Trust for investigation. However, the
themes are captured from each contact and these are
used to inform our internal strategies. Themes around
B&H have fed into our new Values & Behaviours
Framework. Themes around Covid-19 have fed into
our Q&As for staff and the regular bulletins and wide
range of communication methods introduced to keep
staff members fully informed of the changes and
developments.

10

Principal actions needed in relation
to a ‘not’ or ‘partial’ rating
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Summary of the expectation

Reference
for
complete
detail

How fully do we meet
this now?
Insert
review
date

Insert
review
date

Not Met

Fully Met

Section 7

March
2019

January
2021

The board can evidence the FTSU Guardian
role has been implemented using a fair
recruitment process in accordance with the
example job description (JD) and other
guidance published by the National Guardian.

Section 1

Fully
Met

Fully Met

The board can evidence they receive gap analysis
in relation to guidance and reports from the
National Guardian.

Section 7

Pages refer
to the
guidance
and sections
to
supplement
ary
information
The board can evidence the Guardian attends
board meetings, at least every six months, and
presents a comprehensive report.

P8

NGO JD

March
2019
Fully
Met
March
2019

January
2021

Fully Met
January
2021

Evidence to support a ‘full’ rating

Principal actions needed in relation
to a ‘not’ or ‘partial’ rating

There are regular reports to the Board (and to
Workforce Committee) on Freedom to Speak Up. The
Guardian is attending the Board meeting in January
2021.
The Lead Guardians are now appointed by the
Guardian Service, in accordance with the guidance
issued by the NGO.

The content of the Guardian Reports includes the
following information, as specified by the NGO;
-

-

Information on the number and type of cases
being dealt with by the FTSU Guardian
Analysis of trends
Information on what the Trust has learnt and
what improvements have been made
Actions taken to increase the visibility of the
FTSU Guardian and promotion of the speaking
up channels
Information where workers feel they have
suffered a detriment
Suggested recommendations for action.

We have now also requested information on the
11

Review recommendations from
the National Guardian Office case
reviews.
https://www.nationalguardian.org.
uk/case-reviews/
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Summary of the expectation

Reference
for
complete
detail
Pages refer
to the
guidance
and sections
to
supplement
ary
information

How fully do we meet
this now?
Insert
review
date

Evidence to support a ‘full’ rating

Insert
review
date

protected characteristics of the staff members who
contact the Guardian Service, so we can identify
whether there are any staff groups who are
disproportionately affected by particular issues.

Be open and transparent
The trust can evidence how it has been open and
transparent in relation to concerns raised by its
workers. Evidence should demonstrate:
•
•
•
•
•
•

discussion with relevant oversight
organisation
discussion within relevant peer
networks
content in the trust’s annual report
content on the trust’s website
discussion at the public board
welcoming engagement with the
National Guardian and her staff

P9

Partially
Met
March
2019

Fully Met
January
2021

Not all cases require internal escalation. FTSU
Guardians share the themes of the cases at the
monthly review meetings, but the details of the cases
remain confidential.
Occasionally, concerns are raised internally (without
contact with the Guardian Service). The details of
these cases need to be included in the wider review of
FTSU cases and included in the reports that go to the
Workforce Committee and Board.
Discussion takes place at the Workforce Committee,
Staff Partnership Forum and Board. The Lead
Guardians plan to work more closely with the staff
networks this year to publicise the support they can
offer and better understand any particular concerns
that staff groups experience.
Our FTSU data is shared in the annual report and with
12

Principal actions needed in relation
to a ‘not’ or ‘partial’ rating
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Summary of the expectation

Reference
for
complete
detail
Pages refer
to the
guidance
and sections
to
supplement
ary
information

How fully do we meet
this now?
Insert
review
date

Evidence to support a ‘full’ rating

Principal actions needed in relation
to a ‘not’ or ‘partial’ rating

Insert
review
date

the NGO.
Senior Leaders work openly and positively with the
Lead Guardians and the NGO to continually improve
our speaking up culture.
Individual responsibilities
The chair, chief executive, executive lead for
FTSU, Non-executive lead for FTSU, HR/OD
director, medical director and director of nursing
should evidence that they have considered how
they meet the various responsibilities associated
with their role as part of their appraisal.

Section 1

Partially
Met
March
2019

Fully Met
January
2021

The Chief Executive and Chair are accountable for
ensuring the FTSU arrangements meet the needs of
staff members.
The Chief Executive and Chair ensure the annual report
contains information about FTSU.
They ensure the trust is engaged with both the local
Guardian Service and the National Guardian’s Office.
They are key sources of advice and support for the
FTSU Guardians and meet with them on a quarterly
basis.
Monthly meetings are held between the Director of
Strategy & People and the Lead Guardians to review
the themes arising from the cases. These themes are
incorporated into local workstreams (such as the
development of our Values and Behaviour Framework
and our Building A Fairer Oxleas workstream) to
ensure concerns raised are addressed for all staff
13

There will be a continued focus on
promoting the options available to
staff and sharing the learning more
widely, where appropriate.
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Summary of the expectation

Reference
for
complete
detail
Pages refer
to the
guidance
and sections
to
supplement
ary
information

How fully do we meet
this now?
Insert
review
date

Evidence to support a ‘full’ rating

Insert
review
date

members.
An audit has been scheduled with KPMG to take place
in January 2021 to review a sample of cases and
ensure we are responding to concerns raised in the
appropriate way. The Guardian Service have already
provided feedback that they can see that we
investigate concerns thoroughly and robustly and
provide timely and detailed responses to staff
members. Recommendations made are sensible and
there are clear plans in place to address these.
The Senior Leadership Team ensure allegations are
promptly and fairly investigated and all
recommendations are acted upon.
Assurance is provided to the Board at 6-montly
reviews and more frequent reports are taken to the
Workforce Committee for review.
The Workforce Committee challenges the Board to
reflect on whether more can be done to create a
culture of openness and focus on shared learning.
Regular reviews of the policy take place, based on
feedback from the Guardians, the Staff Partnership
Team and staff members.

14

Principal actions needed in relation
to a ‘not’ or ‘partial’ rating
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Board of Directors
4 March 2021
Report Title
Author
Accountable Director
Confidentiality/
FOI status
Report Summary

Item
Enclosure

9
9

Quarterly Mortality Surveillance Report –Quarter 2 2020/21
Lynda Longhurst Head of Patient Experience and Patient Safety
Jane Wells Director of Nursing
Public

The quarterly mortality surveillance meets provides assurance that our deaths
are being reviewed and satisfies the requirements to report to Boards as a
requirement of NHSI.
The attached report provides assurance to the Executive that wherever a death
has occurred that the death is reviewed to establish whether there were any
issues with the care and treatment provided. This will help establish if there
were any problems that might have contributed to the death, or if the death
could have been prevented if things had been done differently.
The report covers the period of quarter 2 for 2020/21 and provides assurance
through:
1. Mortality surveillance update
2. Numbers of deaths reviewed
3. Learning from thematic reviews

Purpose
(To select
Information
√
To Note
√
purpose, click on
relevant choice
for drop down
Approval
Decision
box)
Recommendation The Board is asked to note the quarterly report confirming assurance with
expectations nationally for reviews of deaths in the organisation.
Link to strategic
objectives (click
on relevant
choice for drop
down box)
Link to Board
Assurance

Quality √

Workforce

Sustainability

This relates to learning from incidents risk

Partnerships
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Framework
Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

Briefly outline implications of the recommendations in this report
Learning and improving practice
Learning and improving practice
Learning and improving practice
Learning and improving practice
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Quarterly Mortality Surveillance Report – Quarter 2 2020/2021
1 Mortality Surveillance Committee
The Trust Mortality Surveillance Committee is held monthly and reviews all deaths that have occurred
in the preceding month, reporting to the Performance and Quality Assurance Committee. The purpose
of the committee is to provide assurance that wherever a death has occurred that the death is
reviewed to establish whether there were any issues with the care and treatment provided. This will
help establish if there were any problems that might have contributed to the death, or if the death
could have been prevented if things had been done differently. Deaths are classified according to an
expected / unexpected and natural / un-natural classification and the level of investigation is
discussed. The findings of serious incident reviews into deaths are shared and thematic reviews
undertaken.
1.1 Progress meeting national requirements
The National Learning from Deaths – a Framework for NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts in identifying,
Reporting, Investigating and Learning from Deaths in Care was published in March 2017. The Trust has
met the core requirements of the guidance. Our policy on learning from deaths, including involving
families and carers, is publically available on our website along with the national template dashboard
reporting deaths each month:
http://oxleas.nhs.uk/freedom-of-information/mortality-surveillance-data.
Serious incident reviews of deaths use the Royal College of Psychiatrists Care Review Tool.
1.2 Reconciliation of deceased data between national spine and RiO
As a Trust we receive regular updates from the NHS national spine of all NHS patients on the deaths of
patients known to Oxleas. It is important that we act upon this information to ensure that our clinical
records are up to date and that where appropriate, information about deaths not already known to us
are investigated. We have quarterly data providing a summary of deaths recorded on the spine, Datix
and RiO and gaps accessible via both a live and a committee reporting iFOx programmes.
2 Numbers, classification of deaths undertaken
During the year to date the numbers of patients who died which occurred during the reporting period
who were recorded on Datix and reviewed at the time of the mortality surveillance committee were:
2019/20
2020/21
Quarter 1
224
455*
Quarter 2
287
287
Quarter 3
278
Quarter 4
306
These have all been subject to a case review by a clinical reviewer.

* This figure is updated from the Q1 report as additional data has been received
1
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Deaths Expected / Unexpected Natural/ Unnatural by Directorate (at point of presentation to the
Mortality Surveillance Committee):
EN1 Expected Natural: Death was expected to occur within an expected timeframe. e.g.
People with terminal illness. These deaths are unlikely to be preventable.
EN2 - Death was expected but were not expected to happen in the timeframe. e.g.
Someone with cancer or liver cirrhosis who dies earlier than anticipated.
UN1 - Unexpected death which are from a natural cause e.g. Sudden cardiac condition or
stroke.
UN2 - Unexpected death from a natural cause but which didn’t need to be e.g. Some
alcohol dependency and where there may been care concerns.
UU - Unexpected deaths which are from unnatural causes e.g. Suicide, homicide, abuse or
neglect

Q2 Graph showing data by Directorate and Mazars Classification
In quarter 2, there were 224 deaths identified on the NHS national spine and RiO with no death date
recorded, 81 had an open referral and not recorded as deceased. These are all being reviewed and the
date of death recorded for completeness.
3

Learning from thematic reviews

The Mortality Surveillance Committee has considered learning from death themes in quarter 2 from
both national and local reviews. These included national learning in respect of learning disabilities,
sudden unexpected death in infancy where children are considered at risk of significant harm and child
deaths suspected as suicide. There is a review of deaths of older people on Holbrook Ward (providing
care to older people) during the first phase of the Covid-19 pandemic.
3.1 Learning from the deaths of people with learning disabilities – national review
2
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The 4th annual report “ LeDeR Action from Learning Report January 2019 – December 2019” was
published in July 2020. The forward stresses the aims of LeDeR: ‘ASK – what needs to change and how;
LISTEN – to the compelling evidence; and DO – all that each of us can to make much needed changes
and improvements’ and ends ‘’please don’t let this be just another report, every reader has a part to
play in making a difference’’.
This year it focuses much more on learning and changes that have and are being made across the
country in response to the findings of reviews undertaken and provides details of the actions taken to
address key priorities identified in last year’s report: respiratory conditions, sepsis, reducing hospital
admissions for those with complex care needs, constipation and cancer screening.
The report states that over the year period there has been ‘some progress’ in the completion of
reviews within the time target of 4 months, although they acknowledge that there is more work to be
done to improve this. The current target is that 100% eligible reviews will be completed by December
2020. The report contains case studies and initiatives that have been put in place to address the issues
raised, for example;
Dysphagia/eating and drinking difficulties and aspiration:
•
•

A 2 day ‘Eating Well’ course commissioned from the Dietetics service of an NHS Trust to a LD
integrated service, training carers to support people with obesity, malnutrition, dysphagia,
diabetes, coeliac disease
A co-produced conference with people with a learning disability and their families for
community and acute care staff focussing on dysphagia/choking /aspiration awareness and
management

Respiratory conditions:
Respiratory causes remain the most significant cause of premature death in PLD (bacterial pneumonia
in 24% cases and aspiration pneumonia in 17%).
•
•
•

NHSE is working with the British Thoracic Society to develop an ideal care pathway for people
with learning disabilities (PLD) who have bacterial and aspiration pneumonia. It is due to be
published in early 2021
Easy read leaflet/posters produced by NHSE
Merseyside ‘Look after your lungs’ campaign co-produced with a self- advocacy group

Sepsis:
In 2018 sepsis was the second leading cause of death.
•
•
•

HEE commissioned the UK Sepsis Trust to offer training to family carers on signs and symptoms
with online films and video re the soft signs of deterioration
Using the ‘Significant 7’ signs and NEWS
In Hertfordshire a dedicated team is producing easy read resources called ‘Top to Toe’

Reducing hospital admissions for those with complex care needs:
3
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•

Cheshire and Wirral trialling a risk assessment looking at deteriorating health and particular risk
of admission. The results will be shared nationally

Constipation:
In 2018, 12 people died from constipation.
•
•
•

NHSE and NHSI held a working group and produced resources to identify, prevent, manage and
treat constipation
‘Books without words’ produced a constipation version
Weston Area NHS made awareness and management training mandatory for all staff

Cancer:
Deaths from cancer in PLD are half that of the general population. However reviews have identified
that lack of access to screening may have contributed to 7% deaths. Many easy read resources are
available and improvements to screening are being made such as the Merseyside ‘red flag’ symptom
awareness campaign.
Where next?
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Co-production and co-delivery is best practice
Collaboration and partnership working is vital, sharing and spreading the learning
Local LeDeR groups to identify a BAME lead
Local LeDeR reports being produced (Oxleas will be part of the SEL group)
MCA remains a focus for all
NHSE/NHSI have identified key actions for the next 12 months. They are to:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

Design a long term approach to LeDeR
Improve the LeDeR platform and accessibility of data
Increase dedicated clinician time to support action into learning
Work with Pharmacists on STOMP and STAMP
Evaluate the use of NEWS2 and RESTORE2 for this client group and review as necessary,
training carers and providing oxymeters

As a result of some concerns raised previously Professor Stephen Powis, NHSE Medical Director, wrote
to all NHS services reminding staff that a LD is ‘not fatal’ and should never be a cause of death or the
rationale for a DNAR order. The 2019 report shows a reduction in the use of DNAR and there were only
2 reviews which cited LD being used as rationale for DNAR compared with 11 before the letter was
sent. A further letter was sent during the COVID period to reiterate this.
The progress on improvements arising from the learning from LeDeR is regularly updated to the
committee.
3.2 Learning from the deaths of older people – local review of deaths on Holbrook Ward during
phase 1 of the Covid-19 pandemic
During the period of March – May 2020, there was a marked increase on the reported deaths in Bexley
4
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directorate with an unusually high number of deaths on Holbrook Ward. A report was requested to
review these deaths and identify learning.
The report reviewed the deaths on the ward during the COVID-19 pandemic and provides assurance in
respect of adherence to national guidance and provision of support for the ward staff. COVID-19 is a
new disease and the management has changed as nationally and globally the disease has progressed,
with more information and studies undertaken as to best practice. Staff have been kept up to date in
team meetings and on a shift by shift basis. Oxleas have dedicated COVID-19 pages on the intranet. It
concluded that sadly, there has been a high transmission of COVID-19 on Holbrook Ward and patients
with complex health needs have died. Care of these patients was delivered appropriately,
compassionately and within guidance issued. The remaining patients on the ward appear to have little
awareness of changes to the ward due to the nature of their diagnosis. The ward team members have
shown themselves to deliver care responsively in a constantly changing environment.
There was no further learning identified.
3.3 Sudden Unexpected Death in infancy where children are considered at risk of significant harm –
national review
The Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel published a national report in July 2020 on Sudden
Unexpected Death in Infancy where the children are considered at risk of significant harm. It found that
although the deaths were not directly caused by maltreatment, they disproportionately occurred in
families where there were other risks of harm identified.
This will be further discussed in the context of safeguarding children and think family through the
Safeguarding Committee.
3.4 National Child Mortality Database (NCMD) Report 10 July 2020
The NCMD was set up in 2019 and records information about the deaths of all children in England who
die before their 18th birthday. This allows analysis of all deaths of children under the age of 18 and for
them to produce thematic reports. It analyses and identifies patters of deaths nationally, ensuring
modifiable factors are recognised. The report published on 10 July 2020 analyses deaths of likely
suicide during the COVID-19 pandemic.
Suicide in young people is a complex process due to a number of factors. Data pre-COVID 2019 -2020
shows on average 2 deaths per week of young people by likely suicide. This accounts for 2% of suicide
across age span and 4% of all deaths in CYP, although rates increase with age. For the 56 days post lock
down, comparisons were made to the same period last year and preceding months. Post COVID and
comparisons last year for 1 April – 17 May show that 21 CYP died compared to 14 last year over a
similar time period. Baseline numbers are quite small so not statistical and could be by chance.
Key findings
•

Based on notifiable data only (likely suicides) comparing pre-lockdown suicide data with those
occurring in the first 8 weeks of lockdown
5
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•

Signal that child suicide deaths may have increased during the first 56 days of lockdown, but
numbers are far too small to reach definitive conclusions

•

No significant difference in demographic characteristics of children and young people who had
died pre-post COVID

•

Concerns over education, isolation, tensions at home and disruption to services appeared to be
contributing factors in some deaths

•

Children and young people with autism and ADHD appear to be at higher risk, although this did
not increase during lockdown

•

Although the finding of increased risk is unconfirmed statistically, clinicians and services should
be aware of the possible increase and the need for multiagency vigilance and support

Limitations of the data are that child suicides are so rare statistical evidence of a rise is limited, the
time period is short – opportunity to continue monitoring (rapid surveillance data) and the data is
limited – awaiting full Child Death Overview Panel review which takes time but can highlight key
themes.
Risk factors for children and young people included direct exposure and impact, loss / bereavement,
lack of predictability / routine, increased adverse childhood experiences – parental mental health and
substance misuse needs, domestic violence, economic repercussions, loss of protective factors (social
activities, social and teacher support and reduced societal supervision) and impact on health. Possible
presentations included managing the changes and the impact relatively well, deterioration in existing
mental health needs (including children and young people with neurodevelopmental disorders),
development of new mental health response / needs, and a range of symptoms e.g. worry, anxiety,
school phobia, separation anxiety, low mood, sadness, anger, frustration, grief. The importance of
multiagency support was highlighted.
The learning has been taken forward within children and young people’s services as they continue
focus on the needs of young people in the context of a pandemic.

4 Examples of specific actions taken arising from learning from Serious Incidents in respect of
deaths (2020/2021)
4.1 Learning from 2019/2020 Quarter 4 serious incidents
Lesson 1
• Operational Policy
Team operational policies must be updated to include information in relation to Did Not Attend
(DNA) appointments to ensure there is a robust system in place to follow up patients.
• Action taken: Team operational policies updated.
• Assessment of impact of actions: There is now a flowchart in the operational policies with
clear guidance on what is expected when patients do not attend appointments.
Lesson 2

6

118

•
•
•

Joint working
This must take place between Care Co-ordinators and placements.
Action taken: Protocol developed and implemented.
Assessment of impact of actions: Joint working with placement providers is evidenced through
care planning and CPA review.

4.2 Learning from 2020/2021 Quarter 1 serious incidents
Lesson 1
•
•
•

Capacity Assessments
A comprehensive assessment of capacity to be made in line with the interventions being
offered, and clearly documented in the clinical record.
Action taken: Audit of clinical records to evidence that capacity is comprehensively assessed
and documented in the clinical record.
Assessment of impact of actions: Capacity assessments are routinely monitored and discussed
in supervision/MDT meetings.

Lesson 2
•
•
•

Equipment and training
The dissemination of new equipment must run concurrently with staff training and testing.
Action taken: As this was a unique event the evidence will be to share the learning from this
investigation across the organisation to ensure that systems are in place should this type of
event occur again.
Assessment of impact of actions: All wards now have aerosol generating procedure personal
protective equipment with their resuscitation bags and all units have a system to ensure that
staff fit tested for the FFP3 masks are on duty each shift.

4.4 Learning from 2020/2021 Quarter 2 serious incidents
Lesson
•
•
•

Dysphagia training
All staff on the unit must receive training on dysphagia and competency must be assessed.
Action Taken
Training delivered on a number of different dates and attendance recorded.
Assessment of impact of actions: Staff have been provided with all the required information
and processes are in place to ensure that patients are receiving the right types of food in
relation to dysphagia which is monitored by ward managers.
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Author
Accountable
Director
Confidentiality/
FOI status

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund Annual Accounts 2019-20
Sat Dhinsa – Associate Director of Financial Services & Assurance
Azara Mukhtar – Director of Finance

Report Summary

The Trust has completed the compilation of the Charitable Fund Accounts for
2019/20.

N/A

Key highlights:•
•
•

•
•

•
•

Total income of £42k; Total expenditure of £155k; resulting in a net
movement in the year of £114k.
Cash held at the 31 March 2020 equated to £463k.
Charitable fund total of £451k at 31 March 2019 analysed as
o £219k of unrestricted funds
o £232k of restricted funds (limited to a specific purpose)
The transactions of the Charitable Fund were fully consolidated and
reflected in the 2019/20 Trust Group accounts.
An independent examination by Grant Thornton confirmed that there
are no ‘material matters’ arising from the audit and agreed to sign off
the attached accounts which give a true and fair view of the Charity’s
affairs.
The Charitable Fund accounts were reviewed and approved by the
Audit and Risk Committee on the 19 January 2021.
Due to delays in completing the independent examination of the
accounts, as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Trust has been
granted an extension to the accounts filing date with the Charities
Commission. Therefore pending approval by the Trustees (Board of
Directors) these accounts will be submitted by the 31 March 2021 to
the Commission.
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Purpose
(To select
purpose, click on
relevant choice for
drop down box)
Recommendation

Information
Approval

Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

√

√

Decision

The Trust Board as Trustee is asked to:•

Link to strategic
objectives click on
relevant choice for
drop down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework

To Note

Approve the 2019/20 Oxleas NHS FT Charitable Accounts and Letter of
Representation as final for signing

Quality

Workforce

Sustainability

Partnerships

N/A

Briefly outline implications of the recommendations in this report
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Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund (Registered Charity No. 1061424)
The Corporate Trustee presents the Charitable Fund Annual Report together with the Financial Statements for the year ended
31 March 2020 for the registered charity, prepared in accordance with Section 132 (1) of the Charities Act 2011 and The
Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008.
The Charitable Fund operates under a Declaration of Trust dated 17 February 1997. The aim of our Charity is to raise funds and
attract donations that can be used to benefit a wide range of services provided by Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust. These include a
wide range of health care including community services across a variety of locations such as people’s homes, health centres,
schools, prisons and hospitals. The Charitable Fund is an umbrella fund which is made up of 57 individual charitable funds
(2018/19: 57 Funds). Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust is the Corporate Trustee of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund.
In administering the objectives and activities of the fund, the Trustee gives careful consideration to the Charity Commission’s
general guidance on public benefit.
The following Directors of the Trustee are also members of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Board:
Chairman

Andy Trotter

Chief Executive Matthew Trainer

Vice Chair

Steve Dilworth

Deputy Chief Executive Helen Smith (until 30 June 2019)

Non-Executive Directors
th
Seyi Clement (Until 30 Jun 2019)
Steve Dilworth
Stephen James
Jo Stimpson
Yemisi Gibbons
Nina Hingorani-Crain
st
Dr Suzanne Shale (From 1 July 2019)
st
Dr Amlan Basu (From 1 Sept 2019)

th

Executive Board Directors
Dr Ify Okocha
th
Jazz Thind (until 6 January 2020)
Jane Wells
th
Meera Nair (until 17 September 2019)
st
Michael Witney (from 1 September 2019)
th
Rachel Evans (from 18 November 2019)
th
Azara Mukhtar (from 6 January 2020)
st
Iain Dimond (from 1 July 2019)

Trustee recruitment, appointment and induction
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust is the Corporate Trustee of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund. Trustees of Oxleas NHS
Foundation Trust Charitable Fund are appointed from the board of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust.
Key management personnel information
The Trustee has concluded that the Directors of the Trust and the Trust fund Directors comprise the key management personnel of
the charitable funds as they are in charge of:
•
•

Directing and controlling the charitable funds
Running and operating the charitable funds on a day-to-day basis.

The Directors of the Trust give their time freely and did not receive any remuneration during the year. The Directors of the Trust
are required to declare any potential conflict of interests. No conflicts of interest were declared that impacted upon the Charity.
The Directors of the Trust have agreed that no separate committee to manage the Charity is required due to the size of the
Charity. The day-to-day administration and control of the 57 individual accounts that make up the Charity are delegated to
members of Trust staff who are best placed to recognise needs (Fundholders) and are in a relevant post to the Charitable Fund
concerned.
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Individual Funds
No new funds were set up in the year. No funds were closed during the year.
Reserves Policy
Charitable Fund policy states that fund holders should endeavour to ensure that all donations should be expended within two years
of receipt, except where funds are being saved for a specific purpose (either restricted or designated funds). The budget holders
for each Trust fund are responsible for building reserves for their fund should this be deemed necessary, however at present no
funds are saved for this purpose.
Risk Policy
The amount of funds held in respect of Charitable Funds is considered too small to support an investment portfolio. The Corporate
Trustee does not consider there to be any major risks associated with the charitable funds due to the nature of the charitable
activities undertaken. Funds spent during the year will be no more than the balance of reserves held.
Expenditure authorisation limits for Trust fund holders are standardised. This is now in line with the Trust’s signatory authority
matrix. This is to ensure that all expenditure for the Trust is authorised using the same processes throughout the Trust.
The charitable fund is reliant on voluntary income and donations to allow expenditure on charitable activities. If income falls then
the expenditure would have to fall as a result of this. The NHS is also by its nature subject to changes in government policy and
funding decisions, and so there is an inherent risk as a result of any unforeseen changes in the NHS.
Accounting
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust provides accounting facilities for the Trust Funds. Each Charitable Fund has a unique code which is
debited or credited at the time of a transaction. Transactions are processed though the ledger system. Any balance owing to or
from the Fund is transferred between the Trust Fund Account and Oxleas’ bank account during the financial year.
Investment Policy
£450,000 has been reinvested with Lloyds Bank from September 2019 (April 2019: £500,000). Interest in 2019-20 was earned at
0.80% (2018/19: 0.80%).
Financial Review
During the year charitable funds of £42,000 (2018/19: £40,000) were generated, whilst in the same year expenditure totalled
£155,000 (2018/19: £122,000), resulting in net expenditure of £114,000 (2018/19: £82,000). Donations remain a considerable
source of income to the funds with £18,000 of income, with the remainder coming from charitable activities and returns on
investments. Charitable activities represent £155,000 of the expenditure. The charitable funds amount to £451,000 (2018/19:
£564,000), which means that the funds can continue to be expended in line with the above policies.
The General Fund saw income of £10k through donations. The Greenwich Patients OPMH saw a significant movement of 9k
income; the Postgraduate Fund had income totalling £5k. The Bracton Centre Fund had expenditure of £38k (Sensory Rooms &
Garden; Patient Support), Forensic Psychiatry Fund £29k (Training), whilst the Bromley Impatient Funds £13k (Furniture and
communal areas, improving patient and visitor experience) of expenditure.
How to contact us
Further information about particular funds can be obtained from the Senior Financial Accountant, in the first instance. Copies of
the Annual Accounts for Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund can be obtained by writing to the Director of Finance at the
same address.
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Thank you
Service users have benefited greatly from the generosity of family, friends, staff and the wider community who have made
donations to the Trust funds and helped with fundraising efforts. Thank you also to our volunteers, 16 of whom manage our
snack shops. The profits from the shop are put into two Trust funds; one for Adult mental health patients within Oxleas House
and the other being the Trust fund for older people. The funds are used to pay for entertainers on the wards, emergency
clothing and toiletries, and also to keep the gardens in good condition for our patients, visitors and staff. The funds are used to
buy Christmas presents and Easter eggs for our elderly in patients and to fund day trips to various places i.e. seaside trips and
places of interest. We fund BBQs for elderly inpatient wards and pay for themed party days throughout the year. The funds are
also used for certain items of equipment on the ward and for celebrating special occasions for the patients. Funding received
has been used across many funds to provide training and guidance for staff, meaning that the benefits do not solely apply to
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust but to society as a whole.
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Our services cover; in the borough structure of Greenwich, Bexley and Bromley:
• Adult Mental Health (including the interests of those in forensic and prison services)
• Older People Mental Health
• Adult Community Health
• Children and Young People (both mental health and physical health services)
• Learning Disability
• Queen Mary’s Hospital
How we organise ourselves: reference and administrative details
Charity Number
Our registered charity number is 1061424.
Registered Address
The charity is located at:
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Pinewood House
Pinewood Place
Dartford
Kent
DA2 7WG
Our advisers
Independent Examiners
Grant Thornton LLP
30 Finsbury Square
London
EC2A 1AG

Bankers
Lloyds Bank
th
4 Floor
25 Gresham Street
London
EC2V 7HN

Internal Auditor
KPMG LLP
th
8 Floor East
15 Canada Square
London
E14 5GL
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How we manage your donations
The Charity makes grants from both its unrestricted and restricted funds to Trust staff for training purposes and issues other
expenditure in relation to patient welfare, staff welfare and other expenditure. The largest 12 funds also incur an administration
fee from Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust and the independent examination fees, apportioned across the funds by size.
Unrestricted funds: These funds are received by the charity with no particular preference expressed by the donors as to how
the money should be spent, or paid for a designated location but into a fund where there are no restrictions on how this money
should be spent.
Restricted funds: These are funds donated for a specific purpose expressed by the donor into either a new fund created for a
specific purpose or an existing restricted fund and are spent as such.
What we plan to do with your donations: our future plans
The Charitable Fund policy states that fund holders should endeavour to ensure that all donations should be expended within
two years of receipt, and we will continue to ensure that donations are spent on enhancing patient care by funding a wide range
of activities and training over and above the core services and facilities that are funded by the NHS.
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Statement of Trustee responsibilities
The trustees are responsible for preparing the Trustees' Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including
FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland".
The law applicable to charities in England and Wales requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial
year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charity and of the incoming resources and application of
resources of the charity for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the trustees are required to:
- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements;
- observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP;
- make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
- state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed; and
- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charity will continue
in business.
The trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the charity and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Charities Act 2011, the
Charity (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 and the provisions of the trust deed. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the charity and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.
The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the charity and financial information included on the charity's
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Approved on behalf of the Corporate Trustee

Azara Mukhtar
Director of Finance
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
4 March 2021
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Independent examiner's report to the corporate trustee of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund
I report on the accounts of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund (the "charity") for the year ended 31 March 2020,
which are set out on pages 1 to 20
Your attention is drawn to the fact that the charity's trustee has prepared the charity's accounts in accordance with the
Statement of Recommended Practice 'Accounting and Reporting by Charities preparing the accounts in accordance with the
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2015)’ issued in May
2014 in preference to the Statement of Recommended Practice 'Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of
Recommended Practice (revised 2005)' issued in April 2005 which is referred to in the Charities (Accounts and Reports)
Regulations 2008 but has been withdrawn. I understand that the charity's trustee has done this in order for the charity's
accounts to give a true and fair view in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice effective for
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015.
This report is in respect of an examination carried out under section 145 of the Charities Act 2011. This report is made solely to
the charity's trustee, as a body, in accordance with the regulations made under section 154 of the Charities Act 2011. My work
has been undertaken so that I might state to the charity's trustees those matters I am required to state to them in an
independent examiner's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, I do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the charity and the charity's trustee, as a body, for my work, for this report or for the opinions
I have formed.

Respective responsibilities of corporate trustee and examiner
The charity’s corporate trustee is responsible for the preparation of the accounts. The charity’s trustee considers that an audit is
not required for this year under section 144(2) of the Charities Act 2011 and that an independent examination is needed.
It is my responsibility to:
• examine the accounts under section 145 of the Charities Act 2011;
• to follow the procedures laid down in the general Directions given by the Charity Commission under section 145(5)(b) of
the Charities Act 2011; and
• to state whether particular matters have come to my attention.

Basis of independent examiner's report
My examination was carried out in accordance with the general Directions given by the Charity Commission. An examination
includes a comparison of the accounts with the accounting records kept by the charity. It also includes consideration of any
unusual items or disclosures in the accounts, and seeking explanations from you as trustee concerning any such matters. The
procedures undertaken do not provide all the evidence that would be required in an audit, and consequently no opinion is given
as to whether the accounts present a 'true and fair' view and the report is limited to those matters set out in the statement below.
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Independent examiner's statement
In connection with my examination, no matter has come to my attention:
• which gives me reasonable cause to believe that in any material respect, the requirements:
- to keep accounting records in accordance with section 130 of the Charities Act 2011; and
- to prepare accounts which accord with the accounting records; and
- to comply with the applicable requirements concerning the form and content of accounts set out in the
Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008
have not been met, or
• to which, in my opinion, attention should be drawn in order to enable a proper understanding of the accounts to be
reached.

Sarah Ironmonger
Grant Thornton UK LLP
Chartered Accountants
London
[**Date**]
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Statement of Financial Activities for the year ended 31 March 2020
2019/20

2019/20

2019/20

2018/19

2018/19

2018/19

Note

Unrestricted
Funds
£’000

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
Funds
£’000

Unrestricted
Funds
£’000

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
Funds
£’000

Donations

4.1

16

2

18

5

3

8

Other trading activities

4.2

-

14

14

-

19

19

Investment Income

4.3

2

2

4

2

2

4

Other Income

4.4

5

1

6

5

4

9

23

19

42

12

28

40

Income and endowments

Total Income
Expenditure On:
Raising funds

5.1

-

-

-

-

1

1

Charitable activities

5.2

57

98

155

74

47

121

Total expenditure

57

98

155

74

48

122

Net expenditure

(34)

(79)

(114)

(62)

(20)

(82)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(34)

(79)

(114)

(62)

(20)

(82)

Total funds brought
forward

253

311

564

315

331

646

Fund balances carried
forward

219

232

451

253

311

564

Transfers between funds
Net movement in funds
Reconciliation of funds

9
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Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2020
Unrestricted
funds
£’000

Restricted
funds
£’000

Total at 31
March 2020
£’000

Unrestricted
funds
£’000

Restricted
funds
£’000

Total at 31
March 2019
£’000

221

242

463

253

344

597

-

95

95

-

-

-

221

337

558

253

344

597

(2)

(105)

(107)

-

(33)

(33)

Net Current Assets

219

232

451

253

311

564

Total Net Assets

219

232

451

253

311

564

Note

Current Assets
Cash at bank and in hand
Debtors

10

Total Current Assets
Creditors
Creditors: Liabilities falling
due within one year

11

Funds of the Charity
Restricted income funds

12

-

232

232

-

311

311

Unrestricted income funds

13

219

-

219

253

-

253

219

232

451

253

311

564

Total Charity Funds

The notes on pages 12 to 19 form part of these accounts.

Approved on behalf of the Corporate Trustee

Azara Mukhtar
Director of Finance
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
04 March 2021

10
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st

Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ending 31 March 2020

Note

Cash flows used in operating activities:
Net Cash used in operating activities
Interest Income
Net cash used in investing activity
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of
the year
Total cash and cash equivalents at the end of
the year

15
4.3

Year Ended
st
31 March 2020
£000

Year Ended
st
31 March 2019
£000

(138)
4
4

(84)
4
4

(134)
597

(80)
677

463

597

11
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Notes to the Accounts
1

Accounting Policies

1.1

Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with Accounting
and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice (FRS 102), applicable United Kingdom Financial
Reporting Standards (FRS 102) and the Charities Act 2011. The Trustee considers that the going concern basis is an
appropriate basis on which to prepare these financial statements. No significant judgements have been exercised in
preparing the financial statements as none of the charity’s operations require such judgement, similarly there no key
sources of estimation uncertainty.
The charity constitutes a public benefit entity as defined by charities SORP (FRS 102).

1.2

Income
All income is recognised once the Charity has entitlement to the resources, it is probable that the resources will be
received and the monetary value can be measured with sufficient reliability.
When there are terms or conditions attached to income then these terms or conditions must be met before the income is
recognised as the entitlement condition will not be satisfied until that point. Where terms and conditions have not been
met or uncertainty exists as to whether they can be met then the relevant income is not recognised in the year but
deferred and shown on the balance sheet as deferred income. The above applies to all sources of income that appear
on the Statement of Financial Activity, being Donations, Other trading activities, Investment income and Other income.

1.3

Funds structure
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund comprises ‘restricted income’ and ‘unrestricted income’ funds. Where
there is a legal restriction on the purpose to which a fund may be put, the fund is classified in the accounts as a
restricted fund. All ‘unrestricted’ funds can be spent at the Trustee’s discretion. The major funds and material funds
held in this category are disclosed in notes 12 and 13 of the Accounts. The Charity has no ‘endowment funds’.

1.4

Expenditure and irrecoverable VAT
All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under headings that aggregate all costs
related to each category of expense shown in the Statement of Financial Activities. All expenditure is recognised once
there is a legal or constructive obligation committing the Charity to make payment to a third party. VAT is irrecoverable
and is charged against the category of resources expended for which it was incurred

1.5

Analysis of governance and support costs
The Charitable Fund was charged £4,800 by Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust (2018/19: £4,800) to cover the cost of Fund
management and administration as no staff are directly employed by the charity. The charge made by the NHS
Foundation Trust is at a fair open market rate and represents appropriate recharges of staff and non-staff costs to
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust. The cost is apportioned between the largest twelve funds based on individual balances
at the start of the financial year. Governance costs relate to the independent examination fee. The apportioned
governance costs relating to restricted funds are accounted for under restricted funds and the apportioned governance
costs for unrestricted funds are accounted for under unrestricted funds. These costs are included within the total cost of
‘charitable activities’.

12
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1.6

Costs of raising funds
The costs of raising funds are those attributable to raising income for the Charity. They represent fundraising costs.

1.7

Charitable activities
Expenditure on activities for the ongoing benefit of patients and staff are charged directly to Charitable Activities, as are
all costs incurred in the pursuit of the charitable objects of the charity.

1.8

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and in hand is held to meet the day to day running costs of the charity as they fall due.

1.9

Creditors
Creditors are amounts owed by the charity. They are measured at the amount that the charity expects to have to pay to
settle the debt.

1.10

Debtors
Debtors are amounts owed to the charity. They are measured at the amount that the charity expects to receive to settle
the debt.

2.

Prior year comparatives by type of fund
The primary statements provide prior year comparatives in total; notes 4,5,12 and 13 provide prior period comparatives
for the Statement of Financial Activities and the Balance Sheet for each of the types of fund held.

3.

Related Party Transactions
Neither the Corporate Trustee or key management staff or parties related to them have undertaken any material
transactions with Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund during the financial year or received any benefit from
the Charity in payment or kind. Payments to Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust for expenditure incurred on the Charity’s
behalf are made periodically throughout the year, including a payment of £4,800 to Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust for
administration and management costs during the financial year (2018/19: £4,800). In total £100k was owing to Oxleas
NHS Foundation Trust at year end (2018/19: £28k).

4.

Analysis of income and endowment from generated funds

4.1

Income from Donations
Unrestricted
funds
2019/20
Donations
£000
General
Purpose
10
QMH General
5
Other Funds
1
Total
16

Restricted
funds
2019/20
£000

2019/
20
Total
£000

Unrestricted
funds
2018/19
£000

Restricted
funds
2018/19
£000

2018/19
Total
£000

2
2

10
5
3
18

1
3
1
5

3
3

1
3
4
8

Donations from individuals are gifts from members of the public, relatives of patients and staff.
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4.2

Other Trading Activities
Unrestricted
funds
2019/20
Fundraising
Greenwich
Older People
Greenwich
Adults
Total
-

4.3

Restricted
funds
2019/20
£000

2019/
20
Total
£000

Unrestricted
funds
2018/19
£000

Restricted
funds
18/19
£000

2018/19
Total
£000

11

11

-

18

18

3
14

3
14

-

1
19

1
19

Interest Income
£4,000 interest was earned on the Trust Funds for 2019/20 (2018/19: £4,000).
Interest is apportioned between all charitable funds based on their balance at the end of each month throughout the
financial year.

4.4

Other Incoming Resources
Unrestricted
funds
2019/20
£000
Postgraduate
Fund
4
Pharmacy Fund
Child &
Adolescent
Psychotherapy
1
Total
5

Restricted
funds
2019/20
£000

2019/
20
Total
£000

Unrestricted
funds
2018/19
£000

Restricted
funds
2018/19
£000

2018/19
Total
£000

1

4
1

4
-

4

4
4

1

1
6

1
5

4

1
9

2019/20
Total

Unrestricted
funds
2018/19

Restricted
funds
2018/19

2018/19
Total

5.

Analysis of charitable expenditure

5.1

Expenditure on raising funds: fundraising
Unrestricted
funds
2019/20

Fundraising
Expenditure
All Funds
Total

Restricted
funds
2019/20

£000
-

£000
-

£000
-

£000
-

£000
1

£000
1

-

-

-

-

1

1

14
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5.2

Charitable Activities
Unrestricted
funds
2019/20
Patient Welfare
£000
Bracton
Greenwich
Older People
Bromley
Inpatient
13
Other Funds
1
14

Staff Welfare
Forensic
Psychiatry
QMS Training &
Education
Bracton
Other Funds

Other
Expenditure
QMS General
Fund
Forensic
Psychology
Other Funds

Governance
Costs
Total

Restricted
funds
2019/20
£000
33

2019/20
Total
£000
33

Unrestricted
funds
2018/19
£000
-

Restricted
funds
2018/19
£000
-

2018/19
Total
£000
-

25

25

-

9

9

13
71

13
14
85

12
12

4
3
16

4
15
28

29

-

29

-

-

-

2
31

14
4
1
19

14
4
3
50

6
2
23

11
1
12

6
11
3
35

5

-

5

-

-

-

1
3
9

2
2

1
5
11

9
22
31

14
14

9
36
45

3

6

9

8

5

13

57

98

155

74

47

121

Governance costs including a £4,800 for the 2019/20 independent examination fee (2018/19: £4,800) and a £4,800
recharge of administrative costs from Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust (2018/19: £4,800) have also been added to
Charitable activities expenditure in 2019/20, giving the total expenditure of £155,000 in the Statement of Financial
Activities.

6.

Role of Volunteers
We have 16 volunteers who manage our two snack shops, one based in the Memorial Hospital, and one in Oxleas
House. The profits from the shop are put into two Trust funds one for adult mental health patients within Oxleas House
and the other being the Trust fund for Older people. The funds are used to pay for entertainers on the wards,
emergency clothing and toiletries, and to keep the gardens in good condition for our patients, visitors and staff. The
funds are also used for certain items of equipment on the ward and for celebrating special occasions for the patients.

7.

Trustees remuneration, benefits and expenses
The Directors of the Charity’s Corporate Trustee give their time freely and receive no remuneration for the work that
they undertake as trustees. No expenses were claimed by the Directors of the Corporate Trustee in the period.

15
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8.

Independent examiner’s remuneration
The independent examiner’s remuneration of £4,800 (2018/19: £4,800) related solely to the independent examination
with no other additional work being undertaken.

9.

Transfers between Funds
There were no transfers between funds in this financial year.

10.

Analysis of Current Assets

Prepayments
Total

11.

2019/20
Total
£000
95
95

2018/19
Total
£000
-

2019/20
Total
£000
5
100
2
107

2018/19
Total
£000
5
28
33

Analysis of Current Liabilities

Independent examiners’ fee accrual
Amounts due to Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Other Creditors
Total

No special conditions apply to the amount due to Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust.

16
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12.

Analysis of restricted funds
The following funds, shown separately below, are considered material in respect of the size of their opening/closing
balances.

Balance
1 April
2019
£000
Pharmacy*
Bracton Fund*
Greenwich OPMH*
Other funds (20)
Total

Resources
Incoming
Expenditure

£000

69
63
32
147
311

£000
2
10
7
19

Transfers

Balance
31 March
2020
£000

£000
(38)
(26)
(34)
(98)

-

71
25
16
120
232

* The Bracton fund is a reward group for those residents who are working towards giving up the use of illicit substances.
The Pharmacy fund is to provide staff training and welfare, whilst Greenwich Older Peoples Mental Health is to provide
services for Older People in Greenwich using our services.

Balance
1 April
2018
£000
QMS Training & Education*
Pharmacy*
Bracton Fund*
Other funds (20)
Total

18
68
85
160
358

Resources
Incoming
Expenditure

£000

£000
4
1
23
30

Transfers

Balance
31 March
2019
£000

£000
(3)
(23)
(22)
(57)

-

18
69
63
161
311

*The purpose of QMS Training & Education and Pharmacy funds are for staff training only. The Bracton fund is a reward
group for those residents who are working towards giving up the use of illicit substances.
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13.

Analysis of unrestricted funds
Balance
1 April
2019
£000
Forensic Psychology*
Forensic Psychiatry*
Postgraduate*
Other funds (31)
Total

Resources
Incoming
Expenditure

£000

55
29
24
145
253

£000
5
18
23

Transfers

Balance
31 March
2020
£000

£000
(4)
(29)
(2)
(22)
(57)

-

51
27
141
219

*The purpose of Forensic Psychology and Forensic Psychiatry are for research, staff support and education. The
Postgraduate fund is for the further education and training of medical staff.

Balance
1 April
2018
£000
Forensic Psychology*
Forensic Psychiatry*
Postgraduate*
Other funds (31)
Total

69
30
36
180
315

Resources
Incoming
Expenditure

£000

£000
4
4
4
12

Transfers

Balance
31 March
2019
£000

£000
(18)
(1)
(16)
(39)
(74)

-

55
29
24
180
253

*The purpose of Forensic Psychology and Forensic Psychiatry are for research, staff support and education. The
Postgraduate fund is for the further education and training of medical staff.
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14.

Connected Organisations

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust is the Corporate Trustee of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund. Trustees of Oxleas NHS
Foundation Trust Charitable Fund are appointed from the Board of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust.
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust provides services in Greenwich, Bexley and Bromley. In addition, the Trust has expanded the
services that it offers in prisons and forensic services.
Our services cover; in the borough structure of Greenwich, Bexley and Bromley:
• Adult Mental Health (including the interests of those in forensic and prison services)
• Older People Mental Health
• Adult Community Health
• Children and Young People (both mental health and physical health services)
• Learning Disability
• Queen Mary’s Hospital
The Trustee has concluded that the Directors of the Trust and the Trust fund directors comprise the key management personnel of
the charitable funds as they are in charge of:
•
•

Directing and controlling the charitable funds
Running and operating the charitable funds on a day-to-day basis.

The income and surplus/ deficit figures from the consolidated accounts of Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust are summarised below.
The full consolidated accounts can be found at:
http://oxleas.nhs.uk/about-us/trust-publications/

2019-20
Total Income
£000
297,252

15.

Deficit
£000
2,175

Reconciliation of net movement in funds to cash used in operating activities

Net movement in funds
Adjustments for:
Deduction in bank interest shown in investments
Decrease/ (increase) in debtors
Increase/ (decrease) in creditors
Net cash used in operating activities

16.

Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
2018-19
Total Income
Surplus
£000
£000
271,134
5,965

2019/20 Total
£
(103)

2018/19 Total
£
(82)

(14)
(95)
74
(138)

(4)
0
2
(84)

Post Balance Sheet Events
There were no post balance sheet events.
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Ways in which to support our charity
Donations can be made in the following ways:Direct into the bank account
Please contact Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust finance department on 01322 625798 in order to discuss the donation and obtain
our bank details.
By post
Please send a cheque made payable to ‘Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust’ and include on the back of the cheque the funds that
you would like to donate to so that we can arrange an internal transfer from there. Please send this cheque to:
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
Finance Department
Pinewood House
Pinewood Place
Dartford
Kent
DA2 7WG
By donation/fundraising on our behalf
For example by opening a Just Giving page. If you are an individual, group or organisation who is interested in raising money on
behalf of the Charity please contact Oxleas finance on 01322 625798 for help and support with your planned event.
Gift aid
Gift aid allows us to increase the value of your donations at no extra cost to you. For every pound donated to us we can get an
extra 25 pence from HM Revenue and Customs helping your donation go further. The only condition in doing this is that you are
a UK tax payer. In order to allow us to claim Gift aid simply advise us at the time of making your donation and provide us with
your full name and address.
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Pinewood House
Pinewood Place
Dartford
Kent
DA2 7WG
Sarah Ironmonger
Grant Thornton UK
110 Bishopsgate
London
EC2N 4AY
th

4 March 2021

Dear Sirs

Oxleas NHS Foundation trust Charitable Fund accounts for the year ended 31 March
2020
This representation letter is provided in connection with the independent examination of the accounts of Oxleas NHS
Foundation Trust Charitable Fund for the year ended 31 March 2020 for the purpose of making of an independent
examiner’s report in accordance with Section 154 of the Charities Act 2011.

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries as we considered necessary for the
purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:

Accounts
We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of our engagement letter dated 5 April 2019, for the
preparation of accounts in accordance with section 132 of the Charities Act 2011 and comply with the Statement of
Recommended Practice for accounting and reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to
charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic
of Ireland (FRS 102) (‘Charities SORP (FRS 102)’) (effective 1 January 2019), in particular the accounts give a true and
fair view in accordance therewith.
ii

We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control to
prevent and detect fraud.

iii

Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value, are
reasonable.

iv

Except as stated in the accounts:
a. there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent;
b. none of the assets of the charity has been assigned, pledged or mortgaged;
c. there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or non-recurring items requiring
separate disclosure.

v

Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in
accordance with the requirements of the Charities SORP (FRS 102) and any subsequent amendments or
variations to this statement.

1

vi 142 All events subsequent to the date of the accounts and for which the Charities SORP (FRS 102) and any
subsequent amendments or variations to this statement require adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or
disclosed.
vii

The accounts have been amended for misclassifications and disclosure changes and are free of material
misstatements, including omissions.

ix

We can confirm that:
a. all income has been recorded;
b. the restricted funds have been properly applied;
c. constructive obligations for grants have been recognised; and
d. we consider there to be appropriate controls in place to ensure overseas payments are applied for charitable
purposes.

x

The charity has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could have a material effect on the
accounts in the event of non-compliance. There has been no non-compliance with requirements of regulatory
authorities that could have a material effect on the accounts in the event of non-compliance.

xi

We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or classification of assets and
liabilities reflected in the accounts.

xii

Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the
requirements of UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice.

xiii

The charity meets the conditions for exemption from an audit.

Information Provided
xiv

We have provided you with:
a. access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the accounts such as
records, documentation and other matters;
b. additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of your examination; and
c. unrestricted access to persons from whom you determine it necessary to obtain evidence.

xv

We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which we are aware.

xvi

We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the accounts may be materially
misstated as a result of fraud.

xvii

All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the accounts.

xviii

We have disclosed to you our knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the charity involving:
a. management;
b. employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
c. others where the fraud could have a material effect on the accounts.

xix

We have disclosed to you our knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the charity’s
accounts communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators, or others.

xx

We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and
regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing accounts.

xxi

We have disclosed to you the identity of the charity's related parties and all the related party relationships and
transactions of which we are aware.

xxii

We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered
when preparing the accounts.

xxiii

We confirm that we have reviewed all correspondence with regulators, which has also been made available to
you, including the guidance 'How to report a serious incident in your charity' issued by the Charity Commission
(updated in June 2019). We also confirm that no serious incident reports have been submitted to the Charity
Commission, nor any events considered for submission, during the year or in the period to the date of signing of
the balance sheet.
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Yours sincerely

Name: Azara Mukhtar

Position: Director of Finance

Date: 4 March 2021

Signed on behalf Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund
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Board of Directors
4 March 2021
Report Title
Author

Performance and Quality Assurance Committee Report
Yemisi Gibbons, Non-Executive Director
Iain Dimond, Chief Operating Officer
Iain Dimond, Chief Operating Officer
N/A

Accountable Director
Confidentiality/
FOI status
Report Summary

Item
11
Enclosure -

The report gives an update on the Trust Quality Performance and Assurance Committee
highlights and exceptions from the meetings on 20 January and 17 February 2021.
Because of the resurgence of the pandemic at the end of December, it was agreed with
the committee chair that PQAC would review a reduced suite of performance metrics
located on the COVID-19 dashboard and only items requiring a decision would be
tabled.
Highlights from the January and February committee meetings:
•
•
•
•

Purpose
(To select
purpose, click on
relevant choice for
drop down box)
Recommendation

Link to strategic
objectives (click on
relevant choice for
drop down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework
Implications

Performance exceptions
Adult Mental Health Acute Bed Base discussion
Quality Priorities – Patient Safety
Quality Assurance Update

Information

Approval

To Note

√

Decision

√

√

To note the report.

Quality √

Workforce

Sustainability

Partnerships

BAF 1763 serious incident action closures
BAF 1776 HBPOS S136 breaches
BAF 1844 CMHT demand
Briefly outline implications of the recommendations in this report
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Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

Performance and assurance
Performance and assurance
Performance and assurance
Performance and assurance
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Performance and Quality Assurance Committee Report
for January and February 2021
Performance
COVID-19 update
A Covid-19 update was reported and noted at both the January and February committees. In
response to the increase demands on services due to the pandemic the committee agreed to
streamline the agenda as per the first wave. Therefore only the latest update from the Covid-19
dashboard was presented at the January and February committee below.
•
•
•
•
•

•

Three of our inpatients units have reported Covid-19 outbreaks. They have all been
managed well and in accordance with national guidelines and reporting requirements.
As of the 17 February 2021, 72 staff absent with Covid-19 related issues, 27 of those had
confirmed positive diagnosis.
The increase in patient testing frequency in the last month has supported and improved the
early Identification of asymptomatic cases.
Twice weekly self-administered lateral flow tests are being continued for staff.
Nearly 3000 staff have received their first Covid-19 vaccination. Rolling vaccination clinics
were stopped in February due to vaccine supply. In recent weeks two clinics have been put
on where all slots have been filled. The trust is continuing to work with local acute providers
where staff can access vaccines there.
In our Prisons services, at the time of the February committee, there were 69 prisoners with
a positive diagnosis across all prisons that we work with; Wandsworth had the highest rate
within that group.

It was noted in January’s Covid service delivery paper that the trust continue to run business as usual
across most service lines apart from adult community services where, in response to system
pressures, we have prioritised services allowing support to acute providers. The committee
reported that this is very impressive and particularly highlighted 72 hour follow up performance.
Additional thanks and commendation from the committee was noted to the Director of Nursing and
the team for successfully rolling out the vaccination programme so rapidly and also to the Associate
Director of Quality on the SBAR developed for the ethics group and advised that this is now being
used as a template within two external ethics committees.
The following questions were raised by the committee across both meetings:
1. What the Trust’s view in relation to its ability to deliver services via the virtual ward in
services which we have already identified as pushed; to what extent can we deliver long
periods of support to people at home over the next few months.
The virtual ward is a systemic solution that requires the ability of acute physicians and GP’s
to support community services and general practice. The volume of activity for each
pathway under this initiative is capped and has been manageable to date.
Generally speaking we have continued to retain a focus on waits across all service lines, for
example in Children’s services regarding ADHD and ASD; they have clearly thought of ways
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to maintain activity. For Mental Health services there is on-going work to ensure that the
proportion of face to face versus virtual contacts is optimal. We are keeping this under close
review and some core principles have been circulated for implementation.
2. In relation to the Trust’s response to COVID and pressures in the community, how high
risk are district nursing teams for us and did we have an update on how they are coping?
This continues to still be really challenging and we may need to pick this up with the
workforce committee. However, Covid absence is fairly static and there is still a concern we
don’t see an increase in other forms of absence due to the pressure that people are
experiencing, and we may need to look at this. DNs have high caseloads and we are trying
to put boundaries around this and one thing we have negotiated is that DNs won’t have to
undertake vaccinations of people at home. We are deploying continuing healthcare nurses
working from the CCGs to undertake that work and we are monitoring the staffing situation
on a daily basis.
3. What is the Trust position on cohorting patients due to the outbreak in inpatient wards?
The trust operates cohorting in terms of intermediate care via the use of side rooms and
due to the nature of patients’ health conditions we can limit movements and minimise
spread. Mental Health is more difficult to do because not all wards have en-suite facilities
but this has to be considered with the operational difficulties that arise from cohorting.
Most significant is that it can lead to waits for admission in ED. Other mental health
providers have revisited this and many have moved away from that approach. It is
therefore for operational reasons that we haven’t implemented cohorting. The mitigation in
terms of spread is by closing wards to admission. We took this decision through our Gold
meetings and it was signed off as a decision by the ICC. We agreed we will keep it under
review and revisit on a regular basis
4. What is being done about our Learning Disability (LD) patients and people in inpatient and
Mental Health wards who are susceptible or vulnerable?
Vaccination programmes are being started at The Bracton and Memorial sites. Bespoke
vaccinations are also being offered to the older people’s population particularly in MH
wards. We have also offered vaccinations to patients in Atlas.
136 Update
During February, It was reported to the committee that 136 Suite had 41 referrals and 22
admissions. There were two breaches related to bed availability.
The committee requested a comparison graph for the breaches so that this can be tracked month by
month. An action has been agreed to present a more detailed longitudinal analysis at March’s
meeting.
Bed Days Review
In February, the committee noted the continued use of the fifteen contracted beds at the Priory
Roehampton, which were being fully utilised. Some additional private beds have been used and this
has been reducing. This was partly driven by Covid outbreaks within our own wards limiting our
ability to admit. As this improves, the private sector bed usage outside of the Priory will reduce.
Overall we are still reliant on the extra capacity at the Priory as we have 2 wards that remain closed.
It was reported to the committee that over the next few months we will focus on length of stay,
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hoping that we experience fewer outbreaks and that we reach a point where we are assured we
have got good length of stay and optimal admission avoidance through the ongoing development of
a crisis offer. We have entered into a partnership with Hestia to deliver crisis house beds in
Greenwich, which started in early February.
During February’s meeting, the committee raised the following queries and suggestions:
1. What is the long term plan regarding beds.
The executive response was that there is significant investment going into the wider
community beyond Oxleas next year and that one of the biggest challenges to delivering
effective secondary mental health care in the community is the size of caseloads. We are
working with organisations such as MIND, Bridge and Hestia to develop initiatives in the
community which respond to population need and reduce the need for treatment from
CMHTs. In terms of beds, we are not far off the best performing 25% of Trusts in the
country with respect to low bed numbers. We are using private beds partly due to Covid
outbreaks but the biggest problem is the number of patients we have who experience very
long lengths of stay. We are currently not in a position to operate without some private bed
usage. We need to monitor where we are heading and reset the volume of activity
community teams are expected to undertake in order to target their interventions more
effectively and thereby reduce bed use.
2. In relation to keeping wards closed, and moving to develop our community offer, the
committee asked for assurance about the process of change and what would support that.
The committee suggested at this stage it would be helpful to have a road map which
provides the committee with assurance.
3. The committee noted the great partnership working to support District Nursing teams. The
question was asked as to whether it could be made more longer term in order to deal with
caseloads and to help that team. The committee has suggested bringing this back to PQAC
or a different forum every month as it is an issue that needs greater scrutiny.
Enhancing Quality Assurance
Directorate Performance and Quality updates have temporarily been suspended in response to
current service pressures.
Quality Priorities
Quality priorities
A Quarter 3 2020/21 full report was shared and noted by the committee at January’s meeting. The
report detailed all six quality priorities targets and progress and current compliance across the four
quality management framework components, Quality Planning, Quality Control, Quality
Improvement and Quality Assurance.
Patient Experience
In January, the patient experience Support Network Engagement tool (SNET) data report was noted
by the committee. From November 2018 to November 2020 the combined SNET completion rate for
Adult MH and Older Peoples MH was 81% (over target)
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The committee noted the increase and suggested a collection of qualitative data as evidence from
patients and their support network about its impact on the care they are receiving. An audit in
terms of quality is being explored by the Patient Experience team and as a continued approach to
ensuring good practice.
During February’s meeting it was noted that there had been no Trustwide Patient Experience
meeting recently due to Covid and sickness, and colleagues helping out with vaccinations. The data
shared with the committee suggested that lockdown has had an impact across all services, with a
reduction in satisfaction by about 10 points everywhere.
Clinical Effectiveness
Clinical Audit
The committee noted the Clinical Audit update at the January Committee. The paper was in
response to the recent KPMG report received in December 2020 where we received partial
assurance with improvements required. KPMG identified 5 areas and made 5 recommendations and
indicated timescales to complete the improvements.
It was also noted that a full review of the audit process will be conducted. There will be further
development of the audit database to include all audits conducted within Oxleas; a review of the
dissemination processes; action plan completion and review and provision of audit training and
support.
The action plan requires all actions to be completed before September 2021. A progress update will
be shared with the committee for April’s meeting, including an amendment to the report so that
sign off of the annual audit programme will be through PQAC.
Patient Safety
Patient Safety priorities
The patient safety priority reports were presented to the committee in January and February. The
latest data that was presented to the committee is presented below.
i.
Reducing Restraint
During February’s meeting it was noted that the total reported use of restraints has increased, from
37 in November, 40 in December to 66 in January 2021 (32% increase). The reduction in the use of
prone restraint continues to remain low; four prone restraints have been reported in both
December & January, highlighting a 43% decrease. A weekly report continues to be shared with
Directorates to review, monitor and improve performance. In addition to the Directorates receiving
weekly reports, desktop reviews of all prone restraints are now being requested. The Patient Safety
Lead will be attending the Ward Managers Meeting in February to help staff understand the need
for these reviews and also encourage completion. The committee have requested that further
qualitative and research information is required around the experience of restraints within the
BAME community.
ii.
Rapid Tranquilisation
Compliance for December and January was 100% for physical health monitoring following rapid
tranquilisation. However, not all physical health checks were within the timeframes set out in the
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policy, i.e. four checks within one hour. The committee were informed that this is being looked at by
Heads of Nursing, with good progress being made.
iii.
Physical health monitoring
The reporting data for Priorities iii and iv remain under development; Priority iii physical health
monitoring following admission – This Qi project continues to develop data sets for collecting this
information and will be exploring better ways to present the data which will support ownership and
monitoring. It is expected that a total of 6 NEWS are undertaken within 3 days of admission. It was
noted by the committee that this target has not been met and that matrons have been asked to
create improvement plans to address this. Continued work with informatics to improve the
reporting of this metric is on-going.
iv.
Intermediate care assessments/screening
Compliance in January was an average of 83% following a manual audit for both Intermediate care
units. Further development of the metric collection to be automated is currently being developed.
This will enable the teams to have near-real time data.
Serious Incidents
December and January there were a total of 11 serious incidents, 4 in December and 7 in January,
which are being investigated. It was noted by the committee, emerging themes from SI’s are Care
planning, Risk and Communication.
The committee raised a query in relation to the preventing future deaths report what have we done
in response to it? And requested on-going assurance to the committee about what actions are
required from us as a Trust. This was noted and remains to be brought back to PQAC.
Mortality Report
2021/21 Quarters 2 report was presented at February’s meeting, highlighted to the committee that
the figures have been adjusted; Q1 deaths for that period are now 455 probably due to the
pandemic.
MD Action Plan
In February, the committee noted the presentation of the action plan for the serious incident that
occurred on Scadbury ward in February 2020, when a patient was found in the ward communal
bathroom with a ligature (shoelace) tied around his neck which had been attached to the tap,
resulting in death five days later.
The investigation has shown five recommendations. The committed noted that four of the five
recommendations were shared via an embedded learning event with the team, and that feedback
from staff was that this was a helpful and supportive approach. The committee were assured that
other recommendations have been embedded, however, the particular challenges of treating this
patient were not common amongst that patient group. The Deputy Medical Director responded that
in the Older Peoples Care Forum, staff working with older people have recognised that the cohort of
patients that are defined as an older person has changed and that staff have asked for a training
programme so they can develop their skills and competences.
The committee raised the following questions;
1. Whether the embedded learning is rolled out into other wards where incidents could also
happen?
The Directorate have emailed colleagues in other boroughs and information has been
shared through the Trust Patient Safety Group. Other boroughs have provided evidence it
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has been talked about in their local teams and learned from this incident. This has also been
shared at the Older Peoples’ Mental Health Forum and embedded across the organisation.
2. An issue with how action plans are developed out of SIs and suggested to put in
consultative process.
The Director of Nursing plans that recommendations and actions are produced in a
collaborative way, making action plans more usable and meaningful to teams. Associate of
Quality also provided additional assurance that there is a new end to end process being
discussed at Exec and will bring it back to the next PQAC to be discussed in more detail.

Governance
Quality Assurance Update
In January and February, the following reports were noted by the committee. The first provided the
committee with an overview of the CQC enquires and concerns during the reporting period of
01/01/2021 – 31/01/2021, highlighting that we have received ten enquires from the CQC, which is a
significant reduction in the number of enquires to previous months. The committee were made
aware that four of these complaints have been received from patients (two from the same
individual) at HMP Wandsworth. All four complaints correlate and name the other prisoners. They
have raised a concern about timely delivery of medication and attending appointments. These are
currently being investigated as one complaint. Following the investigation to a complaint received
from a patient on Avery ward regarding staff attitude, this has not be upheld, and a response has
been submitted to the CQC with no further action required.
Action plan progress updates for two deaths in custody at HMP Wandsworth which occurred in
March 2020 have been requested for the same timescale. This is in addition to three 72hour reports
relating to a the death in custody at HMP Thameside and two for the same serious incident that
occurred in Greenwich (Mother and Child).
The second paper the committee received was a copy of the full report and response to the two
anonymous letters which raised serious concerns about racism, discrimination, unfair recruitment,
promotion and progression practices and the negative treatment of BAME staff in the Trust. These
actions will contribute to the next well-led review of the Trust.
In response to the warning notice received from the CQC, following the older adult’s mental health
inpatient inspection conducted on the 7 October 2020, the action plan has been sent to the CQC on
22 February 2021. All the warning notice actions have been completed within the allocated
timeframe and progress on the remaining must do actions continues. Evidence will be collected by
the quality assurance team over the next two weeks in preparation to the CQC’s request in receipt of
the report. This evidence will ensure it provides adequate assurance that the actions have been
completed and sustainable change achieved.
The Improving Lives Programme (ILP) has been temporarily suspended due to the current challenges
our services are experiencing in relation to the pandemic, with the aim to commence a full year’s
programme from April 2021. In addition to the ILP, assurance visits across Older Adult inpatient
wards have taken place by the Associate Director for Quality and the QA lead in response to the
ligature risk and shared learning CQC actions. Holbrook, Shepherdleas and Oaktree lodge have all
received at least one visit. Scadbury ward has yet to be visited as the ward has been closed due to
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Covid, however the ward manager did accompany the QA and AD on the visit to Sherpherdleas to
share learning. A virtual meeting with the Matron and Scadbury ward manager has been set up for
the 22 February and an assurance visit planned for the 17 March.
Reports and actions will also be monitored through the monthly Executive Quality Assurance
meetings.
Risk Register
At February’s meeting the committee noted a different form of risk register that is being trialed.
The following points were highlighted to the committee:
1. It was raised to the committee to consider if there was any value to the four risks that
have been on the risk register for some time.
The committed suggested it would be helpful for the Risk Manager to attend the relevant
committee meetings to help think through what we have done and what is outstanding.
The risks can then be reviewed at PQAC, which would mean it will be around 3 months
before this comes back.
2. Whether we should raise a risk around staff non-vaccinations as we have had a risk in the
past about flu vaccinations. The risk is higher particularly with front line staff not having
covid vaccinations.
Noted to raise this at the ICC meeting.
The committee will review the new format and consider the points raised and bring back in the next
quarter.
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Quality Improvement and Innovation Report
Vicky Ellis, Associate Director of Quality Assurance and Improvement
Dr Ify Okocha – Medical Director

Report Summary

The Trust Quality Improvement and Innovation Committee met on the 27th of January
2021 and highlights are as follows;

public

1. Quality Improvement and Innovation in Action
Two Qi projects were presented to the Committee:
Improving Clinicians’ Experience of the Perinatal Service Triage Process
1.1.
Work has been conducted in the specialist community perinatal mental health service,
offering assessment and treatment to women with severe and complex mental illness
during their pregnancy and up to 12 months post natal. The aim for this project is ‘to
improve clinicians’ experience of the triage process; to reduce the time spent on the
service triage process by 20% by September 2020’. The team consists of consultant
psychiatrists, psychologists, specialist nurses, nursery nurses, occupational therapist
and administrators working jointly with midwives and obstetricians.
The service offers a range of therapeutic interventions to women as well as advice and
guidance around the use of psychotropic medications in pregnancy. An overall
improvement occurred in outcomes of more than 20%.
Further questions were asked by the committee on how this will be scaled up and
spread across the other applicable teams. Next steps include continuing to empower
and support staff with the triage process and involving service users in shaping and
developing the service. Recommending future service changes following the model for
improvement.
Improving physical health monitoring in the Forensic Outreach Team
1.2.
Work is to be conducted in the Forensic Community Outreach Team care, which cares
for around 60 service users. The team was successful in their bid to SLP so the service
has secured funding for dedicated staff to get the service up and running (£22k in year
one, £17k in year two).
The aim for the project is ‘for 80% of Forensic Outreach Team patients to have an
annual physical health check to internally agreed standards by September 2021
(Currently 11.5% recorded on RiO)’, with a number of key change ideas identified after
exploring the problem.
No data has been collected yet as the clinic will be running from April onwards if Covid
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restrictions are lifted. Further questions were asked by the committee on ensuring that
the pathway of care is completed, so to include primary care in the project.
2. Directorate Update
Greenwich directorate Qi programme update. There are currently 17 active projects, 7
proposed, 13 completed and 52 discontinued (some due to Covid).
Recent successes that the Greenwich Directorate has experienced
• Staff member awarded a Royal College of Nursing Rising Star award
• Woolwich District nurses presented the Handover Project at the Qi South West
conference.
• Two projects that are due to complete at the end of January are already
starting the scale up and spread journey.
Recent challenges the directorate has faced and requests for support from the Qii
Committee:
• Support encouraging staff to do projects that align with business plan and
organisational priorities.
• Establishing a clear process for how Qi projects are shared to encourage
• Supporting the directorate with senior leaderships training on Qi.
3. Qi programme update - Embedding a culture of continuous quality improvement
There are 59 active projects across the trust: 45 planned projects yet to commence or
projects paused due to COVID-19 that are planned to restart, 50 completed projects.
This is a total of 154 projects around end of December.
1053 staff trained to date, represents 28% of the Oxleas substantive workforce (3,800
staff). Directorate training figures were also provided but it is important to note that
they do not account for staff turnover, and where a staff member attends multiple
instances of Qi Training they are counted multiple times in these figures.
Regarding projects with service user involvement there has been more focus on ‘Little I’
improvement based projects. Increasing service user and carer involvement is a Qi team
objective for 2020/21.
Virtual ‘Intro to Qi ‘training has been developed and sessions are available to book on
the Oxleas Learning Centre. Co-produced Qi training for service users/carers was
completed in February with plans to start testing in March. This work has now
recommenced and plans for a virtual, co-facilitated offering are being discussed.
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Report Summary

Key highlights:-

N/A

Financial Performance to Month 10 (January 2021)
• SEL ICS is currently forecasting to generate a surplus for this financial
year as opposed to the planned forecast deficit of £18m, and this
favourable movement is replicated nationally across all ICS and STPs. As
a result, all ICSs and STPs are now being monitored against a breakeven
plan. Consequently the Trust is no longer required to deliver a stretched
target of £1.0m surplus. The Trust has therefore reverted to the original
plan of breakeven at year end. The adjusted position is now £3.4m deficit
(excluding Profit on Asset Sales) against a revised YTD breakeven plan.
The deficit is driven by the reversal of the £2.8m accrual for retained
services from NHSE in our block payments, as per guidance from SEL ICS
and London Region, and the inclusion of the potential year end
movement for annual leave accrual. The above reversal of £2.8m NHSE
shortfall in payment for retained services will only impact M10 YTD/FOT.
This is to highlight the issue on the national consolidation. There is an ICS
solution in place which will be enacted in M11 if the national position is
not resolved favourably.
• The Trust reported £1.1m C-19 related expenditure in January and £7.7m
YTD. As expected cover spend on backfill for staff on sick leave has
returned to the levels seen during the first wave. However, there was
also an element of cost adjustments resulting from Healthroster that
were not finalised in good time for the payments to hit last month (c.
£0.25m). Further work is being carried out with managers to ensure this
is not repeated at year-end.
• There was continued high usage of urgent and emergency admission
beds (UEAs) in both acute and PICU in January. A total of 607 acute bed
days were utilised in the private sector in January (second highest
demand since we started recording UEAs). This equates to a c20 bedded
unit with a total spend of c. £340k in one month. Male PICU reported a
73% increase compared to last month. This is partly due to the wards
closed to new admissions related to C-19 outbreaks as we are currently
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•

•

•

•

not able to step service users down from PICU to Acute wards.
Wards are still experiencing higher acuity and resultant increased
observations, but overall wards are living within budgets.
The Provider Collaboratives reported a breakeven position after
providing for £340k). The Complex Care budget was underspent by
£0.19m however as any underspends are shared equally across the three
SLP trusts this has also broken even.
Pay spend was overspent in M10 and was £0.3m higher than prior
month. This was in line with our forecast (covering our response to the
current surge in C-19).
The CIP target for 2020/21 is £13.5m; half of this was met nonrecurrently as a result of the block and top-up arrangement. As part of
the internal CIP arrangement, a parallel tracker is provided to report on
the delivery of CIPs in the second half of the year.
Profit on the sale of the Upton road property was £1m.

Bids and Tenders update:
Gatwick - This bid was discussed at the Part 2 Board meeting on 4 February
2021. It was noted at the meeting that there may be some minor movement of
the financials presented, in particular a requirement to submit a breakeven
position on the bid. The bid was approved at the Board subject to such minor
changes. The Committee received a copy of the final bid, submitted 11 February
2021, with the changes made since the Part 2 Board meeting version
highlighted.
Kent & Medway Prisons – The Committee received a progress paper on the
current status of the bid. There is future sessions scheduled to give the
Committee robust scrutiny of the bid before submission on 14 April 2021.
Startwell – We are on track to transfer the service at the end of March.
Greenwich – The Committee was briefed on the initial conversations we have
had with the Greenwich Commissioners. We are awaiting details of the reprocurement from NHSE.
MH Acute bed block booking – Priory contract extension.
The Committee supported the request for a six month contract extension of the
Priory contract.
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1177 – Non achievement of savings plans
1292 – Funding of AfC uplift for staff employed under LA contracts
1565 – Collective responsibility within for STP within the SEL footprint
1606 – Reliance on non-Oxleas beds
1877 – Financial risk relating to COVID-19
1914 – Local Authority contracts for integrated and embedded services
The aspiration to deliver high quality care may be compromised
Unless the Trust is able to deliver services within the defined levels of
funding and meet its Control Total, there would be greater financial scrutiny
from the Regulator
Service user and carer experience and support may be reduced with safety
being the key focus. Staff morale may be impacted.
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Financial Overview
160

CT

The financial improvement trajectory assigned to the Trust is to deliver a breakeven position for the 2020/21 financial year. The revised M7 to 12 system
trajectory is to delivered a £1m surplus at the end of the year.
For the 10 months to the end of January 2021 the Trust delivered a £3.4m deficit (excluding Profit on Asset Sales) against a revised YTD
System plan of ££0.67m (original Trust YTD plan of breakeven). Full year forecast has been revised to delivering a breakeven.

M10
YTD

FOT

CIPs

Key highlights:• SEL ICS is currently forecasting to generate a surplus for this financial year as opposed to the planned forecast deficit of £18m, and this favourable
movement is replicated nationally across all ICS and STPs. As a result, all ICSs and STPs are now being monitored against a breakeven plan.
Consequently the Trust is no longer required to deliver a stretched target of £1.0m surplus. The Trust has therefore reverted to the original plan of
breakeven at year end. The adjusted position is now £3.4m deficit (excluding Profit on Asset Sales) against a revised YTD breakeven plan. The deficit is
driven by the reversal of the £2.8m accrual for retained services from NHSE in our block payments, as per guidance from SEL ICS and London Region,
and the inclusion of the potential year end movement for annual leave accrual. The above reversal of £2.8m NHSE shortfall in payment for retained
services will only impact M10 YTD/FOT. This is to highlight the issue on the national consolidation. There is an ICS solution in place which will be
enacted in M11 if the national position is not resolved favourably.
• The Trust reported £1.1m C-19 related expenditure in January and £7.7m YTD. As expected cover spend on backfill for staff on sick leave has returned
to the levels seen during the first wave. However, there was also an element of cost adjustments resulting from Healthroster that were not finalised in
good time for the payments to hit last month (c. £0.25m). Further work is being carried out with managers to ensure this is not repeated at year-end.
• There was continued high usage of urgent and emergency admission beds (UEAs) in both acute and PICU in January. A total of 607 acute beds were
utilised in the private sector in January (second highest demand since we started recording UEAs). This equates to a c20 bedded unit with a total spend
of c. £340k in one month. One of the main reasons was the closure of wards due to C-19 outbreaks. Male PICU reported a 73% increase compared to
last month. This is partly due to the wards closed to new admissions related to C-19 outbreaks as we are currently not able to step service users down
from PICU to Acute wards.
• The wards are still experiencing higher acuity and the need for increased observation however the overall ward budgets are still living within budgets.
• The Provider Collaboratives reported a breakeven position after providing a breakeven provision of £340k. The Complex Care budget was also
underspent by £0.19m however as any underspends are shared equally across the three SLP trusts this has also been broken even.
• Overall pay spend was overspent in M10 and was £0.3m higher than prior month. This was in line with our forecast (covering our response to the
current surge in C-19).
• The CIP target for 2020/21 is £13.5m; half of this was met non-recurrently as a result of the block and top-up arrangement. As part of the internal CIP
arrangement, a parallel tracker is provided to report on the delivery of CIPs in the second half of the year.
The revised SEL ICS regional financial improvement trajectory is for the Trust to deliver a £1.0m surplus. This position assumes that the Trust will live
within the forecast position submitted and approved by the SEL ICS on 5 October 2020. The SEL ICS has set the Trust a further stretch target of £3.5m
surplus. The Trust cannot commit to any movement from £1m surplus until the NHSE funding discussions are concluded. The current FOT is subject to the
favourable resolution of the shortfall in payments from NHSE for PCs retained services
The Trust will continue to pursue transformational programmes such that there will be CIPs schemes to mitigate the £13.5m recurrent gap by the end of
2
this financial year. This will be driven by the TPEG group.

161 Overview continued….
Financial

Risks

The cost of AfC pay deal for staff working in LA contracts has not been reflected in the LA contracts. This is an on-going conversation with the various
LAs. The phase 3 contract and payment guidance assumes that LAs have been fully funded for this cost. We will continue to work with our LA partners
to resolve this funding issue. The severe financial impact on LA finances of the pandemic means that LAs will struggle to pay these awards in an
environment where they are looking to reduce services. The financial risk in the first 6 months was mitigated by the top-up framework and the risk in
the second half of the year was reflected in our full forecast outturn.
Emerging risks
• In June 2019, the Court of Appeal ruled in favour of NHS employees working for East of England Ambulance Service in the case – N Flowers and others
V East of England Ambulance Trust. The finding was that staff who regularly undertake overtime or work beyond their normal shifts should have these
hours taken into account when calculating holiday pay. HR colleagues have confirmed this is only applicable to substantive staff undertaking bank
/overtime shifts; estimated pressure of £0.6m. The Trust involved has instructed their legal team to seek leave to appeal to the Supreme Court on both
the contractual and WTD issues. This would lead to a further period of uncertainty until the legal process concludes. Oxleas has so far notified NHSI of
the potential impact on the Trust finances.
• Operating a year-on-year I&E position with an underlying deficit (offset by non-recurrent support) will have an impact on future cash balances and
thereby the Trust’s ability to meet the proposed future capital expenditure plan.

Capital

A new approach to capital spend has been introduced this financial year which allocates each STP/ICS a capital envelope. The SEL ICS has been allocated
£175.7m for 2020/21 which is £160m below the system’s original submission. GSTT (£20m), KCH (£10m) and LGT (£5m) have all agreed to reduce their
planned spend enabling the SEL ICS to meet its allocated envelope. For the Trust this included a capex spend of £20.1m. Due to slippage as a result of
the pandemic, the Trust has further revised it’s forecasts for total capex for 20/21 and reduced it to £15.6m, principally due to delays within the QMH, IT
infrastructure projects, purchasing Microsoft licences on a subscription basis rather than as an outright purchase and delays at Green Parks House.
However delays have continued to affect these programmes such that YTD spend is currently £2.4m less than the revised YTD plan, mainly due to
slippages within the Estates programme. The Trust, with SEL ICS support, has brought forward £1.6m 2021/22 spend into 2020/21, increasing the total
forecast expenditure for the year to £17.3m.

Cash

Better
payment
Practice
code

•

Total cash held was £126.6m against a plan of £56.2m (excluding Charitable funds) at the end of January 2021. £23.3m of this additional cash was due
to block payments received from NHSE/CCGs in respect of February. A further £14.5m has been deferred as follows: £6.4m for the Provider
Collaboratives for Adult Secure Services, £3.3m SLP Forensics Income, £3.6m Transformation Funding and £1.2 Specialist Community Forensics Team
funding. The remaining cash surplus is due to movements in working capital, including £6.7m arising from delayed capital expenditure compared to the
original plan and £1.4m from an unplanned sale of an asset. Our pre Covid-19 medium term cash plan, once we have allowed for further capital
commitments, will allow the Trust to hold cash reserves of approximately £24m. This reflects the cash buffer required to ensure the Trust is able to
support and manage its day to day operations (salaries; creditor payments etc.) for an approximate period of 2 months and not experience any issues
with liquidity. It should be noted that this was prior to the Trust becoming the host organisation for the Adult Secure Services for South London.
The public sector payments target is that 95% of invoices are paid within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice. In Jan, 86% of invoices by volume
and 93% by value were paid within the target. This represents a deterioration compared to Dec, when 94% by volume and by value were paid within the
target. The main driver for the reduction was an increase in the time taken for invoices to be authorised due to the effects of the pandemic which has
3
seen an increase in staff sickness.
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Statement
of Comprehensive Income

•

Income: £11.8m ahead of plan
• Activity income line includes the block and prospective top-up payments received.
The position also reflects the M7 to 12 SEL ICS system allocation (covering C-19
spend, all the cost pressure items) with offsetting spend in pay and non-pay.
• Total retrospective income received by the end of M6 was £5.2m
• £2.6m of the over-performance relates to QMH; this is mainly pass-through income
for drug spend and has an equal and opposite amount in non-pay.
• Overseas patient income is also over-performing, running at 90% capacity.
• YTD position excludes NHSE shortfall in payments for retained services (£2.8m, full
year £4.2m).

•

Pay: £2.4m overspend
• The overall pay spend in January is £0.3m higher than prior month. This is in line
with our forecast expectation as we see additional staff cover both for staff who are
currently off on sick leave and additional staffing requirements to cover for
additional activity; particularly in wards where we have seen C-19 outbreaks.
• The main staffing movement is in Bank, where spend is the highest we have seen
in the last 24 months. There is anecdotal evidence to suggest that some of the
increased spend relates to catch up on Healthroster finalisation. Further work will
be carried out to understand this.
• The wards continue to see increasing levels of acuity and observations however
overall spend is in line with budget.
• The Trust has so far incurred £7.7m in response to COVID-19. 70% of this relates
to pay.

Overview
SEL ICS is currently forecasting to generate a surplus for this
financial year as opposed to the planned forecast deficit of £18m, and
this favourable movement is replicated nationally across all ICS and
STPs. As a result, all ICSs and STPs are now being monitored against
a breakeven plan. Consequently the Trust is no longer required to •
deliver a stretched target of £1.0m surplus. The Trust has therefore
reverted to the original plan of breakeven at year end. The adjusted
position is now £3.4m deficit (excluding Profit on Asset Sales) against
a revised YTD breakeven plan. The deficit is driven by the reversal of
the £2.8m accrual for retained services from NHSE in our block
payments, as per guidance from SEL ICS and London Region, and
the inclusion of the potential year end movement for annual leave
accrual. The above reversal of £2.8m NHSE shortfall in payment for
retained services will only impact M10 YTD/FOT. This is to highlight
the issue on the national consolidation. There is an ICS solution in •
place which will be enacted in M11 if the national position is not
resolved favourably

Non-pay: £12.9m overspend
• £2.6m of this relates to pass-through drug expenditure in QMH
• The main driver for the adverse variance is the unachieved CIP target. This
represents £1.13m variance each month and £11.3m YTD.
• The cost of private beds (UEAs) continues to represent a key cost driver in our
non-pay spend – on average 20 additional acute beds in January, including the
Priory block booked beds, were utilised each day in the private sector during
January - £340k.
• Includes £0.6m of movements in provision for annual leave
Agency Cap: agency spend now stands at 42.6% below the NHSI assigned threshold; a
slight reduction in actual spend compared to last month. The agency panel continues to
meet to scrutinise requests for all non-nursing roles. The expectation is this cost line will
increase as we work through the waiting time initiative activity and reopen our services;
4
however this will be dependant on available supply of agency staff.
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Statement
of Financial Position

Debt summary
•

Total Trade Receivables stands at £11.3m, a decrease of £0.5m from Dec and a decrease of £4.7m from year end. A
further £0.7m has been received in February.

•

Debt > 90 days £4.1m compared to £4.7m in Dec and £3.1m at year end.

•

Material debts that are a cause for concern and / or an area of concerted effort are noted below:
 RBG: £1m Integrated Therapies queried over incorrectly issued PO number, and reablement services. The Finance
team and service director are liaising with RBG to resolve these issues.
 SLAM: £0.3m UEA charges disputed on the grounds of “Who pays” guidance. This issue relates to CCGs and SLAM
disputing who has ultimate responsibility for the patients. £0.2m has since been received in Feb in respect of these
patients and arrangements have been made to clear the remaining invoices.
 LGT: £0.3m (£0.2m QMH £0.1 Bexley Paediatrics drug recharges).
queries including £2.3m owed by the Trust to LGT over 90 days.

On-going discussions with LGT to resolve

 Bridges Healthcare Services: £0.3m. Debtor entered into voluntary liquidation. The latest liquidator report
indicates that there are insufficient assets to repay anything towards this debt. A meeting is scheduled this month
with Trust solicitors to discuss the available options.
Current Liabilities
•

Creditors included £30.1m block payments relating to February which were received in January. £23.3m was received as
part of NHSE Covid-19 measures and £6.4m in respect of the Provider Collaborative on Adult Secure Services. These
receipts are treated as deferred income.

Payments
• The public sector payments target is that 95% of invoices are paid within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice. In
Jan, 86% of invoices by volume and 93% by value were paid within the target. This represents a deterioration compared
to Dec, when 94% by volume and by value were paid within the target. The main driver for the reduction was an
increase in the time taken for invoices to be authorised due to the effects of the pandemic which has seen an increase in
staff sickness.

5

Capital
Investments
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QMH Redevelopment
Foxbury – Discussions still ongoing regarding Phase 3 extension of ward.
Demolition of A Block: - No change :- Options appraisal has been submitted,
examining demolition verses refurbishment, Feasibility to relocate Pinewood
House, provide a training suite and diagnostic centre being examined. SLP
Program manager completing capacity gap analysis for diagnostic requirements
across our sector
Main Building Works level 3&4: - Works to locate Diabetes from A block to
level 2 B Block are now completed and teams have occupied. Works to
accommodate various admin teams on level 3 are completed and teams have
occupied.
Lifts modernisation: - Lifts in operation, minor building works being
completed
Alliance Medical – . Construction has started on site, with completion due
August 2021
Theatres – Phase 1 completed on time and contractor has now moved to phase
2, possible delay to phase 2 due to equipment supply issues
Key Highlights
•

In May, NHSE/I advised that the level of planned capital spend for 2020/21 would
now be derived from a STP/ICS system level allocation, to provide clearer and
more transparent links between local spending plans and national spending limits.
The SEL ICS has been assigned £175.7m for 2020/21 with the Trust allocated
£20.1m of this funding against an initial plan of £23m.

•

The impact of the Covid-19 measures continue to delay the capital programme,
with slippages in both the QMH and IT Infrastructure projects. The plan has been
revised multiple times and resulted in BAU projects reduced to £15.6m for 20/21.
However actual BAU YTD expenditure is still £2.4m less than the revised YTD plan
with continued slippages within the various programmes

•

In response to the on-going pandemic it was agreed in December to bring forward
into 20/21, £1.6m of expenditure relating to Agile Working, originally been planned
for 21/22, increasing the planned expenditure for the current year to £17.3m

Pharmacy Dispensary – works completed and the team has moved.
A Block Asbestos strip out - Tender documents completed and ready to be
sent to tender.
Creation of new storage facility- Design underway to convert old pharmacy
office area into main store.

6
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Risk Register

Financial risks scoring 8 or above and not yet achieving ‘target’ risk rating have been included in this section. The table below represents the
latest position of LIVE risks ratified at the January 2021 meeting of the Business Committee.

7
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 CYP: £857k underspend YTD
The directorate has maintained a stable workforce and associated pay costs this month. There has been a lot of work identifying funding allocated to CAMHS
services and this was released into the budget to match off with current recruitment which will flow through in the next month or two. The directorate
identified further elements of the Young Greenwich contract relating to sub-contracting costs that will not be incurred in the current year and which have
now been deferred 2021/22.
 Forensics: £55k underspend YTD
The position is largely driven by income over-performance in overseas patients (OVT). Bed occupancy has since reduced compared to prior month due to
patient discharge; although there are 3 referrals in the pipeline. The OVT income is partially offset by TILT beds under-occupancy, which has improved
recently due to the NHSE funded support plus programme. The service continues to use temporary staffing cover to manage increased observation and
vacancies. Non-pay overspend is largely driven by catering and security costs. Additional security cover was needed to provide escort for the estates work
done in Hazelwood ward.
 South London Partnership (PCs): Breakeven
At the end of the M10, the Adult Secure service Provider Collaboratives reported a breakeven. This is after putting through an adverse adjustment of £340k
to breakeven. Variance on income is driven by income from the North London Provider Collaboratives for the use of SLP beds and also the pass-through
payment of beds commissioned from Independent sector providers via SLP. In terms of the cost drivers, we are currently reporting significant overspend in
the St Andrew’s cost line compared to plan as well as an overspend in the Extra package of care budget lines.
 Complex Care: Breakeven
At the of the third month the 100% Health only is reporting an underlying position of £190k underspend. This has been adjusted to a breakeven as it is an
SLP wide service and any underspend will be shared on a three way equal split.
 Prisons: £2,451k underspend YTD
The position is mainly driven by non-pay underspend - lower than normal escorts and bed watches, constant watches as well as drugs costs; this is a result
of operational changes (fewer transfers in and out of the prisons) following C-19. The drugs cost reduction is partly driven by reduction in the use of patent
drugs following the availability of approved and cheaper generic drugs. Vacancies across the clusters are being covered with temporary staffing. Within
Greenwich cluster, bank spend increased significantly in-month; this is being investigated. Overall, the financial impact of using temporary staff is managed
through a more efficient rostering system.
 Adult LD: £533k underspend YTD
Income is £24k favourable in month due to a new admission to Atlas House. In month pay spend is higher than the trend by £43k mainly due to additional
bank usage at Atlas House and new starters. Non-pay is £2k higher than the trend in month due to training expenses and Drugs (Greenwich) & FP10s
(Bromley).
 Greenwich: £2,052k overspend YTD
Income £54k higher than trend due to MSK income data cleansing exercise. YTD adverse variance is mainly due to Oaktree Lodge, MSK and Podiatric Surgery
underperformance. Pay is £121k higher than trend mainly due to AHP recruitment for Falls and Frailty, Medical staff costs (Consultants recruitment in CASH
and OPMH) and Nursing costs for substantive staff recruitment within DN teams. Non-Pay is £63k worse than trend mainly due to the increase in OBDs within
Male PICU (5 patients stayed for the whole month). It is suggested that the closure of Maryon ward has contributed to the increased demand for private
beds. Further analysis indicates that the borough is currently not living within the revised bed capacity of 40 beds. In the first 10 months, the borough used
2,886 more beds over the revised capacity (this is inclusive of UEA activity). On average an additional 10 beds every month.
 Bexley: £2,310k underspend YTD
Income was up slightly this month due to private patient income in Lesney ward. Pay was adjusted downwards following the planned review of health roster
records for bank and agency with one of the teams meaning more covid-19 staff costs were identified and claimed for which is in line with the sickness
reports previously submitted. Non-pay was up in month due to an adjustment for home oxygen spend and ward-based items such as catering
 Bromley: £1,052k overspend YTD
Income - YTD over performance of £838k largely relates to funding for Perinatal and Autism services and Non BBG invoices that are now all coded to
Bromley for ease of quantifying. The income is offset by appropriate pay and non-pay costs.
Pay reported a breakeven in month and £93k overspend YTD largely driven by activity. Non-Pay overspend in month and YTD is mainly due to UEA costs and
the acute inter-borough recharge. Bromley has used 3,034 more beds over the revised capacity of 39 beds at GPH (35) and the TARN (4), this is inclusive of
UEA activity. This equates to an additional 10 beds every month.
 HQ Services: £731k underspend YTD
The underspend is driven by realignment of Health Education England budgets following the receipt of the complete pack with funding details and names of
staff being funded this year. Until M10 the overall HEE budgets were based on 19/20 allocations. Compared to 19/20 Q4 confirmed funding is £0.5m greater
than last year’s allocation. This favourable movement more than offset the rising monthly overspend in Informatics (driven by computer and software
licensing spend associated with N365).
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Appendix
2 – Provider Collaboratives
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 6 months Budget £39.77m
•

Overall position is underspend by £340k at the end of
M10. This is mainly driven by the additional income
billed to North London (NL) £570k covering 4 months.

•

To breakeven, the position was adjusted by £340k.

•

Reported breakeven position across the SLP trusts;
invoices based on contract values.

•

Independent sector providers are currently overspend
by £350k at the end of M10, primarily driven by
activity over-performance in both St Andrews and
EPOC patients at Cygnet.
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Appendix
3 – Agency Analysis

Targeted approach to teams with high
agency spend remains in place with the
agency taskforce regime reinstated as and
when required.
The weekly agency control panel continues
to review all agency requests for clinical
and non-clinical. The only exception relates
to inpatient nursing roles and pharmacy
where the judgement is undertaken locally.

•

2020/21 – agency ceiling remained unchanged from 2019/20.
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169
Appendix
4 – Bank Analysis

Higher bank spend from July to October reflects
increasing levels of acuity and observations in our
in-patient wards. We have also seen activity in
some services returning back to the levels seen
pre-COVID.

There was a significant drop in spend in May and June compared to prior months. The key staffing category with significant reduction in cost is nursing.
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Appendix 5 – UEAs
The table below sets out the Acute and PICU Commissioned and Occupied bed days utilised by each borough in the month. There are varying risk shares
between the BBG commissioners and the table sets out the overspend risk share attributable to Oxleas. The is superseded by the block/top-up and now M7 to
12 financial framework agreed for 2020/21.

UEA activity(Private beds) come at a premium compare to bed days delivered in the wards. On average 40% and 15% for acute and PICU respectively. Total
spend also includes observation/specially cost and patient transportation. The position above includes activity at the Priory.
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Appendix
6 – COVID-19 monthly spend
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Monthly spend by cost category
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Appendix
7 – Cash Bridge

Cash balances
Cash balances were £70.4m higher at M10 than originally planned.
The largest drivers for this are the Block Contracts for which we have received £23.4m held in
deferred income for the main block contracts plus a further £6.4m in respect of the Provider
Collaboratives These advance payments also have a further impact on cash through working
capital as they avoid the need for raising invoices has helped reduce Trade Receivables which
are £1.9m lower than planned. Additional Deferred Income received including that received for
SLP and Transformation, accounts for a further £8.1m of the additional cash.
Slippages within capex due covid has added a further £3.6m of cash compared to the plan
whilst the remaining £20m is due to in an increase in payables compared to the plan, split
between an increase of £8m in accrued expenses and £21m in trade payables compared to the
14
original plan.
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Appendix
10 – Forecast Analysis

Income includes Profit on asset sales and interest receivable. This is reported after EBITIDA in the “Statement of Comprehensive income” page.
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Author

Update from the Partnership Committee
Sally Bryden, Associate Director Corporate Affairs and Trust Secretary
Susan Owen, Risk and Governance Manager
Accountable Director Jo Stimpson, Non-executive Director and Chair of the Partnership Committee
Matthew Trainer, Chief Executive
Confidentiality/
N/A
FOI status
Report Summary

The trust Partnership Committee last met on 9 February 2021. Key highlights to note
are as follows.
Bexley Care section 75 update
The Covid-19 pandemic has impacted on both the trust and the council, so the
timescales for agreeing the new s75 agreement and partnership agreement have been
revised. The current proposal is to present the documents to the Executive Team on
the morning of 13 April 2021, the trust Partnership Committee on the afternoon of
Tuesday 13 April 2021, and to the Board of Directors on 6 May 2021.
Home First update
The focus of Home First is on re-ablement and admission avoidance, with an outcome
to use less bedded capacity in intermediate care settings. It was agreed that the nonexecutive directors should be invited to a wider session to be appraised of the plans,
and for the committee then to receive a further proposal on the aspects that are
specific to Oxleas, such as finance, workforce and quality
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust
The assessment suite in the emergency department (ED) has been very successful.
There has been a clear and sustained decline in number of people referred to mental
health liaison teams. There is also a marked and sustained shift in the number of
admissions to in-patient beds. There has been an increase in calls to the crisis line and
we will need to refine the model of joint working and understand what this means for
community teams. The quality of local relationships has materially improved. There
still remains a cultural issue with the perception of people with mental health needs in
EDs and we will need to do more to work jointly to build bridges. Attendances appear
to be reducing, and we will need to understand the impact of primary care. The
changes made at start of pandemic continue to be valuable.
ICS update
Some meetings had been stood down during the pandemic, but are re-commencing
from February 2021.
SLP update
The new Deputy Director for the SLP is in post. A risk register for the SLP is being
developed, including a shared Risk Assurance Framework. An update on the complex
care pilot is to be brought the March SLP meeting.

175

Purpose
(To select
Information
purpose, click on
relevant choice
for drop down
Approval
box)
Recommendation For the Board of Directors to note.
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Quality √

Workforce √

To Note

√

Decision

Sustainability √

Partnerships √

1565: Collective responsibility for delivery of SE London STP control total
1914: Local Authority contracts for integrated and embedded services
Briefly outline implications of the recommendations in this report
The Partnership Committee will consider how new and existing partnerships
will improve the quality of care provide by the trust and the SLP
The Partnership Committee will consider the financial impact of existing
partnerships, and financial risks of entering into new partnerships
The Partnership Committee will ensure that new and existing are in line with
the equality and diversity priorities of the trust
The Partnership Committee will consider how new and existing partnerships
will improve patient, carer, and staff safety / experience; and the workforce
implications of partnerships
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Infrastructure Committee Minutes (Meeting 16 February 2021)
Suzanne Shale – Non-Executive Director
Rachel Evans - Director of Estates & Facilities

Report Summary

Highlights of the discussions at the 16 February Infrastructure Committee are provided
below.
Finance Report
• The forecast expenditure for the 2020/21 capital programme has reduced to
£17.3m due to slippage in three projects – anti-ligature works, Green Parks
House and A Block, Queen Mary’s Hospital.
• The SEL ICS capital allocation is likely to be confirmed mid-March but on
current information, it is likely that the 6 Trusts’ programmes will exceed the
total by about £100m. Other acute trusts are finalising their programmes and it
is hoped that GSTT’s Evelina project of £50m will be funded from the national
programme for hospitals.
• The 2021/22 capital programme of £25.2m was reviewed by the members and
is presented to the Board in a separate paper for approval on the basis that SEL
ICS approval is obtained.
• Murchison Avenue Clinic will be taken to auction on 31 March dependent on
final DHSC approval being provided. The Board has previously authorised the
disposal of this site.
Updates
• Exception reports were presented to the Committee on the Estates, IT and New
Ways of Working projects.
• The Committee received a specific update on ongoing ligature works, noting
that implementing these in the context of the PFI was beset by delays. There
was therefore increased focus on clinically managed mitigations to ensure that
patients were kept safe pending environmental changes.
• The award of the IT Network Support Contract was approved by the
Committee.
Risk Register
• All existing live risks were reviewed and minor amendments made.
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Additional risks have been added to the register in respect of:
 Impact of Covid on the New Ways of Working project
 Compliance with new Children’s Code by September 2021
 Adoption of team dashboards and usage being below expected levels.
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Financial implications are discussed in the report.

Partnerships √
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Workforce Committee Update
Rachel Clare Evans, Director of Strategy and People,
Nina Hingorani-Crain, Non-Executive Director
N/A

Report Summary

The Committee met on 20 January 2021 as an online meeting.
Access to RiO for locum doctors
The Committee heard about the solutions that are being explored to enable
access to patient care records (RiO) for locum doctors. The issues
experienced by Oxleas are experienced by a number of other trusts and
that it only affects a small proportion of our locums - those who are shortterm. Solutions are found to this issue on a case-by-case basis, e.g. by
other members of staff enabling the locum to access the system while
keeping watch. Longer-term solutions are being explored and the
Committee will be kept up-to-date on progress.
Interim Annual Health and Safety Report
The report presented to the Committee was an interim report covering the
previous 18 months with a view to the annual report being submitted in
June. The ‘i-Auditor’ system is an important development which will
provide greater oversight over local health and safety management. Plans
are in place to increase training for managers to support improved
management of health and safety issues.
The Committee heard that discussions about a potential new Health and
Safety Committee would be considered at the Board strategy away day.
The vacancies in the Health and Safety team were also discussed.
Lone working devices were discussed and it was noted that factors such as
maternity leave, sickness and annual leave would mean that 100% usage
would not be achieved. Covid-19 had an impact on the numbers of staff
working alone but this might revert to previous levels after the pandemic.
The full annual report would contain a full year of i-Auditor reports and
would provide assurance about the numbers of risk-assessments that are
up-to-date.
New Values and Behaviours framework
It was noted that the new values and behaviours had been agreed by the
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Board in January. Plans were in place to ensure that the values were rolled
out in a way that recognised the pressures currently on teams. There was a
discussion around the language in relation to inclusion and this would be
kept under review.
Workforce KPIs
The Committee noted the detailed data provided in relation to workforce
and this insight this generated. The review of the Occupational Health
contract is still underway and options are being explored with our local
partners.
Staff Survey update
There had been a lower uptake for the staff survey this year. This was likely
to be due to the pressures of the pandemic and the need for internal
communications to focus on flu vaccination. There were some small
improvements in some areas and other areas where further progress was
required. It would be too early to observe any improvements resulting
from the work to Build a Fairer Oxleas, given the timing of the survey but
the hope is that improvements would be seen by Autumn 2021.
Greenwich Workforce update
The Committee had invited the Chair of the Greenwich Workforce
Committee, Rachel Matheson, to talk about their key priorities. This was to
be the first of a regular slot at Workforce Committee to hear directly from
directorates.
The Committee heard that the Greenwich Workforce Committee was
created in 2017 to focus on the Staff Survey results, building morale, staff
engagement with the Directorate Management Team and integration
between community health and mental health staff.
During 2020, the Committee had launched a pandemic wellbeing survey for
directorate staff. This resulted in the introduction of psychological support
sessions for staff together with a redeployment checklist to support staff
moving post. The Committee heard that the Directorate Workforce
Committee had also addressed issues relating to car parking, created a staff
survey action plan, drafted a training needs analysis, planned the Local
induction and Long service awards. There was a clear focus on the need to
tackle discrimination and the experience of BAME staff.
The Committee thanked the Greenwich Workforce Committee
representatives for their insightful presentation.
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The Board notes the issues discussed at the Workforce Committee.

Quality √

Workforce √

Sustainability

Partnerships

Links to all workforce risks on the Board Assurance Framework.

Ensuring that we have the right staff in the right place at the right time, who
are supported in the right way, is vital for the quality of our care.
Direct impact on equality and inclusion for staff within Oxleas.
Direct impact on staff experience and outcomes.
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Report from Audit and Risk Assurance Committee
Susan Owen, Risk and Governance Manager
Steve Dilworth, Non-executive Director and Chair of the Audit and Risk
Assurance Committee
Azara Mukhtar, Director of Finance
Public
The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee last met on 19 January 2021, and highlights are
summarised below. The next meeting of the committee is on 16 March 2021.
Internal audit update from KPMG
A workshop focusing on soft controls such as culture and behavior is planned, and the outcome
of this will be brought to the March 2021 meeting. Fieldwork on the Freedom to Speak Up
audit is in progress, and planning for all other audits is in progress. Planning meetings for the
2021/22 audit plan are being arranged.
Internal audit report on clinical audit
This audit received an outcome of partial assurance with improvements required (amber/red),
with one high and four medium priority recommendations. It was noted that many members
of the Quality Team were re-deployed to support the Covid-19 response which impacted on
capacity to deliver the workplan. Some of the actions are not due until September 2021, so the
committee will receive a progress report in the interim.
Internal audit report on core financial systems
This audit received an outcome of significant assurance (green), with two low priority
recommendations. The audit focused on patient monies. The committee were assured that all
the weaknesses from the major fraud incident in 2011 have been eliminated and that the
robustness of the controls has been maintained.
Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) update from KPMG
The committee noted that at present, it not clear what form the self-review toolkit will take
this year, but no major changes are expected. Two reactive referrals remain under
investigation by the LCFS, including exploring how the funds can be recovered.
External audit update
Planning is in progress for the 2020/21 audit and the audit plan will be presented to the
committee in March 2021. A full asset valuation is to be undertaken on all properties, instead
of a desktop review. For the value for money (VFM) conclusion, Grant Thornton will be guided
by the National Audit Office (NAO). There will be much to work through in terms of the testing
approach, as the review will be wider than finance. A progress update will be provided in
March 2021. There is some flexibility with the accounts opinion date and we have the option
to submit on the later date as we did last year.
The committee received the audit fee letter for 2020/21. The fee has increased by £9200
compared to last year due to the additional VFM work and new audit standards. The
committee noted that the fee reflected more comprehensive audits and increased fees across
the sector and that it remained competitive. The fee letter will be presented to the Council of
Governors in March 2021 for approval.
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Risk register report from the Business Committee
The committee received the risk register report from the Business Committee. There are two
significant, two high and two moderate risks. In terms of 2021/22 planning, the NHS
settlement with the Treasury is not expected until March 2021. The current regime will roll
over to quarter 1 and may extend to quarter 2. The risks will be re-worded and re-rated when
there is more clarity regarding the financial environment. The LA risk is replicated across all SEL
providers of these services and the ICS will be discussing a consolidated response approach.
Interim legal services report
The committee received the interim legal services report. Claims against the trust have
increased, our NHS Resolution (NHSR) contributions have increased and spend on professional
legal advice has increased slightly compared to same period last year. Claims from prisons
healthcare remains the most prolific area. The committee noted that the processes for
reviewing high value claims through governance processes should be reviewed.
Well led review
The committee received an update on the well-led review. For the internal review, discussions
with the leads for each key line of enquiry are taking place. The outcomes of this process will
be brought to the committee in March 2021 and will also be used to guide the commissioning
of our external review. The trust had planned to commission a provider for the external
review with the other SLP trusts but we have not been able to progress this. It was proposed
that we explore if we can collaborate with another neighbouring trust, but if not, that we take
this process forward ourselves. It was noted that at this stage it was not possible to comment
on costs, as there would need to be a procurement process.
Charitable Funds accounts 2019/20
The committee received the Charitable Funds accounts for 2019/20 and the representation
letter. The Committee recommended these accounts for approval to the Board. These have
been presented under a separate item.
Single tender waivers
The committee noted the following single tender waivers, all of which have been approved
through the Business Committee and Executive Team.
•
•
•

Forensic SLP ARP Digital Technology Pilot with First Step Trust (FST) - £80,000
Forensic Horticultural Training and Grounds Maintenance with Focal Point Training £150,895 for 12 months
Hestia Crisis Housing pilot - £157,094 for three months, with the option to extend for a
further three months.

Policy changes
The committee noted minor changes to the following policies:
•

•
•

SFP16 – Financial Approval Limits: updated to state that all single tender waivers must
be signed off by the Director of Finance before authorisation is requested via the
Executive Team or trust Committee.
Procurement Policy: Update to reflect changes and expectations on account of UK’s
exit from the EU on 31 December 2020.
Petty Cash Policy: Updated to clarify that two signatories are required.

Board Assurance Framework
A first iteration of Board Assurance Framework metric report was presented to the committee
and a further update of this presented under a separate item, including any changes to risks.

Purpose
(To select purpose,
click on relevant

Information

To Note

√

183

choice for drop
down box)
Recommendation
Link to strategic
objectives click on
relevant choice for
drop down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework
Implications
Quality
Financial
Equality analysis
Service
user/carer/staff

Approval

Decison

For the Board of Directors to note the report.

Quality √

Workforce √

Sustainability √

Partnerships √

The Board Assurance Framework update is covered under a separate agenda item.

The report includes an update on quality.
The report includes an update on finance.
The report includes an update on equality and diversity
The report includes an update on workforce.
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Report Title
Author
Accountable Director
Confidentiality/
FOI status

NED report – Board contact
Various
Andy Trotter, Chair
Public

Report Summary

Several contacts have been undertaken by Board members over the past
month and the attached summarises the contacts and outcomes. An action
log is maintained of the issues raised and is monitored by Service Directors.

Purpose
(To select purpose,
click on relevant
choice for drop
down box)
Recommendation
Link to strategic
objectives (click on
relevant choice for
drop down box)
Link to Board
Assurance
Framework

Information

To Note

Approval

Decision

√

The Board is asked to note.

Quality √

Workforce √

Sustainability √

Partnerships √

The visits focus on risks around workforce, safety and sustainability
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Date of visit

22nd February
2021

Service

Bexley Care Home Treatment Team

Attendees

Sarah Burchell (SB), Service Director
Derek Tracy (DT), Clinical Director
Azara Mukhtar (AM), Director of Finance
Steve James (SJ), Non-Exec Director

Brief description of service
Bexley Home Treatment Team (HTT)
Offers short-term intensive therapeutic interventions to adults residing within the Borough of Bexley
who are suffering from an acute mental health crisis and would otherwise require admission to an
acute mental health hospital bed. It offers a least restrictive treatment option, whereby individuals
are enabled to remain at home or in other community settings.
It also carries out the following functions:
• Gatekeeping of all potential admissions to identify suitability for alternative interventions
• Facilitation of safe early discharge from hospital, transitioning to other community mental
health teams and accessing other community services
• Follow up of people who have self- harmed prior to or during admission within 72 hours of
ward discharge
• Assessment of individuals referred by GPs and triaged by Primary Care Plus (PCP) teams as in
need of a face to face assessment within 24 hours.
The team operates seven days a week, 24 hours a day. The team have been working 24/7 since
piloting a Bexley based out of hours HTT service in August 2020. In addition to this, the team
commenced a pilot where a member of HTT staff is allocated as a Community interface worker
(Monday to Friday 9am-5pm). They work closely with Bexley Mental Health Community colleagues,
undertaking joint assessments and attending the community cases of concern meetings, with an aim
to working and supporting service users in their own home with increased support and therefore
reducing the number of hospital admissions.
The team have recently undergone the HTAS (Home Treatment Accreditation Scheme) review by the
Royal College of Psychiatrists and are awaiting the final outcome of the review. If successful this will
be the first time the team have been awarded the Accreditation.
All actions from previous visits are complete.
Use of Cars and access to taxis – Following the previous Board visit this was discussed with the
team. Staff aware of taxi usage for home visits - can be used on occasions where a visit needs to be
undertaken which is assessed on individual risk and need and there is no car driver or public
transport option. Staff were keen to complete Home Treatment Team Accreditation Scheme (HTAS)
and then explore possibility of other transport arrangements.
Team currently finalising HTAS evidence for Accreditation. Team manager will continue exploring
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options.
Staffing levels – With the two pilot projects running concurrently, senior management have
supported this with the out of hours MHIS monies, to ensure there is adequate staffing for both the
day and night shifts. Managers are supportive of booking bank if the caseload / risk levels justify an
increase in staffing and are familiar with booking bank staff if required.

Overview of visit
The Board visit was conducted on MS Teams. Tendai Chimbeva (TC), team manager, and Cathy
Rainer (CR), Bexley Crisis Team Lead, met with the AM, SJ, SB and DT. DT works primarily with the
Bexley HTT and stated how proud he was of the team and the work they did.
TC outlined the work of the team highlighting the fact the team had continued face to face working
throughout the pandemic ensuring that clients were supported to stay out of hospital and treated in
the community. As the team went into people’s homes during the first lockdown there were a
number of staff who contracted Covid. There was anxiety re the pandemic but the team were
determined to do the best for their clients. The caseload was lower in lockdown but the acuity
increased during these periods. Psychosis was high in the first lockdown with job losses and
relationship breakdowns being drivers of mental illness through later parts of the pandemic. Current
caseload is 46.
The team have been working 24/7 offering HTT as part of the crisis hub, working out of QE hospital
since August 2020. This is the only Oxleas HTT operating in this way and they are sharing lessons
learned with other teams. The team were making the best use of virtual technology using Teams for
meetings as well as Attend Anywhere for client interactions. This had saved on travel time which
meant that the team could give more time to clients. DT highlighted that the majority of the client
interactions are still face to face and that they risk assess before any non face to face interactions.
They intend to use QI to embed further virtual working. The team offered to present to the Board
on their developments during the pandemic and SJ welcomed this. SJ said it would be fascinating to
know what effect 24/7 working has had on QE ED rates.
The team have been working towards Home Treatment Accreditation Scheme (HTAS) review by the
Royal College of Psychiatrists over the last 15 months. The pandemic delayed their submissions but
they hope to be accredited soon as they are the only HTT at Oxleas not to have received this.
HTT operate as lone workers with one or two people going into people’s homes and staff need to be
independent and willing to take responsibility as they will be managing clients and their situations in
their home environments. There have been times when caseloads have approached 60 and this has
had to be escalated due to the nature of clients and the high risk of suicide. It is difficult to get staff
from wards to do bank shifts in HTT as it is considered a specialist team and they are nervous of the
different environment. TC encourages B6 ward staff to shadow permanent members of the team to
get more comfortable with the work. Saying that, HTT and IHTT (older adults) always have a good
range of applicants when they advertise for roles.
TC then introduced the Board visitors to other members of the team and we asked if there was
anything they wanted to raise with us or report back to the Board. The team raised the issue of
mileage rates which they quoted as not having increased in a number of years in line with inflation.
The possible introduction of pool cars for the team. Lastly, the issue of security at the Woodlands
Unit as there had been a recent case of a client refusing to leave when the HTT unit closed at 8pm.
We discussed the various options available to staff and the protocols for security. SB said she would
look into this further with TC.
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AM, SJ, SB and DT thanked the staff for the excellent work they had done over the pandemic and
their dedication to their clients on behalf of the Board. The excellent work on the 24/7 crisis work
and ongoing face to face interactions throughout the pandemic were of particular note.

Actions will be reviewed regularly by service directors and a board visits action tracker is used to monitor
completion.

Issues raised

Action

Assigned To

Team would like the use of
pool cars to be explored

Establish whether pool
cars could be used in HTT
and issues would need to
be considered

Sarah Burchell with
input from Azara
Mukhtar re rules for
pool car usage and
any tax implications

Security issues at
Woodlands Unit

Identify current security
protocols and assess if
they are fir for purpose
and communicated to
staff. Work with Facilities
team to strengthen
security if required

Sarah Burchell

Mileage rates have not been
increased in a number of
years and staff feel they do
not sufficiently reward them
for using their own cars

Establish current rates
Azara Mukhtar
and determine if these
are limited by HMRC rules
before tax implications

Deadline

ASAP – action
complete and
guidance given
back to
management
team
Rules
clarification
given and SB to
take forward
with team if
appropriate.
Deadline TBC
TBC
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Council of Governors Update
Sally Bryden, Associate Director of Corporate Affairs/Trust Secretary
Andy Trotter, Chair
Public

Membership Committee
The Membership Committee met on 14 January 2021. Governors received an
update on building service user/carer interest group membership for both Children
and Young People and Forensic and Prisons. Progress on both had been delayed due
to Covid priorities. Committee members discussed how virtual member
communication could be increased including having informal online ‘wellbeing’
themed sessions for members and the promotion of the Oxleas’ films on YouTube.
The Governors’ Review is being developed, using some elements from the 2020
AMM, Recognition Awards and governors have participated in a short film to reflect
on their experiences as governors during 2019/20.
Building service user/carer interest group members for Children and Young People
On 23 February 2021, Simon Hiller, Service User/Carer Governor: Children and Jo
Mant, Head of Stakeholder Engagement met, with the support of Partnership
Governor, Carl Krauhaus from Charlton Athletic Community Trust (CACT), two young
people from Charlton Athletic’s Kicks Programme to discuss how the trust can work
with CACT to develop young people’s membership for the trust. The group will meet
again in a month’s time.
Directorate update meetings
Virtual sessions have taken place to update governors on developments in our
services and to provide training. These include:
• 21 January 2021 – Informatics update provided by Alison Furzer, Director of
Informatics and Informatics team
• 28 January 2021 – Understanding Finance delivered by Azara Mukhtar, Director
of Finance, and Steve Dilworth, NED
• 22 February 2021 – Greenwich Adult Services. Governors met with Service
Director Helen Jones and colleagues from the Neurorehabilitation, Falls and
Frailty teams
Sessions are also planned to update governors on our Bromley Adult Services (22
March) and Children and Young People’s Services (22 April) plus service user
involvement (5 March) and Lived Experience Practitioners (23 April).
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Informal governor meeting
On 18 February 2021, an informal meeting was held for governors which was
attended by Rachel C Evans, Director of Strategy and People as well as Sally Bryden
and Jo Mant. In this meeting, Rachel shared information on the Building a Fairer
Oxleas programme and new trust values.
Governor observers – Board and its sub-committees
Governors continue to observe the Board and its sub-committees virtually.
Governors also continue to be involved in Comprehensive Inquiry processes.
NHS Providers
On 11 Jan 2021, Jo Mant and Sally Bryden met with Claire Mescia, Governor Support
Manager, NHS Providers, to explain the processes we have in place to maintain
effective engagement with governors during the pandemic. These may be used as
examples of good practice in future NHS Providers activity.
Purpose
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Quality √

Workforce √

There are no direct links to the BAF
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√
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